κ -deformed gauge theory and θ -deformed gravity

Dissertation an der Fakultät für Physik der Ludwig–Maximilians–Universität München



vorgelegt von Marija Dimitrijević aus Jagodina

München, den 12. Oktober 2005

Erstgutachter: Prof. Dr. Julius Wess Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. Ivo Sachs Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 14.12.2005

Abstract

Noncommutative (deformed, quantum) spaces are deformations of the usual commutative space-time. They depend on parameters, such that for certain values of parameters they become the usual space-time. The symmetry acting on them is given in terms of a deformed quantum group symmetry. In this work we discuss two special examples, the θ -deformed space and the κ -deformed space.

In the case of the θ -deformed space we construct a deformed theory of gravity. In the first step the deformed diffeomorphism symmetry is introduced. It is given in terms of the Hopf algebra of deformed diffeomorphisms. The algebra structure is unchanged (as compared to the commutative diffeomorphism symmetry), but the comultiplication changes. In the commutative limit we obtain the Hopf algebra of undeformed diffeomorphisms. Based on this deformed symmetry a covariant tensor calculus is constructed and concepts such as metric, covariant derivative, curvature and torsion are defined. An action that is invariant under the deformed diffeomorphisms is constructed. In the zeroth order in the deformation parameter it reduces to the commutative Einstein-Hilbert action while in higher orders correction terms appear. They are given in terms of the commutative fields (metric, vierbein) and the deformation parameter enters as the coupling constant. One special example of this deformed symmetry, the θ -deformed global Poincaré symmetry, is also discussed.

In the case of the κ -deformed space our aim is the construction of noncommutative gauge theories. Starting from the algebraic definition of the κ -deformed space, derivatives and the deformed Lorentz generators are introduced. Choosing one particular set of derivatives, the κ -Poincaré Hopf algebra is defined. The algebraic setting is then mapped to the space of commuting coordinates. In the next step, using the enveloping algebra approach and the Seiberg-Witten map, a general nonabelian gauge theory on this deformed space is constructed. As a consequence of the deformed Leibniz rules for the derivatives used in the construction, the gauge field is derivative-valued. As in the θ -deformed case, in the zeroth order of the deformation parameter the theory reduces to its commutative analog and the higher order corrections are given in terms of the usual (commutative) fields. In this way the field content of the theory is unchanged, but new interactions appear. The deformation parameter takes the role of the coupling constant. For the special case of U(1)gauge theory the action for the gauge field coupled to fermionic matter is formulated and the equations of motion and the conserved current(s) are calculated. The ambiguities in the Seiberg-Witten map are discussed and partially fixed, and an effective action (up to first order in the deformation parameter) which is invariant under the usual Poincaré symmetry is obtained.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Professor Julius Wess for many things, first of all for letting me join his group in autumn 2002. I am grateful to him for not referring me to a book or a paper to read and learn form, but including me in discussions form the very beginning and in that way making it possible to learn directly from him and his enormous knowledge and experience. For interesting discussions, for ideas, comments, critics and for his patience, thanks. Also, he is "responsible" for providing the financial support from the Max-Plank Institute during my staying in Munich.

Many thanks to the whole group for accepting me the way I am and for including me in the group from the very beginning. Specially, I would like to thank the people with whom I worked most of the time and from whom I learnt very much. Thanks to Larisa Jonke, Frank Meyer, Lutz Möller and Efrossini Tsouchnika for making the work more understandable, less difficult and very often fun. Also, I thank them and Claudia Jambor for all their help concerning (not-so)ordinary life in Munich. Parts of the work presented here were done together with Paolo Aschieri, Christian Blohmann, Peter Schupp and Michael Wohlgenannt and I thank them for the fruitful collaboration.

To Wolfgang Behr, Maja Burić, Larisa Jonke and Frank Meyer I am grateful for reading some parts (or the whole) of this manuscript and for their comments concerning both physics and English.

All the words I can think of (in Serbian as well) would not be enough to express my gratitude to my parents Milica and Živorad Dimitrijević and my sister Aleksandra Dimitrijević. Their love, support and encouragements made this work possible.

Finally, I would like to thank all my friends in Serbia. Specially, to Slavica Maletić, Katarina and Andrija Matić, Zorica Pajović and Novica Paunović many thanks for their support and for all the emails they wrote during this three years.

Contents

Introduction				
1	Nor 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5	acommutative spaces Definition Derivatives Symmetries Representation on the space of commuting coordinates An example, the θ -deformed space	5 5 7 8 11 14	
2	The 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5	e κ-deformed spaceQuantum space and derivativesSymmetry generatorsDirac derivativeRepresentation on the space of commuting coordinatesFields and equations of motion2.5.1Fields2.5.2Covariant equations of motion	 17 20 22 26 29 29 31 	
3	Con 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6	Astruction of gauge theories on the κ-deformed space Commutative gauge theory. Noncommutative gauge theory, setting Enveloping algebra approach Seiberg-Witten map Covariant derivative and the gauge field Gauge covariant Lagrangians	 33 33 36 38 40 42 46 	
4	U(1) 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	gauge theory on the κ-deformed space Integral and the variational principle Modified Seiberg-Witten map The action for the κ-deformed electrodynamics 4.3.1 Matter field action 4.3.2 Gauge field action 4.3.3 Conserved currents Seiberg-Witten map and the gauge symmetry	49 49 53 56 56 59 60 62	

5	Gra	vity on the θ -deformed space	67		
	5.1	Commutative diffeomorphisms	67		
	5.2	Deformed diffeomorphisms	70		
		5.2.1 Inversion of the *-product	70		
		5.2.2 Hopf algebra of deformed diffeomorphisms	72		
		5.2.3 Consequences of the deformed coproduct	75		
	5.3	Tensor calculus	76		
		5.3.1 Fields	76		
		5.3.2 Metric tensor	77		
	5.4	Curvature and torsion	78		
	0.1	5.4.1 Covariant derivative	79		
		5.4.2 Curvature tensor, Ricci tensor and scalar curvature	80		
	5.5	Deformed Einstein-Hilbert action	81		
	5.6	Equations of motion	83		
	5.7	Expansion in the deformation parameter	85		
	5.8	The θ -deformed Poincaré algebra	86		
	5.9	Noncommutative gauge theory, revisited	89		
	0.5		05		
Α	Vec	tor fields in the κ -deformed space	95		
в	The	$\kappa\text{-deformed symmetry from the inversion of the \star\text{-product}$	99		
\mathbf{C}	The	general κ -deformed space	103		
	C.1	Derivatives	103		
	C.2	Deformed symmetry	104		
	C.3	Dirac derivative, invariants	105		
	C.4	Fields	106		
Bibliography					

Introduction

Since the formulations of General Relativity [1] (GR) and Quantum Field Theory (QFT) [2], [3] in the early decades of the last century, the nature of space-time at small distances has become one of the fundamental problems in physics. The first idea of a discrete space-time was formulated by Heisenberg [4]. His motivation was the regularisation of the divergent electron self-energy. However, he soon gave up this idea, regarding it as too radical. In the attempt to eliminate the ultra-violet (UV) divergences in QFT, Snyder [5] in 1947 proposed a way to obtain a discrete space-time replacing the usual coordinates by the operators satisfying nontrivial commutation relations. This was the first time that noncommutative spaces appeared in physics.

However, Snyder's idea was not accepted at that time. One reason was that the renormalisation theory came out to be very successful in eliminating the divergences in QFT. The second reason was the mathematical complexity of noncommutative spaces. It took some time until the mathematical structure was formulated and the first physical models were derived [6], [7], [8].

The mathematical structure of noncommutative spaces became more clear in the eighties and the nineties of the last century. One of the main results was the Gel'fand-Naimark theorem [9]. It basically states that it is possible to describe a manifold by (an appropriately restricted) algebra of functions on the manifold. The space behind can be ignored completely since all the important informations are now contained in the algebra of functions. This theorem can be generalised in different ways. For example, the algebra of functions does not have to be commutative, it can be a deformation of the commutative one. If the deformation is continuous, then there exists a set of continuous parameters that control the noncommutativity. The usual commutative space-time (manifold) is obtained for special values of these parameters. The deformed algebra of functions is not the algebra of functions on a manifold but on a "noncommutative space". The main notion that is lost in this generalisation is that of a point, "noncommutative geometry is pointless geometry".

The deformation quantisation [10], [11], [12] provides a setting for connecting deformed and undeformed spaces. It allows one to describe the properties of a noncommutative space in a perturbative way, order by order in the deformation parameter. In the zeroth order the commutative space-time is obtained. The main idea of the deformation quantisation is to represent a noncommutative space on the space of commuting coordinates. Then the noncommutative multiplication of two functions is given in terms of the \star -product of the functions, which is defined as a formal power series of bidifferential operators acting on the functions.

Another important concept in the noncommutative geometry is that of Hopf algebras [13] and quantum groups [14], [15]. Generalising manifolds to noncommutative spaces one looses the usual space-time symmetries (Lorentz, Poincaré,...). However, is some cases there

exists a deformed symmetry acting on a noncommutative space and it is given in terms of a deformed Hopf algebra [16], [17]. This enables one to discuss symmetries of noncommutative spaces.

But not only the mathematical structure of noncommutative spaces became clearer in the last years. Some recent important physical results and observations renewed the interest for the noncommutative geometry. In the following we name some of them. For the proper list of examples and motivation see for example [18], [19], [20].

We start with one classical effect. Consider an electron moving in a homogeneous and constant magnetic field $B^{\mu\nu}$. In the limit of strong magnetic field and small electron mass (restriction to the lowest Landau level), the classical Poisson bracket is

$$\{\pi^{\mu}, x^{\nu}\} \to \{x^{\mu}, x^{\nu}\} = \frac{(B^{-1})^{\mu\nu}}{e}.$$

We see that in this limit, coordinates perpendicular to the magnetic field do not commute. This ideas are relevant for the theory of the quantum Hall effect [21], [22].

Another motivation comes from the attempts to construct a quantum theory of gravity. It is believed that the space-time must change its nature at distances comparable to the Planck scale. From GR and QFT we know that an object with a given energy E has two lengths associated with it. One is the Compton wavelength, $\lambda = \frac{\hbar}{E}$ and the other one is its Schwarzschild radius $R_s = G_N E$. As the energy E grows, the point is reached when the Schwarzschild radius becomes bigger than the Compton wavelength. At this point our standard knowledge of QFT does not apply anymore. Also, measuring positions to better accuracies than the Plank length is not possible, since the energy required for such a measurement modifies the geometry at this scales [23].

A very strong argument in favour of noncommutative theories came recently from the string theory [24], [25], [26]. In [26] it was shown that a noncommutative field theory is obtained in a particular limit of the open string theory on D-brane backgrounds in the presence of a constant NS-NS *B*-field. The end points of open strings behave as electric charges in the presence of an external magnetic field $B_{\mu\nu}$, which results in a polarisation of the open strings. Seiberg and Witten proposed a low-energy limit (different than the usual one) in which the separation between the string endpoints becomes

$$\Delta X^i = \theta^{ij} G_{jk} p^k.$$

Here G^{ij} is the open string metric, p^i is the momentum of the string and the index $i = 1, \ldots, p$ labels the D-branes directions. This limit makes the string rigid, of the finite length which depends on the momentum. The resulting low-energy effective theory is a noncommutative field theory, the constant parameter $\theta^{ij} = (B^{-1})^{ij}$ measures the noncommutativity. This suggests that certain properties of string theories could be obtained studying simpler (compared with the string theory) noncommutative field theories.

Finally, the original motivation of Heisenberg and Snyder was revisited in the last years. Namely, using the methods of the deformation quantisation we learned how to formulate noncommutative field theories. It is possible to write down the action and calculate the Feynman rules for certain noncommutative field theories. Then one calculates the divergences and compares them with the divergences in the corresponding commutative field theory. In the case of scalar $\phi^4 \theta$ -deformed field theory [19], due to the noncommutativity (θ

3

is the constant deformation parameter which controls noncommutativity) both planar and nonplanar diagrams are relevant. The UV behaviour of the planar diagrams is the same as in the corresponding commutative theory, so noncommutativity does not change (improve) anything there. In the case of nonplanar diagrams, the ultra-violet/infra-red (UV/IR) mixing appears [27], [28]. Namely, one-loop diagrams turn out to be finite for arbitrary values of the external momenta p^{μ} . However, in the limit $p^{\mu} \to 0$ divergences reappear. This can be interpreted as a mixing between UV and IR divergences; noncommutativity ($\theta^{ij} \neq 0$) replaces the UV divergences with the $p^{\mu} \to 0$ IR divergences. Also, the commutative limit $\theta^{ij} \to 0$ is not smooth. From all this it is obvious that the noncommutativity does not solve the problem of divergences in QFT, but it rather introduces some new effects.

The aim of this thesis is to formulate (gauge) field theories on noncommutative spaces, such that they are consistent with the deformed symmetry of the space in question. We study two special examples, the θ -deformed space [24], [25] and the κ -deformed space [29], [30]. The general strategy is to start from an abstract algebra of coordinates which defines our noncommutative space [31], [32]. The derivatives are then introduced as maps on this abstract algebra [33], [34]. They cannot be uniquely defined and one has to find arguments to single out one specific set of them. One way to do this is to construct the deformed symmetry. In the case of the κ -deformed space [35], we recover the κ -deformed Poincaré algebra [29], [30]. In the θ -deformed space we construct the deformed diffeomorphism symmetry [36]. Then the θ -deformed global Poincaré symmetry [37], [38], [39], [40] is the subalgebra (sub Hopf algebra) of this deformed symmetry.

In the next step, we represent the abstract noncommutative space (together with the derivatives and the deformed symmetry) on the space of commuting coordinates. This gives us the playground for construction of the noncommutative (gauge) field theories.

In the case of the κ -deformed space we concentrate on the noncommutative SU(N)theories. Using the enveloping algebra approach and the Seiberg-Witten map [32], [41], the noncommutative gauge theory is constructed perturbatively order by order in the deformation parameter. In this way we obtain an effective theory which provides corrections to the commutative theory up to first order in the deformation parameter. These corrections are given in terms of the commutative fields, so the field content of the theory is not changed. However, new interactions arise and the deformation parameter enters as a coupling constant. This approach has been used to construct the noncommutative gauge theory on the θ -deformed space [41], [42], as well as the generalisation of the Standard Model [43], [44]. Using these results some new effects which do not appear in the commutative Standard Model were calculated in [45], [46]. Also, it was shown that the theories obtained in this perturbative way are anomaly free [47], [48], [49]. It is interesting to note that cutting the theory at some order in the deformation parameter one avoids the UV/IR mixing. It only appears in the "summed-up" theories, that is theories to all orders in the deformation parameter. Also, the "summed-up" models allow generalisation of the U(N) gauge theories only, with some exceptions [50], [51].

In the θ -deformed case we turn to the local space-time symmetries and their (possible) deformations. It is well known that the gravity can be seen as a gauge theory where the gauge symmetry is the Poincaré symmetry of the space-time. However, it was not clear if it is possible to generalise it to the noncommutative spaces in the same way one generalises the "usual" gauge theories. This problem was analysed in the previous years in [52], [53], [54]. Here we construct the deformed diffeomorphism symmetry and use it to formulate a

gravity theory on the θ -deformed space [36].

The structure of the thesis is the following: In the first chapter we shortly review the definition of a noncommutative space in terms of the abstract algebra of coordinates. Then we discuss derivatives and symmetries introduced as maps on this space. In order to obtain a theory which gives some predictions (numbers finally) we represent the abstract algebra formalism on the space of commuting coordinates and introduce the \star -product approach. At the end of the chapter, as an illustration, the described method is applied to one special example, the θ -deformed space.

Chapters 2, 3 and 4 concern the κ -deformed space and the formulation of gauge theory on it. We start with the abstract algebra of coordinates and introduce derivatives and the κ -deformed Poincaré algebra as the deformed symmetry of this space. Aiming at the construction of the noncommutative gauge theory, we represent everything on the space of commuting coordinates. The gauge theory is then constructed using the enveloping algebra approach and the Seiberg-Witten map. The gauge field becomes derivative valued due to the nontrivial Leibniz rules of the derivatives used in the construction. To define an action a "good" integral is needed. This problem is shortly discussed in the beginning of Chapter 4. After defining the integral, the U(1) gauge theory is derived. Using the freedom in the Seiberg-Witten map one obtains the effective action which is explicitly x-independent and invariant under the commutative Poincaré symmetry. Also, the ambiguity in the conserved U(1) current is discussed. This work is done in collaboration with Larisa Jonke, Frank Meyer, Lutz Möller, Efrossini Tsouchnika, Julius Wess and Michael Wohlgenannt and the results are published in [35], [55], [56], [57].

In the last chapter we turn to the problem of defining a gravity theory on noncommutative spaces. We choose to work with the θ -deformed space because of its simplicity. The starting point is the construction of the Hopf algebra of deformed diffeomorphisms. Using this result fields and tensor calculus are introduced. Following the same steps as in the commutative case, one constructs covariant derivative, curvature tensor, torsion,.... The final result is the deformed Einstein-Hilbert action and the equation of motion coming from it. Expansions of some results up to first order in the deformation parameter are given. Most of the results presented here are obtained together with Paolo Aschieri, Christian Blohmann, Frank Meyer, Peter Schupp and Julius Wess and are published in [58], [36].

1 Noncommutative spaces

The notion of noncommutative (deformed) spaces is based on the simple idea of replacing ordinary (commutative) coordinates

$$[x^{\mu}, x^{\nu}] = 0, \qquad \mu = 0, \dots n$$

with noncommutative operators

$$[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] \neq 0.$$

Since operators \hat{x}^{μ} do not commute they can not be diagonalised simultaneously, similarly as in quantum mechanics where operators of coordinates and momenta do not commute. Spacetime is then given by the collection of the eigenvalues of the operators \hat{x}^{μ} . If the spectrum is discrete then space-time will also be discrete. In the case of commuting coordinates we obtain a continuous spectrum leading to the continuous space-time we are familiar with.

In this chapter we recall the definition of noncommutative spaces and some of their properties. Differential calculus as well as the concept of deformed symmetry (in terms of Hopf algebras) are introduced. We start with the abstract algebra approach, but also formulate the representation on the space of commuting coordinates, the so-called *-product representation. In order to illustrate the abstract mathematical formalism, at the end of the chapter one simple example of a deformed space is presented.

1.1 Definition

Noncommutative (deformed)¹ space is generated by n+1 abstract coordinates \hat{x}^{μ} which fulfil

$$[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = i\Theta^{\mu\nu}(\hat{x}), \qquad \mu = 0, \dots n, \tag{1.1.1}$$

where $\Theta^{\mu\nu}(\hat{x})$ is an arbitrary polynomial of coordinates [59], [38]. More precisely, the noncommutative space $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ is the associative algebra, freely generated by \hat{x}^{μ} coordinates and divided by the ideal generated by (1.1.1)

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}} = \frac{\mathbb{C}[[\hat{x}^{\mu_0}, \dots, \hat{x}^{\mu_n}]]}{\left([\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] - \Theta^{\mu\nu}(\hat{x})\right)}.$$
(1.1.2)

¹"Noncommutative" and "deformed" will be used as synonyms from now on, whereas "classical", "undeformed" and "usual" will be synonyms for "commutative".

The elements of this space are all possible polynomials in the coordinates \hat{x}^{μ} . If one element can be transformed into the other one using (1.1.1) then this two elements are considered equal. Before proceeding further, we clarify the notation we use. Coordinates \hat{x}^{μ} generate the abstract algebra $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$, while the operators $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$, $\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}$, ... are maps of the abstract algebra $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ into itself. Variables without the hat symbol, like x^{μ} , ∂_{ρ} , ... are usual commutative variables. Sometimes we use \mathcal{A}_x to denote the space of commuting coordinates².

The defining relation of the deformed space (1.1.1) is very general since on the right hand side we have an arbitrary polynomial of coordinates. Usually one consideres some special examples of it. Among them there are three very important ones

Canonical or θ -deformed spaces $[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = i\theta^{\mu\nu},$ (1.1.3)

Lie algebra deformed spaces
$$[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = iC_{\lambda}^{\mu\nu}\hat{x}^{\lambda},$$
 (1.1.4)

q-deformed spaces
$$\hat{x}^{\mu}\hat{x}^{\nu} = \frac{1}{a}R^{\mu\nu}_{\ \rho\sigma}\hat{x}^{\rho}\hat{x}^{\sigma}.$$
 (1.1.5)

In the case of θ -deformed spaces [24], [25], $\theta^{\mu\nu} = -\theta^{\nu\mu}$ is an antisymmetric constant matrix of mass dimension -2. For Lie algebra deformed spaces [29], [30], [32], $C_{\lambda}^{\mu\nu}$ are Lie algebra structure constants of mass dimension -1. And finally, $R^{\mu\nu}_{\ \rho\sigma}$ is the dimensionless *R*-matrix of the quantum space [60], [61], [62].

This three examples fulfil the Poincaré-Birkoff-Witt (PBW) property. PBW property has been first developed for Lie algebras [63], but it applies to the other deformed algebras as well. It states that the finite dimensional vector spaces, spanned by the homogeneous polynomials of degree r, have the same dimension as the corresponding vector spaces of commuting variables. In the case of examples (1.1.3)-(1.1.5) PBW property allows us to introduce a basis of ordered monomials in $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$. In the following we always restrict the general $\Theta^{\mu\nu}(\hat{x})$ to one of the three cases (1.1.3)-(1.1.5), that is $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ denotes canonical, Lie algebra or q-deformed spaces.

In order to write the elements of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ in a unique way one imposes an ordering prescription. There are many possible orderings for a given abstract algebra $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$. The most oftenly used ones are the symmetric and the normal ordering.

If we chose the symmetric ordering, the basis in the algebra is given by

$$: \hat{x}^{\mu} := \hat{x}^{\mu}, : \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} := \frac{1}{2} (\hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} + \hat{x}^{\nu} \hat{x}^{\mu}), \dots .$$
(1.1.6)

The vector space spanned by this basis we denote by \hat{V}

$$\hat{V} = \sum_{r} \oplus \hat{V}_{r}, \qquad (1.1.7)$$

where \hat{V}_r is the vector space spaned by homogeneous polynomials of degree r in the coordinates \hat{x}^{μ} . The corresponding vector spaces of commuting coordinates we denote by V and V_r

$$\mathcal{A}_x = \mathbb{C}[[x^{\mu_0}, \dots, x^{\mu_n}]].$$

²In the notation of (1.1.2) the space of commuting coordinates is the associative algebra freely generated by the commutative coordinates x^{μ}

respectively. An arbitrary element of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ is then written as an expansion in the basis (1.1.6)

$$\hat{f}(\hat{x}) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} C_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_j} : \hat{x}^{\mu_1} \dots \hat{x}^{\mu_j} :$$

= $C_0 + C_{1\mu} : \hat{x}^{\mu} : + C_{2\mu\nu} : \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} : + \dots$ (1.1.8)

and it is fully characterised by the expansion coefficients $C_{\mu_1...\mu_j}$. The power series expansion (1.1.8) we call the formal power series expansion since we do not say anything about its convergence.

In the case of normal ordering the "order" of coordinates is specified. For example, let \hat{x}^n stand to the furthest left of the expression, then let \hat{x}^{n-1} come after it and so on until \hat{x}^0 which then stands on the furthest right. The basis is given by

$$: \hat{x}^{\mu} := \hat{x}^{\mu}, : \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} := \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu}, \quad \mu \ge \nu, \dots$$
(1.1.9)

and every element of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ can be expanded in this basis. Of course, this is not the only possibility for normal ordering but just an example.

However, multiplying two arbitrary functions \hat{f} , $\hat{g} \in \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ gives the result which is no longer written as an expansion in basis and the elements have to be reordered. For example, we take the symmetric ordering and multiply two basis elements

$$: \hat{x}^{\mu} : \cdot : \hat{x}^{\nu} := \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} = \frac{1}{2} (\hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} + \hat{x}^{\nu} \hat{x}^{\mu}) + \frac{1}{2} (\hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} - \hat{x}^{\nu} \hat{x}^{\mu}) = : \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} : + \frac{i}{2} \Theta^{\mu\nu} (\hat{x}).$$
(1.1.10)

In the first line we obtain a result which is not written in terms of basis elements, then we rewrite it differently. Using relations (1.1.1) in the last line, the result expressed in terms of basis elements follows. Once again we mention that $\Theta^{\mu\nu}(\hat{x})$ is restricted to one of the three examples (1.1.3)-(1.1.5) that fulfil PBW property. We come back to this result in Section 1.4 when we consider a representation on the space of commuting coordinates.

1.2 Derivatives

Having defined our framework, we now introduce the concept of derivatives on a deformed space.

Derivatives are maps of the deformed space into itself [33], [34]

They are usually defined by the action on the coordinates. This action is extended to the free algebra of coordinates. To define a map on $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$, derivatives have to be consistent with

the defining relations (1.1.1). Also, we demand that they are a deformation of the usual partial derivatives.

Having all this in mind, we make a very general ansatz for the commutator of derivatives and coordinates

$$[\hat{\partial}_{\rho}, \hat{x}^{\mu}] = \delta^{\mu}_{\rho} + \sum_{j} A^{\mu\lambda_1\dots\lambda_j}_{\rho} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda_1}\dots\hat{\partial}_{\lambda_j}.$$
(1.2.2)

The coefficients $A^{\mu\lambda_1...\lambda_j}_{\rho}$ are complex numbers. Demanding that (1.2.2) is consistent with the relations (1.1.1) leads to conditions on these coefficients. Ansatz (1.2.2) is not the most general one, since we do not allow the right hand side of (1.2.2) to depend on coordinates. However, in all the examples considered here this will be sufficient. Let us just sketch the idea here. The explicit examples will be given in Sections 1.5 and 2.1. One demands that

$$\hat{\partial}_{\rho} \Big([\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] - i \Theta^{\mu\nu}(\hat{x}) \Big) = 0, \qquad (1.2.3)$$

and commutes the derivative $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ to the furthest right using Ansatz (1.2.2). The final result has to be zero, otherwise new commutation relations on coordinates arise. This gives some conditions on the coefficients $A^{\nu\rho_1...\rho_j}_{\mu}$, but in most of the cases these conditions are not sufficient to determine the coefficients uniquely.

Using (1.2.2) one calculates the Leibniz rule by applying derivatives on ordered monomials and generalising the result to the product of arbitrary functions. The presence of nonzero additional terms in (1.2.2) leads to a deformed Leibniz rule

$$\partial_{\rho} (f \cdot \hat{g}) = (\partial_{\rho} f) \cdot \hat{g} + f \cdot (\partial_{\rho} \hat{g}) + \text{ additional terms.}$$
(1.2.4)

1.3 Symmetries

The concept of symmetry is very important in physics. Classically, symmetries are described by Lie groups or Lie algebras and the physical space is the representation space of the symmetry algebra. For example, the commutative Minkowski space-time is the representation space of the Poincaré algebra. Therefore, the question arises if one can introduce deformed spaces as representation spaces of some symmetry algebras. At first sight it looks as this will not be possible. If one looks at (1.1.3), that is the θ -deformed space, it is obvious that the Lorentz invariance is broken since the left-hand side transforms like a tensor while the right-hand side is constant³. However, it turns out that it is possible to deform the concept of symmetry such that it can be applied to deformed spaces as well. This is done in the framework of Hopf algebras [60].

It is well known that the function algebra over a classical Lie group $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{G})$ is a Hopf algebra. The deformation of this classical function algebra to the respective quantum (deformed) group $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{G})_h$ is well defined. The deformed function algebra $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{G})_h$ is again a Hopf algebra and it depends on parameter h. In the limit $h \to 0$ $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{G})_h$ reduces to the classical function algebra $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{G})$. It is very important that this deformation does not lead out of the category of Hopf algebras. This motivates studying Hopf algebras in more detail.

As mentioned above, the function algebra over a Lie group and the enveloping algebra of a Lie algebra are examples of Hopf algebras. In general, a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} consists of an

³Note that there are authors who treat $\theta^{\mu\nu}$ as a tensor [64], [65].

algebra and a coalgebra structure which are compatible with each other. Additionally, there is a map called antipode which corresponds to the inverse of a group. In the following we give the precise definition of Hopf algebras.

We start repeating the definition of an algebra and some related concepts. An algebra (associative algebra with unit) is a vector space \mathcal{A} over a field F, with two linear maps, multiplication or product $m : \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ and unit $\eta : F \to \mathcal{A}$ such that

$$m \circ (m \otimes \mathrm{id}) = m \circ (\mathrm{id} \otimes m), \tag{1.3.1}$$

$$m \circ (\eta \otimes \mathrm{id}) = \mathrm{id} = m \circ (\mathrm{id} \otimes \eta).$$
 (1.3.2)

Here id is the identity map on \mathcal{A} . If we have two algebras \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} we can define an algebra homomorphism. It is a F-linear map $\varphi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ such that $\varphi(aa') = \varphi(a)\varphi(a')$ for all $a, a' \in \mathcal{A}$ and $\varphi(1_{\mathcal{A}}) = 1_{\mathcal{B}}$. Also, one defines a tensor product algebra $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$. Its vector space is the tensor product of vector spaces of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} and the multiplication is defined by $m_{\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}} = (m_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes m_{\mathcal{B}}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \otimes \tau \otimes \mathrm{id})$ where τ is the so-called flip operator, $\tau(a \otimes b) = b \otimes a$, that is

$$(a \otimes b)(a' \otimes b') \stackrel{\text{\tiny der}}{=} aa' \otimes bb', \quad a, a' \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and } b, b' \in \mathcal{B}.$$
 (1.3.3)

Now we introduce the concept of coalgebra. A coalgebra is defined as a vector space \mathcal{A} over F with two linear maps, comultiplication or coproduct $\Delta : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}$ and counit $\varepsilon : \mathcal{A} \to F$, such that

$$(\Delta \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Delta = (\mathrm{id} \otimes \Delta) \circ \Delta, \qquad (1.3.4)$$

$$(\varepsilon \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Delta = \mathrm{id} = (\mathrm{id} \otimes \varepsilon) \circ \Delta. \tag{1.3.5}$$

Equation (1.3.4) is referred to as the coassociativity of the comultiplication Δ and it is dual to the associativity of the multiplication m (1.3.1). In the same way as for algebras, one defines the coalgebra homomorphism and the tensor product coalgebra. A coalgebra homomorphism is defined as F-linear map $\varphi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{A}$ and \mathcal{B} are coalgebras, such that

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{B}} \circ \varphi = (\varphi \otimes \varphi) \circ \Delta_{\mathcal{A}}, \quad \varepsilon_{\mathcal{A}} = \varepsilon_{\mathcal{B}} \circ \varphi.$$
(1.3.6)

The tensor product coalgebra $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ is the coalgebra built on the vector space $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ with comultiplication $\Delta_{\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}} = (\mathrm{id} \otimes \tau \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ (\Delta_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \Delta_{\mathcal{B}})$ and counit $\varepsilon_{\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}} = \varepsilon_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \varepsilon_{\mathcal{B}}$. Coalgebra is cocommutative if $\tau \circ \Delta = \Delta$.

If we have an algebra \mathcal{A} that is a coalgebra at the same time and if algebra and coalgebra structures are compatible, we speak about bialgebras. Compatibility is defined in the following way

$$\Delta(a a') = \Delta(a)\Delta(a'), \quad \varepsilon(a a') = \varepsilon(a)\varepsilon(a'), \quad a, a' \in \mathcal{A} \quad \Delta(1) = 1 \otimes 1, \quad \varepsilon(1) = 1, \quad (1.3.7)$$

that is the coproduct and counit are algebra homomorphisms.

Finally, to come from a bialgebra to a Hopf algebra we need one additional structure. It is a linear map called antipode or coinverse $S : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ such that

$$m \circ (S \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Delta = \eta \circ \varepsilon = m \circ (\mathrm{id} \otimes S) \circ \Delta. \tag{1.3.8}$$

The antipode is an algebra antihomomorphism as well as a coalgebra antihomomorphism, that is

$$S(aa') = S(a')S(a), \quad a, a' \in \mathcal{A}, \quad S(1) = 1,$$
(1.3.9)

$$\Delta \circ S = \tau \circ (S \otimes S) \circ \Delta, \quad \varepsilon \circ S = \varepsilon. \tag{1.3.10}$$

To get used to these mathematical concepts we present one example, namely the Hopf algebra of usual partial derivatives on n + 1 dimensional Minkowski space-time. Although very simple, it will be useful later when we generalise the concept of derivatives to deformed spaces. Generators of the algebra⁴ are ∂_{ρ} , $\rho = 0, \ldots n$ and they fulfil

$$[\partial_{\rho}, \partial_{\sigma}] = 0. \tag{1.3.11}$$

Multiplication and the unit element are $m(\partial_{\rho} \otimes \partial_{\sigma}) = \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}$ and $\eta = 1$ respectively.

The coalgebra sector is given by comultiplication

$$\Delta(\partial_{\rho}) = \partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho}, \qquad (1.3.12)$$

and counit $\varepsilon(\partial_{\rho}) = 0$. We calculate

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes \Delta) \circ \Delta \partial_{\rho} = (\mathrm{id} \otimes \Delta)(\partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho}) = \partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes (\partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho}) (\Delta \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Delta \partial_{\rho} = (\Delta \otimes \mathrm{id})(\partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho}) = (\partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho}) \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho},$$

and comparing this two lines see that coassociativity (1.3.4) is fulfilled. From

$$(\varepsilon \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Delta(\partial_{\rho}) = (\varepsilon \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ (\partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho}) = \partial_{\rho} = \mathrm{id} \circ \partial_{\rho}, (\mathrm{id} \otimes \varepsilon) \circ \Delta(\partial_{\rho}) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes \varepsilon) \circ (\partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho}) = \partial_{\rho} = \mathrm{id} \circ \partial_{\rho}$$

we see that (1.3.5) is fulfilled as well. The abstract concept of comultiplication encodes the well known concept of Leibniz rule. For example, from (1.3.12) we have

$$\partial_{\rho}(fg) = (\partial_{\rho}f)g + f(\partial_{\rho}g). \tag{1.3.13}$$

Having comultiplication one can always deduce the Leibniz rule. The other way, abstracting the coproduct from a given Leibniz rule, does not lead to an unique result (in most cases). This is because the Leibniz rule is representation-dependent, while the comultiplication is representation-independent and therefore it is a more general concept.

To be able to speak about the bialgebra of derivatives we have to check if

$$[\Delta(\partial_{\rho}), \Delta(\partial_{\sigma})] = 0 \text{ and } \varepsilon(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}) = \varepsilon(\partial_{\rho})\varepsilon(\partial_{\sigma}). \tag{1.3.14}$$

The second relation is obvious. The first one we write explicitly

$$\begin{split} [\Delta(\partial_{\rho}), \Delta(\partial_{\sigma})] &= \Delta(\partial_{\rho})\Delta(\partial_{\sigma}) - (\rho \leftrightarrow \sigma) \\ &= (\partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho})(\partial_{\sigma} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\sigma}) - (\rho \leftrightarrow \sigma) \\ &= \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma} \otimes 1 + \partial_{\rho} \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\sigma} \otimes \partial_{\rho} + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma} - (\rho \leftrightarrow \sigma) = 0, \end{split}$$

⁴Actually, one is here working with the universal enveloping algebra of ∂_{ρ} derivatives.

where we used that derivatives commute, that is (1.3.11). Looking at (1.3.12) we see that this bialgebra is cocommutative.

Finally, in order to obtain the Hopf algebra of derivatives, we add the antipode $S(\partial_{\rho}) = -\partial_{\rho}$ and check if it fulfils (1.3.8)

$$m \circ (S \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Delta(\partial_{\rho}) = m \circ (S \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ (\partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho})$$
$$= m(-\partial_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{\rho}) = -\partial_{\rho} + \partial_{\rho} = 0 = \eta \circ \varepsilon(\partial_{\rho}).$$

The second part of (1.3.8) one proves analogously.

1.4 Representation on the space of commuting coordinates

So far our analysis of deformed spaces was given in terms of the abstract algebra. But we would like to have a theory which could give some predictions (numbers finally) that might be experimentally checked. The deformation quantisation provides the way to connect deformed and undeformed spaces. It allows us to to describe the properties of a noncommutative space in a perturbative way, order by order in the deformation parameter. In the zeroth order the commutative space-time is obtained.

The main idea of the deformation quantisation is to represent a noncommutative space on the space of commuting coordinates. Remember that we consider only the deformed spaces $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ which fulfil PBW property and in which a basis can be introduced. Therefore, we can map the basis in $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ to the basis of monomials of commuting coordinates

$$: \hat{x}^{\mu}: \mapsto x^{\mu}, \\ : \hat{x}^{\mu}\hat{x}^{\nu}: \mapsto x^{\mu}x^{\nu}, \\ \dots$$

This enables us to map an element $\hat{f}(\hat{x})$ of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ to the space of commuting coordinates. We expand it in terms of basis elements and then map every element to the space of commuting coordinates

$$\hat{f}(\hat{x}) = C_0 + C_{1\mu} : \hat{x}^{\mu} : + C_{2\mu\nu} : \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} : + \dots$$

$$\downarrow \qquad (1.4.1)$$

$$f(x) = C_0 + C_{1\mu} x^{\mu} + C_{2\mu\nu} x^{\mu} x^{\nu} + \dots$$

The function f(x) is a function of commuting coordinates and is a representation of the abstract function $\hat{f}(\hat{x})$. This establishes the isomorphism between the vector space \hat{V} defined in (1.1.7) and the corresponding vector space of commuting coordinates V.

The next step is to extend this vector space isomorphism to an algebra morphism. To do this one has to map the multiplication in the abstract algebra $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ to the space of commuting coordinates. We start with two elements of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$, $\hat{f}(\hat{x})$ and $\hat{g}(\hat{x})$. Their product is an element of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$:

$$\hat{f}(\hat{x})\hat{g}(\hat{x}) = \hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}(\hat{x}) \in \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}.$$
(1.4.2)

This element can be expanded in the chosen basis and mapped to the algebra of commuting variables \mathcal{A}_x^{5}

$$\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}(\hat{x}) \mapsto f \star g(x) \in \mathcal{A}_x. \tag{1.4.3}$$

Its image we label $f \star g(x)$ and it defines the star product (*-product) of two functions. The algebra of noncommuting coordinates $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ is then isomorphic to the algebra of commuting variables with the *-product as multiplication.

Before discussing some properties of this product, we give one simple example. In Section 1.1, using the symmetric ordering, we found that

$$: \hat{x}^{\mu}: \cdot : \hat{x}^{\nu}: = : \hat{x}^{\mu}\hat{x}^{\nu}: + \frac{i}{2}\Theta^{\mu\nu}(\hat{x}).$$
(1.4.4)

This can be mapped to the space of commuting coordinates

Also,

$$: \hat{x}^{\nu} : \cdot : \hat{x}^{\mu} := \hat{x}^{\nu} \hat{x}^{\mu} \mapsto x^{\nu} \star x^{\mu} = x^{\nu} x^{\mu} - \frac{i}{2} \Theta^{\mu\nu}(x)$$
(1.4.6)

and therefore

$$[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] \mapsto [x^{\mu} , x^{\nu}] = i\Theta^{\mu\nu}(x).$$
 (1.4.7)

Now we come back to some of the properties of \star -products⁶. A general \star -product is an associative and noncommutative product and can be written as an expansion in the deformation parameter h

$$f \star g := B_0(f,g) + hB_1(f,g) + h^2B_2(f,g) + \ldots = B(f,g), \qquad (1.4.8)$$

where $B = \sum_{k} h^{k} B_{k}$. The bilinear operators B_{k} are not independent, since the condition for associativity of (1.4.8) yields an infinite number of equations quadratic in the *B*'s. In addition to associativity, it is useful to require the product to be unital, $f \star 1 = f = 1 \star f$. In the commutative limit $(h \to 0)$ a \star -product should reproduce the pointwise multiplication of functions

$$B_0(f,g) = (fg)(x) = f(x)g(x).$$
(1.4.9)

The product (1.4.8) can be written as

$$f \star g = B(f,g) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} h^k B_k^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_r \nu_1 \dots \nu_s}(x) (\partial_{\mu_1} \dots \partial_{\mu_r} f) (\partial_{\nu_1} \dots \partial_{\nu_s} g).$$
(1.4.10)

⁵Algebra \mathcal{A}_x can be also seen as the vector space V equipped with the usual pointwise multiplication.

⁶Using PBW property is not the only way one can construct *-products, one can use the Weyl quantisation [66], [31], for example.

The series in (1.4.10) we regard as the formal power series. The deformation property and associativity of the \star -product imply that

$$\{f,g\}_{\star} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{ih} (f \star g - g \star f)$$
$$= \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{ih} [f \star g] = (B_1^{\mu\nu}(x) - B_1^{\nu\mu}(x)) (\partial_{\mu} f) (\partial_{\nu} g)$$
$$= \Theta^{\mu\nu}(x) (\partial_{\mu} f) (\partial_{\nu} g) \tag{1.4.11}$$

defines a Poisson bracket. The antisymmetric tensor $\Theta^{\mu\nu} = \Theta^{\mu\nu}(x)$ in the last line represents the Poisson structure. The Jacobi identity which this Poisson structure satisfies is expressed in terms of $\Theta^{\mu\nu}$ as

$$\Theta^{\mu\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}\Theta^{\nu\rho} + \Theta^{\nu\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}\Theta^{\rho\mu} + \Theta^{\rho\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}\Theta^{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
 (1.4.12)

Conversely, given a Poisson tensor $\Theta^{\mu\nu}$, we can always find a *-product such that (1.4.11) holds by the Kontsevich construction [12]. We mention that for $\Theta^{\mu\nu}$ more general than in the examples (1.1.3)-(1.1.5), relation (1.4.12) might not be fulfilled and then we can not define a Poison bracket (1.4.11). To first order, the Kontsevich *-product reads

$$f \star g = fg + \frac{ih}{2} \Theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho} f)(\partial_{\sigma} g) + \mathcal{O}(h^2), \qquad (1.4.13)$$

and the first order term B_1 of the \star -product is proportional to the Poisson bracket. Applied to coordinates, (1.4.13) gives

$$x^{\mu} \star x^{\nu} = x^{\mu}x^{\nu} - \frac{ih}{2}\Theta^{\mu\nu}(x),$$

that is

$$[x^{\mu} \stackrel{\star}{,} x^{\nu}] = ih\Theta^{\mu\nu}(x)$$

which is exactly (1.4.7). In the next section we give one concrete example of the \star -product for the θ -deformed space.

So far we have learned how to map functions from the abstract algebra to the space of commuting coordinates and how to multiply them. But this is not enough to formulate a field theory on a deformed space⁷. One has also to learn how to map derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ from the abstract algebra $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ to the space of the commuting coordinates.

The principle how to do it is given by the following diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\hat{f}(\hat{x}) & \longmapsto & f(x) \\
\hat{\partial}_{\mu} & & & & \\
\hat{\partial}_{\mu} \hat{f})(\hat{x}) & \longmapsto & (\partial^{\star}_{\mu} \star f)(x) \,. \\
\end{array}$$
(1.4.14)

⁷In Section 1.1 we defined deformed space in terms of the abstract algebra. In this section we represent it on the space of commuting coordinates, and this representation we also call deformed space. It is the usual commutative space, equipped with a \star -product, \star -derivatives,....

In words, applying $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ to a function $\hat{f}(\hat{x})$ in $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ gives a new function $(\hat{\partial}\hat{f})(\hat{x})$. This function, as well as $\hat{f}(\hat{x})$, can be mapped to the space of commuting coordinates. The images we call $(\partial^{\star}_{\mu} \star f)(x)$ and f(x) respectively. From this two results one "reads off" the operator ∂^{\star}_{μ} . In practice, one applies $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ on symmetrised polynomials (if the ordering in $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$ is chosen to be symmetric one) using (1.2.2) and finds a perturbative expression for ∂^{\star}_{μ} . This result is then generalised to a closed formula when possible. The same procedure can be used to find \star -representations of other operators defined in the abstract algebra (like generators of deformed symmetries, see Section 2.6).

1.5 An example, the θ -deformed space

In this section we present one special example, the θ -deformed space defined by relation (1.1.3). Compared to the other examples of deformed spaces, this is a very simple deformation since the right-hand side of (1.1.3) does not depend on the coordinates \hat{x}^{μ} . Therefore, some of the properties of the θ -deformed space will be simpler compared to the other more general examples.

As outlined in Section 1.2 we now define derivatives on this space. Since they should be a deformation of the usual derivatives we make the following ansatz

$$[\hat{\partial}_{\rho}, \hat{x}^{\mu}] = \delta^{\mu}_{\rho} + f^{\mu}_{\rho}(\hat{\partial}, \theta).$$
(1.5.1)

Additionally, the derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ are maps of the θ -deformed space into itself. Therefore, the relation (1.5.1) has to be consistent with (1.1.3). We obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{\partial}_{\rho} \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{x}^{\nu} &= ([\hat{\partial}_{\rho}, \hat{x}^{\mu}] + \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{\partial}_{\rho}) \hat{x}^{\nu} \\ &= (\delta^{\mu}_{\rho} + f^{\mu}_{\rho} (\hat{\partial}, \theta)) \hat{x}^{\nu} + \hat{x}^{\mu} ([\hat{\partial}_{\rho}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] + \hat{x}^{\nu} \hat{\partial}_{\rho}) \\ &= (\delta^{\mu}_{\rho} + f^{\mu}_{\rho} (\hat{\partial}, \theta)) \hat{x}^{\nu} + \hat{x}^{\mu} (\delta^{\nu}_{\rho} + f^{\nu}_{\rho} (\hat{\partial}, \theta) + \hat{x}^{\nu} \hat{\partial}_{\rho}), \\ \hat{\partial}_{\rho} \hat{x}^{\nu} \hat{x}^{\mu} &= \dots \\ &= (\delta^{\nu}_{\rho} + f^{\nu}_{\rho} (\hat{\partial}, \theta)) \hat{x}^{\mu} + \hat{x}^{\nu} (\delta^{\mu}_{\rho} + f^{\mu}_{\rho} (\hat{\partial}, \theta) + \hat{x}^{\mu} \hat{\partial}_{\rho}) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\hat{\partial}_{\rho}\theta^{\mu\nu} = \theta^{\mu\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$$

Adding these three terms together we see that

$$\hat{\partial}_{\rho} \left(\left[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu} \right] - i\theta^{\mu\nu} \right) = \left(\left[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu} \right] - i\theta^{\mu\nu} \right) \hat{\partial}_{\rho},$$

is fulfilled for $f^{\mu}_{\rho}(\hat{\partial}, \theta) = 0$. Therefore,

$$[\hat{\partial}_{\rho}, \hat{x}^{\mu}] = \delta^{\mu}_{\rho}. \tag{1.5.2}$$

In contrast to the expectations, there are no additional terms in (1.5.2). This is due to the fact that the right hand side of (1.1.3) is constant. In the next chapter we study the κ -deformed space which is an example for a Lie algebra deformation. There it is not possible to set $f^{\mu}_{\rho}(\hat{\partial},\kappa) = 0$ and additional terms arise. One can check that

$$[\hat{\partial}_{\mu},\hat{\partial}_{\nu}] = 0 \tag{1.5.3}$$

is consistent with (1.5.2). From (1.5.2) the Leibniz rule for derivatives follows,

$$\hat{\partial}_{\rho}(\hat{f}\hat{g}) = (\hat{\partial}_{\rho}\hat{f})\hat{g} + \hat{f}(\hat{\partial}_{\rho}\hat{g}).$$
(1.5.4)

It is undeformed, as expected from (1.5.2). In terms of the comultiplication we have

$$\Delta \hat{\partial}_{\rho} = \hat{\partial}_{\rho} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \hat{\partial}_{\rho}. \tag{1.5.5}$$

We define the counit $\varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{\rho}) = 0$ and check that (1.3.4) and(1.3.5) are fulfilled. Since this is the case, we speak about the coalgebra of derivatives.

To be able to define the bialgebra of derivatives, we have to check whether the coproduct (1.5.5) is compatible with the algebra of derivatives (1.5.3)

$$[\Delta \hat{\partial}_{\rho}, \Delta \hat{\partial}_{\sigma}] = 0, \qquad (1.5.6)$$

and whether

$$\varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\sigma}) = \varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{\rho})\varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{\sigma}). \tag{1.5.7}$$

It is not difficult to see that both (1.5.6) and (1.5.7) are fulfilled, calculation is the same as in the example given in Section 1.3, so we have the bialgebra of derivatives. Adding the antipode $S(\hat{\partial}_{\rho}) = -\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ this becomes the Hopf algebra of derivatives on the θ -deformed space.

Following the logic of the previous sections one should proceed with the analysis of the deformed symmetries on this space. However, we postpone this problem until Chapter 5. Instead, we continue our analysis in the \star -product representation. Since the θ -deformed space has PBW property, one can map functions from the abstract algebra to the space of commuting coordinates, one only has to specify the ordering (basis) in $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\hat{x}}$. We chose the symmetric ordering.

For the θ -deformed space the symmetrically ordered \star -product is the Moyal-Weyl \star -product [66], [67]

$$f \star g(x) = \lim_{x \to y} e^{\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\rho}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\sigma}} f(x)g(y)$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^{n} \frac{1}{n!} \theta^{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}} \dots \theta^{\rho_{n}\sigma_{n}} \left(\partial_{\rho_{1}} \dots \partial_{\rho_{n}} f(x)\right) \left(\partial_{\sigma_{1}} \dots \partial_{\sigma_{n}} g(x)\right).$$
(1.5.8)

When applied on coordinates, (1.5.8) gives

$$[x^{\mu} , x^{\nu}] = i\theta^{\mu\nu}. \tag{1.5.9}$$

Note that one can start from (1.5.9) with the \star -product given by (1.5.8) and formulate a theory based on this relation, forgeting about the abstract algebra all together.

The \star -product (1.5.8) respects the usual complex conjugation⁸

$$\overline{f \star g(x)} = \overline{g} \star \overline{f}(x) \tag{1.5.10}$$

 $^{^{8}}$ One can show that all the symmetrically ordered \star -products respect the usual complex conjugation.

and this is the reason why we continue working with it in Chapter 5.

Now we have to introduce the \star -representation of the derivatives (1.5.2) following the prescription given in Section 1.4. It is not suprising that

$$\hat{\partial}_{\rho} \mapsto \partial_{\rho}^{\star} = \partial_{\rho} \tag{1.5.11}$$

and

$$\left(\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \star (f \star g)\right) = \partial_{\rho}^{\star} \triangleright (f \star g) = \left(\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \star f\right) \star g + f \star \left(\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \star g\right)$$
$$= \left(\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \triangleright f\right) \star g + f \star \left(\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \triangleright g\right).$$
(1.5.12)

In the last line we have introduced a new notation concerning ∂_{ρ}^{\star} derivatives. In order to distinguish between derivatives acting on a function and derivative as an operator multiplied with a function

$$\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \star f = (\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \star f) + f \star \partial_{\rho}^{\star}, \qquad (1.5.13)$$

we introduce a new symbol ">" which stands for "a derivative acting on a function", that is

$$\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \triangleright f = (\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \star f). \tag{1.5.14}$$

Obviously, this symbol replaces the usual bracket notation. However, in what follows we will use both " \triangleright " and the bracket notation. Also, for the usual partial derivatives we often omit the bracket notation when it is not necessary and write

$$\partial_{\rho} f = (\partial_{\rho} f). \tag{1.5.15}$$

With (1.5.8), (1.5.11) and (1.5.12) one has enough (basic) information to formulate field theories on this space [19], [41], [43].

2 The κ -deformed space

After the general introduction in the previous chapter we continue with one special example of noncommutative spaces. In this and in the next two chapters we study the κ -deformed space and formulation of the gauge field theory on it. The reason why the κ -deformed space has been studied in the last years is that there is a quantum group symmetry acting on it¹. It is the so-called κ -Poincaré group. Historically, it was first obtained by Lukierski et al. [29], [30] contracting the q-anti-de Sitter Hopf algebra $SO_q(3, 2)$. The κ -Poincaré algebra was introduced in [68] as a dual symmetry structure to the κ -Poincaré group. Then the κ deformed space is introduced as a module of this algebra. This space plays also an important role in the Doubly Special Relativity (DSR) theories [69], [70], [71], which are introduced as a possible generalisation of Special Relativity.

Here we start from the definition of the κ -deformed space in terms of the abstract algebra of coordinates. As it was outlined in the previous chapter, we introduce derivatives and symmetry generators as maps in the abstract algebra and represent obtained results on the space of commuting coordinates.

2.1 Quantum space and derivatives

Algebraically, the n + 1-dimensional κ -deformed space can be introduced [35] as the algebra freely generated by coordinates \hat{x}^{μ} and divided by the ideal generated by the following commutation relations:

$$[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = iC^{\mu\nu}_{\rho}\hat{x}^{\rho}, \qquad (2.1.1)$$

where

$$C^{\mu\nu}_{\rho} = a(\delta^{\mu}_{n}\delta^{\nu}_{\rho} - \delta^{\nu}_{n}\delta^{\mu}_{\rho}), \quad \mu = 0, \dots, n.$$

$$(2.1.2)$$

Latin indices denote the undeformed dimensions, n denotes the deformed dimension and Greek indices refer to all n + 1 dimensions. Indices are raised and lowered by the (formal) metric $\eta^{\mu\nu} = diag(1, -1, ..., -1)$. We have chosen that the constant deformation vector a^{μ} of length a points in the n-th spacelike direction, $a^n = a$. Different choices are discussed in the literature [72], [73]. In Appendix C we analyse the general κ -deformed space, imposing no restriction on the deformation parameter a^{μ} . The parameter a is related to the frequently

¹It has been believed until recently that a quantum group symmetry for the θ -deformed space does not exist. Therefore, the κ -deformed space has been considered to be one of the simplest examples of possible deformations of the usual Minkowski space.

used parameter κ as $a = 1/\kappa$. Using (2.1.2) the commutation relation (2.1.1) is written more explicitly

$$[\hat{x}^n, \hat{x}^l] = ia\hat{x}^l, \quad [\hat{x}^k, \hat{x}^l] = 0; \quad k, l = 0, 1, \dots, n-1.$$
 (2.1.3)

Derivatives are introduced as maps on the abstract algebra of coordinates. One can start from ansatz (1.2.2); demanding the consistency with (2.1.3) one obtains conditions on the coefficients $A_{\rho}^{\mu\lambda_1...\lambda_j}$. However, we start here with a less general ansatz

$$[\hat{\partial}_{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} + i A^{\nu\rho}_{\mu} \hat{\partial}_{\rho}, \qquad (2.1.4)$$

where we supposed that the right hand side is at most linear in derivatives. Looking at the index structure and from dimensional reasons ansatz (2.1.4) can be written in the following way

$$\begin{aligned} [\hat{\partial}_n, \hat{x}^n] &= 1 + iac_1 \hat{\partial}_n, \\ [\hat{\partial}_n, \hat{x}^l] &= iac_2 \eta^{lm} \hat{\partial}_m = iac_2 \hat{\partial}^l, \\ [\hat{\partial}_j, \hat{x}^n] &= iac_3 \hat{\partial}_j, \\ [\hat{\partial}_j, \hat{x}^l] &= \delta^l_j (1 + iac_4 \hat{\partial}_n). \end{aligned}$$
(2.1.5)

Then one calculates

$$\hat{\partial}_{n} \left(\hat{x}^{k} \hat{x}^{l} - \hat{x}^{l} \hat{x}^{k} \right) = 0,
\hat{\partial}_{n} \left(\hat{x}^{n} \hat{x}^{l} - \hat{x}^{l} \hat{x}^{n} - ia \hat{x}^{l} \right) = 0,
\hat{\partial}_{j} \left(\hat{x}^{k} \hat{x}^{l} - \hat{x}^{l} \hat{x}^{k} \right) = 0,
\hat{\partial}_{j} \left(\hat{x}^{n} \hat{x}^{l} - \hat{x}^{l} \hat{x}^{n} - ia \hat{x}^{l} \right) = 0$$
(2.1.6)

using (2.1.5). The calculation is the same as in Section 1.5 and it gives the following conditions on the constants c_i

1st equation:
 no conditions,

 2nd equation:

$$c_2 = 0 \lor c_1 - c_3 - 1 = 0$$
,

 3rd equation:
 $c_2 = 0 \lor c_4 = 0$,

 4th equation:
 $c_3 - c_4 - 1 = 0 \land (c_4 = 0 \lor c_3 - c_1 - 1 = 0)$.

 (2.1.7)

Analysing these conditions we obtain three one parameter families of derivatives

$$\begin{split} &[\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}},\hat{x}^{n}] = 1 + iac_{1}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}, \quad [\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}},\hat{x}^{n}] = 1 + iac_{2}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}, \qquad [\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}},\hat{x}^{n}] = 1 + 2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}}, \\ &[\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}},\hat{x}^{l}] = 0, \qquad [\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}},\hat{x}^{l}] = 0, \qquad [\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}},\hat{x}^{l}] = iac_{3}\hat{\partial}^{c_{3}\,l}, \\ &[\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}},\hat{x}^{n}] = ia\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}}, \qquad [\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}},\hat{x}^{n}] = ia(1 + c_{2})\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}}, \qquad [\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{3}},\hat{x}^{n}] = ia\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{3}}, \\ &[\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}},\hat{x}^{l}] = \delta_{j}^{l}, \qquad [\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}},\hat{x}^{l}] = \delta_{j}^{l}(1 + iac_{2}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}), \qquad [\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{3}},\hat{x}^{l}] = \delta_{j}^{l}. \end{aligned}$$

The constants c_1 , c_2 and c_3 remain arbitrary and can not be fixed by the consistency condition. One can check that derivatives of all three families commute

$$[\hat{\partial}_{\mu}^{c_i}, \hat{\partial}_{\nu}^{c_i}] = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, 3.$$
(2.1.9)

In the following sections we work with one specific choice, namely we take $c_1 = 0$

$$\begin{aligned} [\hat{\partial}_n, \hat{x}^{\mu}] &= \delta^{\mu}_n, \\ [\hat{\partial}_j, \hat{x}^{\mu}] &= \delta^{\mu}_j - ia\eta^{\mu n} \hat{\partial}_j, \end{aligned}$$
(2.1.10)

where we denoted $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}^{c_1=0}$ as $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$. But it is always possible to map $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ derivatives to any other $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}^{c_i}$. The explicit maps are given by

$$\hat{\partial}^{c_1}_{\mu}: \qquad \hat{\partial}^{c_1}_j = \hat{\partial}_j, \qquad \hat{\partial}^{c_1}_n = \frac{e^{iac_1\hat{\partial}_n} - 1}{iac_1},$$
(2.1.11)

$$\hat{\partial}_{\mu}^{c_2}:$$
 $\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_2} = \frac{e^{iac_2\partial_n} - 1}{iac_2},$ $\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_2} = \hat{\partial}_{j}e^{iac_2\hat{\partial}_n},$ (2.1.12)

$$\hat{\partial}_{\mu}^{c_3}: \qquad \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_3} = \frac{e^{2ia\hat{\partial}_n} - 1}{2ia} + \frac{iac_3}{2}\hat{\partial}_k\hat{\partial}^k, \qquad \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_3} = \hat{\partial}_j.$$
(2.1.13)

Next step is to calculate the Leibniz rule for $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ derivatives. Applying $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ on ordered polynomials using (2.1.10) gives

$$\hat{\partial}_n \left(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g} \right) = (\hat{\partial}_n \hat{f}) \cdot \hat{g} + \hat{f} \cdot (\hat{\partial}_n \hat{g}),
\hat{\partial}_j \left(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g} \right) = (\hat{\partial}_j \hat{f}) \cdot \hat{g} + (e^{ia\hat{\partial}_n} \hat{f}) \cdot (\hat{\partial}_j \hat{g}),$$
(2.1.14)

or written in terms of coproduct

$$\Delta \hat{\partial}_n = \hat{\partial}_n \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \hat{\partial}_n,$$

$$\Delta \hat{\partial}_j = \hat{\partial}_j \otimes 1 + e^{ia\hat{\partial}_n} \otimes \hat{\partial}_j.$$
(2.1.15)

Leibniz rules and coproducts for $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}^{c_i}$ derivatives are

$$\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}(\hat{f}\cdot\hat{g}) = (\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}\hat{f})\cdot\hat{g} + ((1+ic_{1}a\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}})\hat{f})\cdot\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}\hat{g},
\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}}(\hat{f}\cdot\hat{g}) = (\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}}\hat{f})\cdot\hat{g} + ((1+ic_{1}a\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}})^{1/c_{1}}\hat{f})\cdot\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}}\hat{g},$$
(2.1.16)

$$\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}(\hat{f}\cdot\hat{g}) = (\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}\hat{f})\cdot\hat{g} + ((1+ic_{2}a\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}})\hat{f})\cdot\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}\hat{g},\\ \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}}(\hat{f}\cdot\hat{g}) = (\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}}\hat{f})\cdot((1+ic_{2}a\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}})\hat{g}) + \left((1+iac_{2}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}})^{(c_{2}+1)/c_{2}}\hat{f}\right)\cdot(\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}}\hat{g}), \quad (2.1.17)$$

$$\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}}(\hat{f}\cdot\hat{g}) = (\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}}\hat{f})\cdot\hat{g} + ((1+2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}}+a^{2}c_{3}\hat{\partial}_{m}^{c_{3}}\hat{\partial}^{c_{3}}m)\hat{f})\cdot\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}}\hat{g}
+ iac_{3}((1+2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}}+a^{2}c_{3}\hat{\partial}_{m}^{c_{3}}\hat{\partial}^{c_{3}}m)^{1/2}\hat{\partial}_{l}^{c_{3}}\hat{f})\cdot\hat{\partial}^{c_{3}}\hat{g},
\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{3}}(\hat{f}\cdot\hat{g}) = (\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{3}}\hat{f})\cdot\hat{g} + ((1+2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}}+a^{2}c_{3}\hat{\partial}_{m}^{c_{3}}\hat{\partial}^{c_{3}}m)^{1/2}\hat{f})\cdot(\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{3}}\hat{g})$$
(2.1.18)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}} &= \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}} \otimes 1 + (1 + ic_{1}a\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}) \otimes \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}, \\ \Delta \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}} &= \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}} \otimes 1 + (1 + ic_{1}a\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}})^{1/c_{1}} \otimes \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}}, \end{aligned}$$
(2.1.19)

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}} &= \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}} \hat{f} \big) \otimes 1 + (1 + ic_{2}a\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}) \otimes \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}, \\ \Delta \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}} &= \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}} \otimes (1 + ic_{2}a\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}) + (1 + iac_{2}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}})^{(c_{2}+1)/c_{2}} \otimes \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}}, \end{aligned}$$
(2.1.20)

$$\begin{split} \Delta \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}} &= \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}} \otimes 1 + (1 + 2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}} + a^{2}c_{3}\hat{\partial}_{m}^{c_{3}}\hat{\partial}^{c_{3}\,m}) \otimes \hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}} \\ &\quad + iac_{3}(1 + 2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}} + a^{2}c_{3}\hat{\partial}_{m}^{c_{3}}\hat{\partial}^{c_{3}\,m})^{1/2}\hat{\partial}_{l}^{c_{3}} \otimes \hat{\partial}^{c_{3}\,l}, \\ \Delta \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{3}} &= \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{3}} \otimes 1 + (1 + 2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{3}} + a^{2}c_{3}\hat{\partial}_{m}^{c_{3}}\hat{\partial}^{c_{3}\,m})^{1/2} \otimes \hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{3}}. \end{split}$$
(2.1.21)

One can check that these coproducts are coassociative and that they are consistent with the algebra (2.1.3).

Adding counit and antipode to equations (2.1.9) and (2.1.15) we obtain a Hopf algebra of $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ derivatives on the κ -deformed space

$$\varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_n) = 0, \qquad S(\hat{\partial}_n) = -\hat{\partial}_n,$$

$$\varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_j) = 0, \qquad S(\hat{\partial}_j) = -\hat{\partial}_j e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n}.$$
(2.1.22)

Analogously, for $\hat{\partial}^{c_i}_{\mu}$ derivatives counits and antipodes are

$$\hat{\partial}_{\mu}^{c_{1}}: \qquad \varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}) = 0, \quad S(\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}) = \frac{\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}}{1 + iac_{1}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}}, \\ \varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}}) = 0, \quad S(\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}}) = -\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{1}} \left(1 + iac_{1}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{1}}\right)^{-1/c_{1}}, \qquad (2.1.23)$$

$$\hat{\partial}_{\mu}^{c_{2}}: \qquad \varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}) = 0, \quad S(\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}) = \frac{\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}}{1 + iac_{2}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}}, \\ \varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}}) = 0, \quad S(\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}}) = -\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_{2}}\left(1 + iac_{a}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_{2}}\right)^{-1/c_{2}-2}, \qquad (2.1.24)$$

$$\hat{\partial}_{\mu}^{c_3}: \qquad \varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_3}) = 0, \quad S(\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_3}) = \frac{\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_3} - \frac{ia}{2}c_3\hat{\partial}_{l}^{c_3}\hat{\partial}^{c_3\,l}}{1 + 2iac_3\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_3} + a^2c_3\hat{\partial}_{m}^{c_3}\hat{\partial}^{c_3\,m}} + \frac{ia}{2}c_3\hat{\partial}_{l}^{c_3}\hat{\partial}^{c_3\,l}, \\ \varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_3}) = 0, \quad S(\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_3}) = -\hat{\partial}_{j}^{c_3}\left(1 + 2iac_3\hat{\partial}_{n}^{c_3} + a^2c_3\hat{\partial}_{l}^{c_3}\hat{\partial}^{c_3\,l}\right)^{-1/2}. \qquad (2.1.25)$$

2.2 Symmetry generators

In our algebraic approach symmetry of the κ -deformed space is given in terms of the symmetry algebra² generators $M^{\mu\nu}$. Just like derivatives, they are maps in the abstract algebra. Additional condition on the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ is that they have to be a deformation of the

 $^{^{2}}$ This means that we only consider infinitesimal transformations and not the finite ones.

usual (commutative) Lorentz generators. This means that in zeroth order of the deformation parameter a they have to coincide with the generators of the commutative Lorentz transformations

$$[M^{\mu\nu}, \hat{x}^{\lambda}] = \eta^{\mu\lambda} \hat{x}^{\nu} - \eta^{\nu\lambda} \hat{x}^{\mu} + \mathcal{O}(a).$$
(2.2.1)

The additional terms on the right hand side of (2.2.1) can be calculated using the consistency conditions

$$M^{\mu\nu} \left(\hat{x}^n \hat{x}^l - \hat{x}^l \hat{x}^n - ia \hat{x}^l \right) = 0,$$

$$M^{\mu\nu} \left(\hat{x}^k \hat{x}^l - \hat{x}^l \hat{x}^k \right) = 0.$$
(2.2.2)

The calculation can be done in the same way as for the derivatives in the previous section. However, there are some additional restrictions one can impose on the right hand side of (2.2.1). First of all, the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ should appear at most linearly on the right hand side of (2.2.1) so that in first order in *a* only terms with $M^{\mu\nu}$ appear. This follows from dimensional arguments since $M^{\mu\nu}$ are dimensionless³. In higher order in *a* we would have to include derivatives as well, again because of dimensional reasons. Since we want (2.2.1) to close only in coordinates and $M^{\mu\nu}$ generators we stop at first order in *a*. Of course, the indices on both sides have to match. Using these restrictions one commutes $M^{\mu\nu}$ to the furthest right in equations (2.2.2) and finds conditions on the additional terms. The unique solution⁴ is given by

$$[M^{ij}, \hat{x}^{\mu}] = \eta^{\mu j} \hat{x}^{i} - \eta^{\mu i} \hat{x}^{j},$$

$$[M^{in}, \hat{x}^{\mu}] = \eta^{\mu n} \hat{x}^{i} - \eta^{\mu i} \hat{x}^{n} + iaM^{i\mu}.$$
(2.2.3)

We see that M^{ij} commute with coordinates as in the undeformed algebra, while the generators M^{in} have deformed commutation relations with coordinates. We do not refer to M^{in} as boost generators, since n is not the time direction, M^{in} include both boosts M^{0n} and rotations M^{an} , a = 1, ..., n - 1.

Although from (2.2.3) it follows that $M^{\mu\nu}$ act in a deformed way on coordinates, one can check that the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ themselves close the undeformed Lorentz algebra

$$[M^{\mu\nu}, M^{\rho\sigma}] = \eta^{\mu\sigma} M^{\nu\rho} + \eta^{\nu\rho} M^{\mu\sigma} - \eta^{\mu\rho} M^{\nu\sigma} - \eta^{\nu\sigma} M^{\mu\rho}.$$
(2.2.4)

But we are also interested in the coalgebra structure. Therefore, one calculates the Leibniz rules for the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ by applying them to ordered polynomials using (2.2.3) and generalising the result to arbitrary functions. This gives

$$M^{ij}(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}) = (M^{ij}\hat{f}) \cdot \hat{g} + \hat{f} \cdot (M^{ij}\hat{g}),$$

$$M^{in}(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}) = (M^{in}\hat{f}) \cdot \hat{g} + (e^{ia\hat{\partial}_n}\hat{f}) \cdot (M^{in}\hat{g}) + ia(\hat{\partial}_k\hat{f}) \cdot (M^{ik}\hat{g}).$$
(2.2.5)

It is not difficult to see that this Leibniz rules come from the following coproduct

$$\Delta M^{ij} = M^{ij} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes M^{ij},$$

$$\Delta M^{in} = M^{in} \otimes 1 + e^{ia\hat{\partial}_n} \otimes M^{in} + ia\hat{\partial}_k \otimes M^{ik}.$$
(2.2.6)

³Compare with the undeformed angular momentum $L^{\alpha\beta} = x^{\alpha}\partial^{\beta} - x^{\beta}\partial^{\alpha}$.

⁴Note the discussion in Appendix B.

Looking at (2.2.6) one sees that the coproduct for the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ does not close in the algebra of the deformed Lorentz generators, one has to include the derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ introduced in the previous section as well. In order to have the full κ -deformed Poincaré algebra one needs besides (2.1.9) and (2.2.4) also the commutator between Lorentz generators and derivatives

$$[M^{ij}, \hat{\partial}_{\mu}] = \delta^{j}_{\mu} \hat{\partial}^{i} - \delta^{i}_{\mu} \hat{\partial}^{j},$$

$$[M^{in}, \hat{\partial}_{n}] = \hat{\partial}^{i},$$

$$[M^{in}, \hat{\partial}_{j}] = \delta^{i}_{j} \frac{e^{2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}} - 1}{2ia} - \frac{ia}{2} \delta^{i}_{j} \hat{\partial}^{l} \hat{\partial}_{l} + ia \hat{\partial}^{i} \hat{\partial}_{j}.$$
(2.2.7)

The coproducts are given by (2.1.15) and (2.2.6), counit and antipode for $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ are given by (2.1.22) and counit and antipode for $M^{\mu\nu}$ read

$$\epsilon(M^{ij}) = 0, \qquad S(M^{ij}) = -M^{ij},$$

$$\epsilon(M^{in}) = 0, \qquad S(M^{in}) = -M^{in}e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} + iaM^{ik}\hat{\partial}_k e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} + ia(n-1)\hat{\partial}^i e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n}.$$
(2.2.8)

One checks that the conditions for a Hopf algebra introduced in Section 1.3 are fulfilled. The Lorentz part of the algebra sector is undeformed (as well as translation part itself), but we have nontrivial commutation relations between Lorentz generators and derivatives. The coalgebra sector is deformed for both Lorentz generators and derivatives. In the next section we define a new set of derivatives such that we obtain the complete algebra sector of the κ -deformed Poincaré Hopf algebra undeformed.

In analogy with the undeformed space one can represent the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ in terms of coordinates and derivatives

$$M^{ij} = \hat{x}^i \hat{\partial}^j - \hat{x}^j \hat{\partial}^i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \hat{L}^{ij},$$

$$M^{in} = \hat{x}^i \frac{1 - e^{2ia\hat{\partial}_n}}{2ia} - \hat{x}^n \hat{\partial}^i + \frac{ia}{2} \hat{x}^i \hat{\partial}^l \hat{\partial}_l \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \hat{L}^{in}.$$
(2.2.9)

2.3 Dirac derivative

We have seen that there is no unique derivative for the κ -deformed space and that one can always relate one set of derivatives with the other one. Now we use this freedom to find new set of derivatives, such that they commute with the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ in the undeformed way. We call this derivative the Dirac derivative [74], [75] and denote it with \hat{D}_{ρ} . Then

$$[M^{\mu\nu}, \hat{D}_{\rho}] = \delta^{\nu}_{\rho} \hat{D}^{\mu} - \delta^{\mu}_{\rho} \hat{D}^{\nu}$$
(2.3.1)

has to be fulfilled. Using the derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ and (2.2.7) one shows that the definition

$$\hat{D}_n = \frac{1}{a} \sin(a\hat{\partial}_n) - \frac{ia}{2} \hat{\partial}^l \hat{\partial}_l e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n},$$

$$\hat{D}_j = \hat{\partial}_j e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n},$$
(2.3.2)

leads to (2.3.1). Since \hat{D}_{ρ} is the linear combination of $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ derivatives, it is obvious that

$$[\hat{D}_{\rho}, \hat{D}_{\sigma}] = 0.$$
 (2.3.3)

From (2.3.1) it follows that if one uses \hat{D}_{ρ} instead of $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ as the generators of translations one obtains the undeformed algebra sector of the κ -deformed Poincaré algebra. But in order to have the full Hopf algebra in terms of the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ and \hat{D}_{ρ} one has to calculate the coproduct for the derivatives \hat{D}_{ρ} and add counit and antipode as well. Also, one has to express the derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ appearing in (2.2.6) in terms of the derivatives \hat{D}_{ρ} .

We start from the commutation relations of \hat{D}_{ρ} with coordinates. Knowing (2.3.2) and (2.1.10) it is not difficult to calculate them, but at the end the result has to be expressed in terms of the derivatives \hat{D}_{ρ} and coordinates only. To be able to do this we have to invert the relations (2.3.2). Starting form

$$\hat{\partial}_{j} = \hat{D}_{j}e^{ia\hat{\partial}_{n}} \implies \hat{\partial}_{l}\hat{\partial}^{l} = \hat{D}_{l}\hat{D}^{l}e^{2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}},$$
$$\hat{D}_{n} = \frac{1}{2ia}\left(e^{ia\hat{\partial}_{n}} - e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_{n}}\right) - \frac{ia}{2}\hat{D}_{l}\hat{D}^{l}e^{ia\hat{\partial}_{n}}$$
(2.3.4)

and multiplying equation (2.3.4) by $e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n}$ leads to the quadratic equation for $e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n}$

$$e^{-2ia\hat{\partial}_n} + 2ia\hat{D}_n e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} - a^2\hat{D}_l\hat{D}^l - 1 = 0.$$

The solution of this equation is

$$e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} = -ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1 + a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu},$$
 (2.3.5)

where the sign of the square root is determined by the limit $a \to 0$. On the other hand, multiplying equation (2.3.4) by $e^{ia\hat{\partial}_n}$ we find a quadratic equation for $e^{ia\hat{\partial}_n}$ with the solution

$$e^{ia\hat{\partial}_n} = \frac{1}{1+a^2\hat{D}_l\hat{D}^l} \left(ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1+a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu}\right).$$
 (2.3.6)

It is easy to verify that (2.3.6) is the inverse of (2.3.5). Now we invert (2.3.2)

$$\hat{\partial}_{i} = \frac{\hat{D}_{i}}{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{l}\hat{D}^{l}} \left(ia\hat{D}_{n} + \sqrt{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}^{\mu}} \right), \\ \hat{\partial}_{n} = -\frac{1}{ia} \ln \left(-ia\hat{D}_{n} + \sqrt{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}^{\mu}} \right).$$
(2.3.7)

This result was independently obtained in [76]. Using this result the commutator of the derivatives \hat{D}_{ρ} and coordinates is obtained

$$\begin{aligned} [\hat{D}_{n}, \hat{x}^{n}] &= \sqrt{1 + a^{2} \hat{D}_{\mu} \hat{D}^{\mu}}, \\ [\hat{D}_{n}, \hat{x}^{l}] &= ia \hat{D}^{l}, \\ [\hat{D}_{j}, \hat{x}^{n}] &= 0, \\ [\hat{D}_{j}, \hat{x}^{l}] &= \delta_{j}^{l} \left(-ia \hat{D}_{n} + \sqrt{1 + a^{2} \hat{D}_{\mu} \hat{D}^{\mu}} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(2.3.8)

It is obvious that the Dirac derivative is not a linear derivative (in the sense of (2.1.4)), the right hand side of (2.3.8) being a complicated function of \hat{D}_{ρ} . Also, the Leibniz rule following

from (2.3.8) is not simple

$$\hat{D}_n \left(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g} \right) = \left(\hat{D}_n \hat{f} \right) \cdot \left(e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} \hat{g} \right) + \left(e^{ia\hat{\partial}_n} \hat{f} \right) \cdot \left(\hat{D}_n \hat{g} \right) - ia \left(\hat{D}_l e^{ia\hat{\partial}_n} \hat{f} \right) \cdot \left(\hat{D}^l \hat{g} \right),$$

$$\hat{D}_j \left(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g} \right) = \left(\hat{D}_j \hat{f} \right) \cdot \left(e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} \hat{g} \right) + \hat{f} \cdot \left(\hat{D}_j \hat{g} \right).$$
(2.3.9)

For $e^{\pm ia\hat{\partial}_n}$ the expressions (2.3.5) and (2.3.6) have to be inserted. The comultiplication from which (2.3.9) follows is

$$\Delta \hat{D}_{n} = \hat{D}_{n} \otimes \left(-ia\hat{D}_{n} + \sqrt{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}^{\mu}} \right) + \frac{ia\hat{D}_{n} + \sqrt{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}^{\mu}}}{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{l}\hat{D}^{l}} \otimes \hat{D}_{n} + ia\frac{\hat{D}_{k}}{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{l}\hat{D}^{l}} \left(ia\hat{D}_{n} + \sqrt{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}^{\mu}} \right) \otimes \hat{D}^{k},$$

$$\Delta \hat{D}_{j} = \hat{D}_{j} \otimes \left(-ia\hat{D}_{n} + \sqrt{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}^{\mu}} \right) + 1 \otimes \hat{D}_{j},$$
(2.3.10)

where we have used equations (2.3.5) and (2.3.6). One can check that (2.3.10) is coassociative and that it is consistent with the algebra (2.3.3). Counit and antipode are

$$\varepsilon(\hat{D}_{n}) = 0, \qquad S(\hat{D}_{n}) = -\hat{D}_{n} + ia\hat{D}_{k}\hat{D}^{k}\frac{ia\hat{D}_{n} + \sqrt{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}^{\mu}}}{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{l}\hat{D}^{l}},$$

$$\varepsilon(\hat{D}_{j}) = 0, \qquad S(\hat{\partial}_{j}) = -\hat{D}_{j}\frac{ia\hat{D}_{n} + \sqrt{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}^{\mu}}}{1 + a^{2}\hat{D}_{l}\hat{D}^{l}}.$$
(2.3.11)

Finally, with all this relations one can introduce the κ -deformed Poincaré Hopf algebra in terms of the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ and \hat{D}_{ρ} . All the necessary relations have already been written, but just for the completeness we collect them all at one place here.

Algebra sector

$$[M^{\mu\nu}, M^{\rho\sigma}] = \eta^{\mu\sigma} M^{\nu\rho} + \eta^{\nu\rho} M^{\mu\sigma} - \eta^{\mu\rho} M^{\nu\sigma} - \eta^{\nu\sigma} M^{\mu\rho}, [\hat{D}_{\rho}, \hat{D}_{\sigma}] = 0, [M^{\mu\nu}, \hat{D}_{\rho}] = \delta^{\nu}_{\rho} \hat{D}^{\mu} - \delta^{\mu}_{\rho} \hat{D}^{\nu}.$$
(2.3.12)

Coproducts

$$\begin{split} \Delta M^{ij} &= M^{ij} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes M^{ij}, \\ \Delta M^{in} &= M^{in} \otimes 1 + \frac{ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1 + a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu}}{1 + a^2\hat{D}_l\hat{D}^l} \otimes M^{in} \\ &+ \frac{ia\hat{D}_k}{1 + a^2\hat{D}_l\hat{D}^l} \Big(ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1 + a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu} \Big) \otimes M^{ik}, \\ \Delta \hat{D}_n &= \hat{D}_n \otimes \Big(- ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1 + a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu} \Big) + \frac{ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1 + a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu}}{1 + a^2\hat{D}_l\hat{D}^l} \otimes \hat{D}_n \\ &+ ia\frac{\hat{D}_k}{1 + a^2\hat{D}_l\hat{D}^l} \Big(ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1 + a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu} \Big) \otimes \hat{D}^k, \\ \Delta \hat{D}_j &= \hat{D}_j \otimes \Big(- ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1 + a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu} \Big) + 1 \otimes \hat{D}_j. \end{split}$$
(2.3.13)

Counits and antipodes

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon(M^{ij}) &= 0, \qquad S(M^{ij}) = -M^{ij}, \\ \epsilon(M^{in}) &= 0, \qquad S(M^{in}) = -M^{in}e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} + iaM^{ik}\hat{\partial}_k e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} + ia(n-1)\hat{\partial}^i e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} \\ \epsilon(\hat{D}_n) &= 0, \qquad S(\hat{D}_n) = -\hat{D}_n + ia\hat{D}_k\hat{D}^k \frac{ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1+a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu}}{1+a^2\hat{D}_l\hat{D}^l}, \\ \epsilon(\hat{D}_j) &= 0, \qquad S(\hat{\partial}_j) = -\hat{D}_j \frac{ia\hat{D}_n + \sqrt{1+a^2\hat{D}_\mu\hat{D}^\mu}}{1+a^2\hat{D}_l\hat{D}^l}. \end{aligned}$$
(2.3.14)

One sees from (2.3.12) that the algebra sector is undeformed (as it has been demanded in the beginning of this section), but the coalgebra sector (2.3.13) is deformed for both $M^{\mu\nu}$ and \hat{D}_{ρ} generators. To be more precise, there is no deformation for the generators M^{ij} , since they are Lorentz generators for the undeformed dimensions.

Like in the classical case one is also interested in the invariants (Casimir operators) of this algebra. For the usual four dimensional Minkowski space-time there are two invariants, the square of momenta $P^2 = P_{\mu}P^{\mu}$ ($P_{\mu} = i\partial_{\mu}$) and the square of the Pauli-Lubanski vector $W^2 = W_{\mu}W^{\mu}$ ($W^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}M_{\nu\rho}P_{\sigma}$). We would like to generalise this to the n+1 dimensional κ -deformed space. From (2.3.1) follows

$$[M^{\mu\nu}, \hat{D}_{\rho}\hat{D}^{\rho}] = 0, \qquad (2.3.15)$$

that is $\hat{D}_{\rho}\hat{D}^{\rho}$ can be considered as a generalisation of P^2 . However, this is not the only possibility. One can show that the lowest order invariant in terms of the derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ is [29], [30]

$$\hat{\Box} = e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n}\hat{\partial}_l\hat{\partial}^l - \frac{2}{a^2}\left(1 - \cos(a\hat{\partial}_n)\right)$$
(2.3.16)

and it fulfils

$$[M^{\mu\nu}, \hat{\Box}] = 0. \tag{2.3.17}$$

The operator \Box defined by (2.3.16) we call the deformed d'Alembert operator and we use it to construct the κ -deformed Klein-Gordon equation in Section 2.5. Unlike in the classical case, we have

$$\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}^{\mu} = \hat{\Box} \left(1 + \frac{a^2}{4}\hat{\Box} \right), \qquad (2.3.18)$$

the square of the Dirac derivative is not the d'Alembert operator.

Concerning the second invariant, we first introduce the generalisation of the Pauli-Lubanski vector in d = n + 1 = (2k + 1) + 1 dimensions [77]

$$W_{\mu_1\dots\mu_{2i-1}} = \epsilon_{\mu_1\dots\mu_n} M^{\mu_{2i}\mu_{2i+1}}\dots M^{\mu_{n-2}\mu_{n-1}} \hat{D}^{\mu_n}.$$
(2.3.19)

There are (d-2)/2 invariants given by

$$W_{i+1}^2 = W_{\mu_1\dots\mu_{2i-1}}W^{\mu_1\dots\mu_{2i-1}}, \qquad i = 1,\dots,\frac{d-2}{2}.$$
 (2.3.20)

Note that since the algebra sector (2.3.12) is not deformed, the invariants are just the straight-forward generalisation of the commutative ones. The exception is of course the deformed d'Alembert operator (2.3.16).

2.4 Representation on the space of commuting coordinates

In this section we construct the \star -product representation of the abstract algebra and maps on it (derivatives, Lorentz generators,...) defined in previous sections. The general procedure has been outlined in Chapter 1, here we just apply it to the κ -deformed space.

We choose to work with the symmetric ordering⁵. In that case the \star -product is given by [56]

$$f \star g(z) = \lim_{\substack{x \to z \\ y \to z}} \exp\left(z^j \partial_{x^j} \left(\frac{\partial_n}{\partial_{x^n}} e^{-ia\partial_{y^n}} \frac{1 - e^{-ia\partial_{x^n}}}{1 - e^{-ia\partial_n}} - 1\right) + z^j \partial_{y^j} \left(\frac{\partial_n}{\partial_{y^n}} \frac{1 - e^{-ia\partial_{y^n}}}{1 - e^{-ia\partial_n}} - 1\right)\right) f(x)g(y),$$
(2.4.1)

where we have used the abbreviations

$$\partial_{x^n} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^n}, \quad \partial_{y^n} = \frac{\partial}{\partial y^n}, \quad \partial_n = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^n} + \frac{\partial}{\partial y^n}.$$
 (2.4.2)

Expanding this to second order in a we obtain:

$$f \star g(x) = f(x)g(x) + \frac{ia}{2}x^{j} \left(\partial_{n}f(x)\partial_{j}g(x) - \partial_{j}f(x)\partial_{n}g(x)\right) - \frac{a^{2}}{12}x^{j} \left(\partial_{n}^{2}f(x)\partial_{j}g(x) - \partial_{j}\partial_{n}f(x)\partial_{n}g(x)\right) - \partial_{n}f(x)\partial_{j}\partial_{n}g(x) + \partial_{j}f(x)\partial_{n}^{2}g(x)\right) - \frac{a^{2}}{8}x^{j}x^{k} \left(\partial_{n}^{2}f(x)\partial_{j}\partial_{k}g(x) - 2\partial_{j}\partial_{n}f(x)\partial_{n}\partial_{k}g(x)\right) + \partial_{j}\partial_{k}f(x)\partial_{n}^{2}g(x)\right) + \mathcal{O}(a^{3}).$$
(2.4.3)
$$= f(x)g(x) + \frac{i}{2}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda}(\partial_{\rho}f(x))(\partial_{\sigma}g(x)) - \frac{1}{8}C_{\lambda_{1}}^{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}}C_{\lambda_{2}}^{\rho_{2}\sigma_{2}}x^{\lambda_{1}}x^{\lambda_{2}}(\partial_{\rho_{1}}\partial_{\rho_{2}}f(x))(\partial_{\sigma_{1}}\partial_{\sigma_{2}}g(x)) + \frac{1}{12}C_{\lambda_{1}}^{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}}C_{\rho_{1}}^{\rho_{2}\sigma_{2}}x^{\lambda_{1}}\left((\partial_{\sigma_{1}}\partial_{\rho_{2}}f(x))(\partial_{\sigma_{2}}g(x))\right) - (\partial_{\rho_{2}}f(x))(\partial_{\sigma_{1}}\partial_{\sigma_{2}}g(x))\right) + \mathcal{O}(a^{3}).$$
(2.4.4)

One can check that this *-product respects the usual complex conjugation,

$$\overline{f \star g(x)} = \overline{g} \star \overline{f}(x) \tag{2.4.5}$$

Applied to coordinates, (2.4.1) gives

$$[x^n , x^l] = iax^l, \quad [x^k , x^l] = 0, \qquad (2.4.6)$$

⁵The results for the normal ordering have been given in [56].

as expected. Also,

$$x^{l} \star f(x) = x^{l} \frac{ia\partial_{n}}{e^{ia\partial_{n}} - 1} f(x), \qquad f(x) \star x^{l} = x^{l} \frac{-ia\partial_{n}}{e^{-ia\partial_{n}} - 1} f(x),$$

$$x^{n} \star f(x) = \left(x^{n} - \frac{x^{k}\partial_{k}}{\partial_{n}} (\frac{ia\partial_{n}}{e^{ia\partial_{n}} - 1} - 1)\right) f(x),$$

$$f(x) \star x^{n} = \left(x^{n} - \frac{x^{k}\partial_{k}}{\partial_{n}} (\frac{-ia\partial_{n}}{e^{-ia\partial_{n}} - 1} - 1)\right) f(x), \qquad (2.4.7)$$

where f(x) is an arbitrary function.

As the next step we map the derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ to the operators ∂_{ρ}^{\star} acting on the space of commuting coordinates. From (2.1.10) it follows that the derivative $\hat{\partial}_n$ has the undeformed commutation relations with coordinates and therefore

$$\hat{\partial}_n \mapsto \partial_n^* = \partial_n, \tag{2.4.8}$$

where ∂_n is the usual partial derivative.

In order to find the \star -product representation of $\hat{\partial}_j$ we apply it to symmetrically ordered polynomials. From

$$\hat{\partial}_j \hat{x}^\mu = \hat{x}^\mu \hat{\partial}_j + \delta^\mu_j - ia\eta^{\mu n} \hat{\partial}_j \tag{2.4.9}$$

we read off

$$\hat{\partial}_j \mapsto \partial_j^* = \partial_j + \mathcal{O}(a),$$
 (2.4.10)

where ∂_j is the usual partial derivative. As the next step one uses (2.1.10) to calculate

$$\hat{\partial}_j \frac{1}{2} \left(\hat{x}^n \hat{x}^l + \hat{x}^l \hat{x}^n \right) = \dots$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\hat{x}^n (\hat{x}^l \hat{\partial}_j + \underline{\delta}^l_j) + ia(\hat{x}^l \hat{\partial}_j + \underline{\delta}^l_j) + \hat{x}^l (\hat{x}^n \hat{\partial}_j + ia \hat{\partial}_j) + \underline{\delta}^l_j \hat{x}^n \right).$$

$$(2.4.11)$$

The underlined terms in (2.4.11) give

$$\hat{\partial}_j \mapsto \partial_j^\star = \partial_j + \frac{ia}{2} \partial_j \partial_n + \mathcal{O}(a^2).$$
 (2.4.12)

Continuing in the similar way leads to the higher order terms. The final result is given by

$$\hat{\partial}_j \mapsto \partial_j^* = \partial_j \frac{e^{ia\partial_n} - 1}{ia\partial_n}.$$
(2.4.13)

The Leibniz rule for the derivatives ∂_{ρ}^{\star} follows from (2.1.14)

$$\partial_n^* \triangleright (f \star g) = (\partial_n^* \triangleright f) \star g + f \star (\partial_n^* \triangleright g), \partial_j^* \triangleright (f \star g) = (\partial_j^* \triangleright f) \star g + (e^{ia\partial_n^*} \triangleright f) \star (\partial_j^* \triangleright g),$$
(2.4.14)

where the notation $\partial^{\star}_{\mu} \triangleright f$ was introduced in (1.5.14).

Using (2.3.2), (2.4.8) and (2.4.13) the \star -product representation of the derivatives \hat{D}_{ρ} is calculated

$$\hat{D}_n \mapsto D_n^{\star} = \frac{1}{a} \sin(a\partial_n) + \frac{i}{a\partial_n^2} (\cos(a\partial_n) - 1)\partial_l \partial^l,$$
$$\hat{D}_j \mapsto D_j^{\star} = \partial_j \frac{e^{-ia\partial_n} - 1}{-ia\partial_n},$$
(2.4.15)

as well as the Leibniz rules

$$D_n^* \triangleright (f \star g) = (D_n^* \triangleright f) \star (e^{-ia\partial_n^*} \triangleright g) + (e^{ia\partial_n^*} \triangleright f) \star (D_n^* \triangleright g) -ia(D_l^* e^{ia\partial_n^*} \triangleright f) \star (D^{*l} \triangleright g),$$
(2.4.16)

$$D_j^{\star} \triangleright (f \star g) = (D_j^{\star} \triangleright f) \star (e^{-ia\partial_n^{\star}} \triangleright g) + f \star (D_j^{\star} \triangleright g).$$
(2.4.17)

Finally, for the d'Alembert operator we find

$$\hat{\Box} \mapsto \Box^{\star} = \frac{2}{a^2 \partial_n^2} \Big(1 - \cos(a\partial_n) \Big) \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu}.$$
(2.4.18)

To find the \star -product representation of the generators $M^{\mu\nu}$ one proceeds in the same way like in the case of the derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$, applying them on symmetrically ordered polynomials. The result is

$$\hat{L}^{ij} \mapsto L^{\star ij} = x^i \partial^j - x^j \partial^i,$$
$$\hat{L}^{in} \mapsto L^{\star in} = x^i \partial^n - x^n \partial^i + x^i \partial_\mu \partial^\mu \frac{e^{ia\partial_n} - 1}{2\partial_n} - x^\nu \partial_\nu \partial^i \frac{e^{ia\partial_n} - 1 - ia\partial_n}{ia\partial_n^2}.$$
 (2.4.19)

For the Leibniz rule (2.2.5) we obtain

$$L^{\star ij} \triangleright (f \star g) = (L^{\star ij} \triangleright f) \star g + f \star (L^{\star ij} \triangleright g),$$

$$L^{\star in} \triangleright (f \star g) = (L^{\star in} \triangleright f) \star g + (e^{ia\partial_n^{\star}} \triangleright f) \star (L^{\star in} \triangleright g)$$

$$+ia(\partial_k^{\star} \triangleright f) \star (L^{\star ik} \triangleright g).$$
(2.4.20)

At the end of this section we mention one more set of nonlinear derivatives, $\hat{\delta}_{\rho}$. They are given by

$$\begin{aligned} [\hat{\delta}_n, \hat{x}^n] &= 1, \\ [\hat{\delta}_n, \hat{x}^l] &= 0, \\ [\hat{\delta}_j, \hat{x}^n] &= \left(1 - \frac{ia\hat{\delta}_n}{e^{ia\hat{\delta}_n} - 1}\right)\frac{\hat{\delta}_j}{\hat{\delta}_n}, \\ [\hat{\delta}_j, \hat{x}^l] &= \delta_j^l \frac{ia\hat{\delta}_n}{e^{ia\hat{\delta}_n} - 1}. \end{aligned}$$
(2.4.21)

The Leibniz rule for for $\hat{\delta}_n$ is trivial, while for $\hat{\delta}_j$ it is very complicated and no closed form has been obtained so far

$$\hat{\delta}_{n}(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}) = (\hat{\delta}_{n}\hat{f}) \cdot \hat{g} + \hat{f} \cdot (\hat{\delta}_{n}\hat{g}),$$

$$\hat{\delta}_{j}(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}) = (\hat{\delta}_{j}\hat{f}) \cdot \left(1 - \frac{ia}{2}\hat{\delta}_{n} - \frac{a^{2}}{12}\hat{\delta}_{n}\hat{\delta}_{n}\right)\hat{g} + \left(\left(1 + \frac{ia}{2}\hat{\delta}_{n} - \frac{a^{2}}{12}\hat{\delta}_{n}\hat{\delta}_{n}\right)\hat{f}\right) \cdot (\hat{\delta}_{j}\hat{g})$$

$$+ \frac{a^{2}}{12}\left((\hat{\delta}_{n}\hat{f}) \cdot (\hat{\delta}_{n}\hat{\delta}_{j}\hat{g}) + (\hat{\delta}_{n}\hat{\delta}_{j}\hat{f}) \cdot (\hat{\delta}_{n}\hat{g})\right) + \mathcal{O}(a^{3}).$$
(2.4.22)

For the completeness we also give the commutation relations between the derivatives $\hat{\delta}_{\rho}$ and the Lorentz generators

$$\begin{split} [M^{ij}, \hat{\delta}_n] &= 0, \\ [M^{ij}, \hat{\delta}_l] &= \delta_l^i \hat{\delta}^j - \delta_l^j \hat{\delta}^i, \\ [M^{ln}, \hat{\delta}_n] &= -\hat{\delta}^l \frac{e^{ia\hat{\delta}_n} - 1}{ia\hat{\delta}_n}, \\ [M^{ln}, \hat{\delta}_j] &= \frac{1}{2} \delta_j^l \hat{\delta}_n \left(e^{ia\hat{\delta}_n} + 1 + \left(e^{ia\hat{\delta}_n} - 1 \right) \frac{\hat{\delta}_m \hat{\delta}^m}{\hat{\delta}_n \hat{\delta}_n} \right) \\ &+ \frac{e^{ia\hat{\delta}_n} - ia\hat{\delta}_n - 1}{ia\hat{\delta}_n \hat{\delta}_n} \hat{\delta}^l \hat{\delta}_j. \end{split}$$
(2.4.23)

The reason why these derivatives are interesting is their \star -product representation

$$\hat{\delta}_n \to \delta_n^* = \partial_n,
\hat{\delta}_j \to \delta_j^* = \partial_j,$$
(2.4.24)

so they are represented by the usual partial derivatives acting on the space of commuting coordinates. We use this result in Appendix B to discuss an alternative way of obtaining symmetry of the κ -deformed space.

2.5 Fields and equations of motion

Since we are interested in defining a field theory on the κ -deformed space, we need a definition of fields. Also, we formulate covariant equations of motion for a free scalar field and a free Dirac spinor.

2.5.1 Fields

Under the classical Lorentz transformations

$$x^{\lambda} \to x'^{\lambda} = x^{\lambda} + x^{\mu}\omega_{\mu}^{\ \lambda}, \qquad \omega^{\mu\nu} = -\omega^{\nu\mu} = \text{ const.} , \qquad (2.5.1)$$

a scalar field $\phi^0(x)^6$ transforms like

$$\phi'^{0}(x') = \phi^{0}(x). \tag{2.5.2}$$

For an infinitesimal parameter ω_{μ}^{λ} this transformation reads

$$\delta^{cl}_{\omega}\phi^0(x) = \phi^{\prime\,0}(x) - \phi^0(x) = -x^{\mu}\omega^{\lambda}_{\mu}\partial_{\lambda}\phi^0(x) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}L_{\alpha\beta}\phi^0(x). \tag{2.5.3}$$

Here $L_{\alpha\beta}$ is the orbital part of Lorentz generator

$$L_{\alpha\beta} = x_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta} - x_{\beta}\partial_{\alpha}. \tag{2.5.4}$$

⁶We write $\phi^0(x)$ in order to distinguish classical fields from the noncommutative ones.

This transformation law we generalise to

$$\delta_{\omega}\phi(x) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}(L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta}\star\phi(x)) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta}\triangleright\phi(x), \qquad (2.5.5)$$

where $L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta}$ are generators of the κ -deformed Lorentz transformations given by (2.4.19). Note that $L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright \phi(x)$ is just the usual action of a differential operator, for example

$$L_{in}^{\star} \triangleright \phi = x_i(\partial_n \phi) - x_n(\partial_i \phi) - x_i \left(\partial_\mu \partial^\mu \frac{e^{ia\partial_n} - 1}{2\partial_n} \phi\right) + x^\nu \left(\partial_\nu \partial_i \frac{e^{ia\partial_n} - 1 - ia\partial_n}{ia\partial_n^2} \phi\right). \quad (2.5.6)$$

This is because all the *-product contribution have already been included (expanded) in writing down the expressions (2.4.19) for the generators $L^*_{\alpha\beta}$.

Classically, the transformation law of a covariant vector field can be obtained considering the transformation law of the derivative of a scalar field $\partial_{\mu}\phi^{0}$. However, we have seen in Section 2.1 and later in Section 2.3 that there is no unique derivative on the κ -deformed space. Depending on the choice of derivatives we will obtain different transformation laws of a vector field. To stay as close as possible to the classical transformation laws we look at the Dirac derivative of a scalar field⁷

$$\delta_{\omega}(D^{\star}_{\mu} \triangleright \phi) = D^{\star}_{\mu} \triangleright (\delta_{\omega} \phi) = -\frac{1}{2} \omega^{\alpha\beta} D^{\star}_{\mu} \triangleright (L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright \phi) = -\frac{1}{2} \omega^{\alpha\beta} \Big(L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright (D^{\star}_{\mu} \triangleright \phi) - \eta_{\beta\mu} (D^{\star}_{\alpha} \triangleright \phi) + \eta_{\alpha\mu} (D^{\star}_{\beta} \triangleright \phi) \Big).$$
(2.5.7)

This leads to

$$\delta_{\omega}V_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \Big(L_{\alpha\beta}^{\star} \triangleright V_{\mu} - \eta_{\beta\mu}V_{\alpha} + \eta_{\alpha\mu}V_{\beta} \Big).$$
(2.5.8)

The first term is the transformation of the argument, while the other two stand for the index transformation. This can be written as

$$\delta_{\omega}V_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \left(L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} + \Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \right) \triangleright V_{\mu}, \qquad (2.5.9)$$

where $\Sigma_{\alpha\beta}$ is the constant matrix⁸ in the index space of fields. Transformation law of an arbitrary covariant tensor is

$$\delta_{\omega} T_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r}} = -\frac{1}{2} \omega^{\alpha\beta} \Big(L_{\alpha\beta}^{\star} \triangleright T_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r}} - \eta_{\beta\mu_{1}} T_{\alpha\mu_{2}...\mu_{r}} + \eta_{\alpha\mu_{1}} T_{\beta\mu_{2}...\mu_{r}} - \cdots - \eta_{\beta\mu_{r}} T_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r-1}\alpha} + \eta_{\alpha\mu_{r}} T_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r-1}\beta} \Big)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \omega^{\alpha\beta} \Big(L_{\alpha\beta}^{\star} + \Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \Big) \triangleright T_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r}}.$$
(2.5.10)

Because of the deformed Leibniz rules (2.4.20) we have that the \star -product of two scalar fields is a scalar field again

$$\delta_{\omega}(\phi_1 \star \phi_2) = -\frac{1}{2} \omega^{\alpha\beta} L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright (\phi_1 \star \phi_2).$$
(2.5.11)

⁷Although this sentence appears not to make any sense, we repeat that "Dirac derivative" is just the name we use for one specific choice of derivatives.

⁸Notation $\Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright V_{\mu}$ stands just for the usual multiplication, $\Sigma_{\alpha\beta}$ being a constant matrix.

In the case of vector fields we have

$$\delta_{\omega}(V_{\mu}\star V_{\nu}) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \Big(L_{\alpha\beta}^{\star} \triangleright (V_{\mu}\star V_{\nu}) - \big(\eta_{\beta\mu}V_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\mu}V_{\beta}\big) \star V_{\nu} - V_{\mu}\star \big(\eta_{\beta\nu}V_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\nu}V_{\beta}\big) \Big), \quad (2.5.12)$$

that is the \star -product of two vector fields transforms like a second rank tensor. Writing this in a different way

$$\delta_{\omega}(V_{\mu} \star V_{\nu}) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \left(L_{\alpha\beta}^{\star} + \Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \right) \triangleright \left(V_{\mu} \star V_{\nu} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} L_{\alpha\beta}^{\star} \triangleright \left(V_{\mu} \star V_{\nu} \right) - \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright \left(V_{\mu} \star V_{\nu} \right), \qquad (2.5.13)$$

and comparing with (2.5.12) we see that

$$\Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright (V_{\mu} \star V_{\nu}) = (\Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright V_{\mu}) \star V_{\nu} + V_{\mu} \star (\Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright V_{\nu}), \qquad (2.5.14)$$

the index part of the Lorentz transformation has the undeformed Leibniz rule.

To calculate the transformation law of a contravariant vector field we use (2.5.12). Demanding that $V^{\mu} \star V_{\mu}$ transforms like a scalar field

$$\delta_{\omega}(V^{\mu} \star V_{\mu}) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright (V^{\mu} \star V_{\mu}), \qquad (2.5.15)$$

we find

$$\delta_{\omega}V^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \Big(L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright V^{\mu} + \delta^{\mu}_{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\lambda}V^{\lambda} - \delta^{\mu}_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta\lambda}V^{\lambda} \Big).$$
(2.5.16)

This can be generalised to an arbitrary contravariant tensor

$$\delta_{\omega}T^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r}} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \Big(L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright T^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r}} - \delta^{\mu_{1}}_{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\lambda}T^{\lambda\mu_{2}\dots\mu_{r}} + \delta^{\mu_{1}}_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta\lambda}T^{\lambda\mu_{2}\dots\mu_{r}} - \cdots - \delta^{\mu_{r}}_{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\lambda}T^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r-1}\lambda} + \delta^{\mu_{r}}_{\alpha}\eta_{\alpha\lambda}T^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r-1}\lambda} \Big)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \Big(L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} + \Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \Big) \triangleright T^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r}}.$$
(2.5.17)

Also, using (2.4.20) and (2.5.14) one shows that the \star -product of two arbitrary tensors is a tensor again.

2.5.2 Covariant equations of motion

Having defined fields, we now formulate the covariant equations of motion. First we consider the equation for a free scalar field, that is a generalisation of the Klein-Gordon equation. In Section 2.3 we found the deformed d'Alembert operator. Its representation on the space of commuting coordinates is given by (2.4.18). Using this it is not difficult to write the deformed Klein-Gordon equation

$$(\Box^* + m^2)\phi(x) = 0. \tag{2.5.18}$$

Because of (2.3.17) and (2.5.5) this equation is covariant. One can continue and analyse the solutions of this equation, dispersion relation and even proceed towards quantisation. Part of that has been done in [78].

Next, we look at the κ -deformed equation for a free spinor field ψ , that is the κ -deformed Dirac equation. Using the derivatives (2.4.15) one writes

$$(i\gamma^{\mu}D^{\star}_{\mu} - m)\psi = 0, \qquad (2.5.19)$$

where γ^{μ} are the usual γ matrices

$$\{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}\} = 2\eta^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (2.5.20)

Using (2.3.1),

$$[M_{\alpha\beta},\gamma^{\mu}] = \delta^{\mu}_{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\lambda}\gamma^{\lambda} - \delta^{\mu}_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta\lambda}\gamma^{\lambda}$$
(2.5.21)

and

$$\delta_{\omega}\psi = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \left(L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} + \Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \right) \triangleright \psi, \qquad (2.5.22)$$

where $\Sigma_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{4} [\gamma_{\alpha}, \gamma_{\beta}]$, one checks that equation (2.5.19) is covariant under the κ -deformed Lorentz transformations. Next step, the analysis of possible solutions has been partially done in [78].

One can use both (2.5.18) and (2.5.19) to try out the quantisation procedure [79]. However, this problem is still not very well understood.

3

Construction of gauge theories on the κ -deformed space

The best known description of fundamental interactions is given in terms of gauge theories. Electromagnetic, weak and strong interactions are obtained by localising internal symmetries while gravity can be understood as the gauge theory with the Poincaré group as the gauge group. Therefore, it is of importance to generalise this concept to deformed spaces as well. In this chapter we construct a general nonabelian gauge theory on the κ -deformed space. However, the construction is done in a very general way so that it can be applied to other deformed spaces as well. In our approach we have to introduce enveloping algebra-valued quantities (noncommutative gauge parameter, noncommutative gauge field, ...) [32]. This leads to (apparently) infinitely many degrees of freedom in the theory. The problem is solved in terms of the Seiberg-Witten map [26]. This map allows to express noncommutative variables in terms of the corresponding commutative ones and this reduces the number of degrees of freedom to the commutative ones.

We start with reviewing the commutative gauge theory. Then we define the noncommutative gauge transformations, see how the enveloping algebra comes in the play and explicitly construct solutions of the Seiberg-Witten map for the noncommutative variables. As a consequence of the nontrivial Leibniz rules for the derivatives we use in the construction, the noncommutative gauge field becomes derivative valued.

3.1 Commutative gauge theory

Gauge theories were first introduced by C. N. Yang and R. L. Mills in 1954 [80] and they became very important tool in particle physics. Before introducing the concept of gauge theory on noncommutative spaces, we shortly repeat basic steps in the construction of gauge theories on the commutative space.

The nonabelian gauge group is generated by the hermitian generators T^a that fulfil

$$[T^a, T^b] = i f^{abc} T^c, \quad a = 1, \dots, n \tag{3.1.1}$$

where f^{abc} are structure constants of the group and the sum over repeated index (here c) is understood. From the Jacobi identity

$$[T^{a}, [T^{b}, T^{c}]] + [T^{b}, [T^{c}, T^{a}]] + [T^{c}, [T^{a}, T^{b}]] = 0$$
(3.1.2)

it follows

$$f^{abc}f^{dce} + f^{ace}f^{bdc} + f^{dac}f^{bce} = 0. ag{3.1.3}$$

The matter field¹ $\psi^0(x)$ is in a certain irreducible representation (fundamental for example) of this group. Under the gauge transformations² we have

$$\psi^{0}(x) \to \psi^{'0}(x) = e^{i\alpha^{a}(x)T^{a}}\psi^{0}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} U_{\alpha}(x)\psi^{0}(x),$$
 (3.1.4)

or infinitesimally

$$\delta_{\alpha}\psi^{0}(x) = i\alpha^{a}(x)T^{a}\psi^{0}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} i\alpha(x)\psi^{0}(x).$$
(3.1.5)

Since the parameter $\alpha(x)$ is x-dependent,³ the derivative of a field does not transform like the field itself

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\partial_{\mu}\psi^{0}) = i\alpha(\partial_{\mu}\psi^{0}) + i(\partial_{\mu}\alpha)\psi^{0}.$$
(3.1.6)

As a consequence of (3.1.6) the action

$$S_m = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \bar{\psi}^0 (i\gamma^\mu \partial_\mu - m) \psi^0$$

for the free spinor field (for example) is not invariant under (3.1.5). The symmetry can be restored introducing the covariant derivative

$$\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}\psi = \partial_{\mu}\psi - iA^{0a}_{\mu}T^{a}\psi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \partial_{\mu}\psi - iA^{0}_{\mu}\psi, \qquad (3.1.7)$$

such that

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi^{0}) = i\alpha\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi^{0}. \tag{3.1.8}$$

In (3.1.7) we introduced the Lie algebra-valued gauge field A^0_{μ} in order to achieve (3.1.8). The transformation law of the gauge field A^0_{μ} follows from (3.1.8)

$$\delta_{\alpha}A^{0}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\alpha + i[\alpha, A^{0}_{\mu}], \qquad (3.1.9)$$

or in terms of the finite transformations

$$A^{0}_{\mu} \to A^{0'}_{\mu} = U A^{0}_{\mu} U^{-1} + i U (\partial_{\mu} U^{-1}).$$
(3.1.10)

To construct the action for the field ψ which is invariant under (3.1.5) and (3.1.9) one uses the minimal coupling prescription, that is in the ordinary action one replaces all the partial derivatives with the covariant ones

$$S_m = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \bar{\psi}^0 (i\gamma^\mu \partial_\mu - m) \psi^0 \to S_m = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \bar{\psi}^0 (i\gamma^\mu (\partial_\mu - iA^0_\mu) - m) \psi^0. \tag{3.1.11}$$

 $^{^{1}}$ We write the all the variables with the upper index 0 to distinguish them from the noncommutative ones which will be introduced in the next section.

²In this and the next chapter we treat only internal symmetries, that is the transformations that do not change coordinates, $\delta_{\alpha}x^{\mu} = 0$. However, one can analyse the global Poincaré symmetry in the same way. This is how gravity arises as a gauge theory. We will follow this approach in the last chapter when we try to construct a theory of gravity on a deformed space.

³From now on we will keep this dependence implicit just to simplify the formulas.

Using (3.1.5) and (3.1.9) one checks explicitly that this action is gauge invariant. Note that although we have started from the free field theory, the action (3.1.11) describes an interacting theory. The interaction comes from coupling of the matter field with the gauge field. In this way the electroweak and strong interactions arise, the gauge groups being $SU(2)_{I} \times U(1)_{Y}$ and $SU(3)_{C}$ respectively.

In order for A^0_{μ} not to be only external but also a dynamical field one has to introduce the kinetic term for it. Therefore, we define the field-strength tensor $F^0_{\mu\nu} = F^{0a}_{\mu\nu}T^a$ as

$$F^{0}_{\mu\nu} = i[\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}, \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\nu}]. \tag{3.1.12}$$

Applying (3.1.12) to the field ψ^0 gives

$$F^{0}_{\mu\nu} = F^{0a}_{\mu\nu}T^{a} = \partial_{\mu}A^{0}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^{0}_{\mu} - i[A^{0}_{\mu}, A^{0}_{\nu}]$$
(3.1.13)

$$= \left(\partial_{\mu}A_{\nu}^{0a} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}^{0a} + f^{abc}A_{\mu}^{0b}A_{\nu}^{0c}\right)T^{a}$$
(3.1.14)

and

$$\delta_{\alpha} F^{0}_{\mu\nu} = i[\alpha, F^{0}_{\mu\nu}]. \tag{3.1.15}$$

The covariant derivative fulfils the Jacobi identity

$$[\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}, [\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\nu}, \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\rho}]] + [\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\nu}, [\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\rho}, \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}]] + [\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\rho}, [\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}, \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\nu}]] = 0.$$
(3.1.16)

Using (3.1.12), from (3.1.16) the Bianchi identity for the field-strength tensor follows

$$\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}F^{0}_{\nu\rho} + \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\nu}F^{0}_{\rho\mu} + \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\rho}F^{0}_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
(3.1.17)

The restriction that the action for the gauge field has to be gauge invariant and the renormalisability properties of the theory fix the kinetic term for the gauge field uniquely. The mass term $m^2 A^0_{\mu} A^{0\mu}$ is not allowed to appear in the action since it is not gauge invariant. Historically, this was the problem with the theory of Yang and Mills. Namely, it was known that weak and strong interactions are of short-range type so they were supposed to be carried by massive particles. But the Yang-Mills theory gave interactions carried by massless particles. The problem was solved finally with the discovery of the mechanism of spontaneously broken symmetry [81], [82]. This made it possible for gauge fields to became massive and the Yang-Mills theory was finally accepted as the theory which describes the fundamental interactions.

The gauge invariant action for the gauge field A^0_{μ} (the Yang-Mills action) is

$$S_g = \int d^4x \left(-\frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}(F^0_{\mu\nu} F^{0\mu\nu}) \right), \qquad (3.1.18)$$

where the factor -1/4 is chosen in analogy with the electrodynamics.

Finally, the complete action is

$$S = S_m + S_g$$

= $\int d^4x \, \bar{\psi}^0 (i\gamma^\mu (\partial_\mu - iA^0_\mu) - m)\psi^0 + \int d^4x \, \left(-\frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}(F^0_{\mu\nu} F^{0\mu\nu}) \right).$ (3.1.19)

Having (3.1.19) one has enough information to analyse the theory, calculate the equations of motion, conserved quantities....

As an example we present the equation of motion and the conserved current for the theory given by (3.1.19). Varying the action (3.1.19) with respect to $\bar{\psi}^0$, ψ^0 and A_{ρ}^{0a} gives the following equations of motion

$$\delta \bar{\psi}^{0}: \qquad i\gamma^{\mu} (\partial_{\mu} \psi^{0}) + \gamma^{\mu} A^{0}_{\mu} \psi^{0} - m\psi^{0} = 0, \qquad (3.1.20)$$

$$\delta\psi^{0}: \qquad -i(\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}^{0})\gamma^{\mu} + \bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\mu}A^{0}_{\mu} - m\bar{\psi}^{0} = 0, \qquad (3.1.21)$$

$$\delta A^0_{\rho}: \qquad \partial_{\mu} F^{0\mu\rho\,a} + f^{abc} A^{0b}_{\mu} F^{0\mu\rho\,c} + \bar{\psi}^0 \gamma^{\rho} T^a \psi = 0. \tag{3.1.22}$$

The current $J^{\rho a}$ is introduced as

$$J^{\rho a} = f^{abc} A^{0b}_{\mu} F^{0\mu\rho\,c} + \bar{\psi}^0 \gamma^{\rho} T^a \psi.$$
 (3.1.23)

Due to the antisymmetry of $F^{0\mu\rho a}$ we have $\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\rho}F^{0\mu\rho a} = 0$ and this, together with (3.1.22) and (3.1.23) gives

$$\partial_{\rho}J^{\rho a} = 0, \qquad (3.1.24)$$

that is $J^{\rho a}$ is the conserved current. In order to check if our theory is consistent, we prove explicitly (using the equations of motion for the fields ψ , $\bar{\psi}$ and A^{0a}_{μ}) that $J^{\rho a}$ is conserved

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\rho} J^{\rho a} &= \partial_{\rho} \Big(f^{abc} A^{0b}_{\mu} F^{0\mu\rho\,c} + \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} T^{a} \psi^{0} \Big) \\ &= f^{abc} \big((\partial_{\rho} A^{0b}_{\mu}) F^{0\mu\rho\,c} + A^{0b}_{\mu} (\partial_{\rho} F^{0\mu\rho\,c}) \big) + (\partial_{\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0}) \gamma^{\rho} T^{a} \psi^{0} + \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} T^{a} (\partial_{\rho} \psi^{0}) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} f^{abc} \big(\partial_{\rho} A^{0b}_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu} A^{0b}_{\rho} + f^{bde} A^{0d}_{\rho} A^{0e}_{\mu} \big) F^{0\rho\mu\,c} + \frac{1}{2} f^{abc} f^{bde} A^{0d}_{\rho} A^{0e}_{\mu} F^{0\rho\mu\,c} \\ &\quad + f^{abc} A^{0b}_{\mu} \big(f^{cde} A^{0d}_{\rho} F^{0\rho\mu\,e} + \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} T^{c} \psi^{0} \big) \\ &\quad - i (\bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} A^{0}_{\rho} - m \bar{\psi}^{0}) T^{a} \psi^{0} + i \bar{\psi}^{0} T^{a} (\gamma^{\rho} A^{0}_{\rho} \psi^{0} - m \psi^{0}) = 0. \end{aligned}$$
(3.1.25)

We can cancel the first term in the third line due to the antisymmetry of the structure constants f^{abc} and also the terms proportional to m in the last line. We obtain

$$\partial_{\rho} J^{\rho a} = \frac{1}{2} f^{abc} f^{bde} A^{0d}_{\rho} A^{0e}_{\mu} F^{0\rho\mu\,c} + \frac{1}{2} f^{abc} f^{cde} \left(A^{0b}_{\mu} A^{0d}_{\rho} - A^{0b}_{\rho} A^{0d}_{\mu} \right) F^{0\rho\mu\,e} + f^{abc} A^{0b}_{\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} T^{c} \psi^{0} + i \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} A^{0b}_{\rho} \left(T^{a} T^{b} - T^{b} T^{a} \right) \psi^{0} = \frac{1}{2} A^{0d}_{\rho} A^{0e}_{\mu} F^{0\rho\mu\,c} \left(f^{abc} f^{bde} + f^{aeb} f^{bdc} - f^{adb} f^{bec} \right) + f^{abc} A^{0b}_{\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} T^{c} \psi^{0} - f^{abc} A^{0b}_{\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} T^{c} \psi^{0} = 0, \qquad (3.1.26)$$

where we have used the Jacobi identity (3.1.3) to cancel the terms in the third line.

3.2 Noncommutative gauge theory, setting

In the following we generalise the concepts introduced in the previous section to deformed spaces. Although we are especially interested in the gauge theory on the κ -deformed space, we try to keep the analysis as general as possible, such that it can be applied to other deformed spaces as well. The construction of the noncommutative gauge theory is done

in the \star -product approach. However, one can equally well define noncommutative gauge transformations in the abstract algebra and perform the analysis there. Our motivation for doing everything in the \star -product approach is that in this way one can obtain results which might be experimentally checked.

The noncommutative gauge transformation of a noncommutative field $\psi(x)$ is defined to be

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\psi(x) = i\Lambda(x) \star \psi(x), \qquad (3.2.1)$$

where $\Lambda(x)$ is the noncommutative gauge parameter. This is an infinitesimal transformation, for finite transformations one has

$$\psi(x) \to \psi'(x) = e_{\star}^{i\Lambda(x)} \star \psi(x), \qquad (3.2.2)$$

where $e_{\star}^{i\Lambda(x)}$ is the \star -exponential function. This function is the formal power series, the ordinary multiplication in every summand is replaced by the \star -multiplication

$$e_{\star}^{i\Lambda(x)} = 1 + i\Lambda - \frac{1}{2}\Lambda \star \Lambda - \frac{i}{6}\Lambda \star \Lambda \star \Lambda + \dots$$
(3.2.3)

One can check that the equality $e_{\star}^{i\Lambda(x)} \star e_{\star}^{-i\Lambda(x)} = 1$ is fulfilled.

With this definition of a gauge transformation one can proceed in two ways. One is the so-called "covariant coordinate approach" [83], [84], [85]. This approach is closely related with the appearance of noncommutative gauge theory in the framework of string theory. Mathematically, it is based on the inner derivations on a deformed space and therefore is convenient if one does not know the exterior derivatives on the deformed space in question. The basic idea comes from the observation that the \star -multiplication of a field with a coordinate is no longer a gauge covariant operation,

$$\delta_{\Lambda}(x^{\mu} \star \psi) = x^{\mu} \star \delta_{\Lambda} \psi = ix^{\mu} \star \Lambda \star \psi \neq i\Lambda \star (x^{\mu} \star \psi), \qquad (3.2.4)$$

since the \star -product is noncommutative. The problem is solved by introducing the covariant coordinate $X^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + A^{\mu}$, such that

$$\delta_{\Lambda}(X^{\mu} \star \psi) = i\Lambda \star (X^{\mu} \star \psi). \tag{3.2.5}$$

Here A^{μ} is the noncommutative gauge potential; its transformation law follows from (3.2.5). Then one proceeds with defining the field-strength tensor as in the commutative case. However, we do not wish to follow this approach here. Like we said, it is convenient since one introduces the gauge potential without having to fix a differential calculus on a deformed space first; one uses only inner derivations. In this way a variety of concepts on a deformed space can be introduced without knowing much about its additional algebraic or geometric structure.

In the previous chapter we analysed in detail the differential calculus on the κ -deformed space. Therefore, we have enough information not to follow the approach of covariant coordinates here. Instead, we construct covariant derivatives and proceeded in the full analogy with the commutative theory.

Our starting point is the infinitesimal noncommutative transformation of a noncommutative field ψ

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\psi(x) = i\Lambda(x) \star \psi(x). \tag{3.2.6}$$

The field ψ belongs to a certain irreducible representation (fundamental for example) of the gauge group. We consider a general nonabelian gauge group generated by the generators T^a which fulfil (3.1.1). In order to check if our definition of the gauge transformation (3.2.6) is good, we remember that the commutative gauge transformations close in the algebra

$$\delta_{\alpha}\delta_{\beta} - \delta_{\beta}\delta_{\alpha} = \delta_{-i[\alpha,\beta]}. \tag{3.2.7}$$

In words, the commutator of two gauge transformations δ_{α} and δ_{β} is again a gauge transformation with the parameter $-i[\alpha, \beta]$. Now we check if the same holds for the transformations (3.2.6)

$$(\delta_{\Lambda_1}\delta_{\Lambda_2} - \delta_{\Lambda_2}\delta_{\Lambda_1})\psi(x) = (\Lambda_1 \star \Lambda_2 - \Lambda_2 \star \Lambda_1) \star \psi.$$
(3.2.8)

If we take $\Lambda_{1,2} = \Lambda_{1,2}^a T^a$, that is the Lie algebra-valued noncommutative gauge parameters, we obtain

$$(\delta_{\Lambda_1}\delta_{\Lambda_2} - \delta_{\Lambda_2}\delta_{\Lambda_1})\psi(x) = \frac{1}{2}(\Lambda_1^a \star \Lambda_2^b + \Lambda_2^b \star \Lambda_1^a)[T^a, T^b] \star \psi + \frac{1}{2}(\Lambda_1^a \star \Lambda_2^b - \Lambda_2^b \star \Lambda_1^a)\{T^a, T^b\} \star \psi.$$
(3.2.9)

The first term in (3.2.9) is again Lie algebra-valued because of (3.1.1). However, the second term is not Lie algebra-valued in general. In the special case of U(N) gauge theories one can express the anticommutator $\{T^a, T^b\}$ in the generators T^a only (no products of generators) [26]. In the case of SU(N) groups, which are needed for the construction of a noncommutative generalisation of the Standard Model, this is not possible. There are two ways to solve this problem. One is to look only at the U(N) gauge groups (and also SO(N) and Sp(N)groups [50]). Then the commutator of two gauge transformations is again in the algebra of transformations. Second possibility is to give up the Lie algebra-valued gauge parameter and define the enveloping algebra-valued gauge transformations [32]. This approach we follow here.

3.3 Enveloping algebra approach

The enveloping algebra of the Lie algebra (3.1.1) is the algebra freely generated by the generators T^a and divided by the ideal generated by (3.1.1)

$$\mathcal{A}_T = \frac{\mathbb{C}[[T^1, \dots, T^n]]}{([T^a, T^b] - if^{ab}_c T^c)}.$$
(3.3.1)

It is infinite dimensional and its elements are all possible products of the generators modulo the commutation relations. Especially, both $[T^a, T^b]$ and $\{T^a, T^b\}$ are in the enveloping algebra. Therefore, the transformations (3.2.6) close in the enveloping algebra and we continue our analysis there.

A basis in the enveloping algebra can be chosen by specifying the ordering. We choose the symmetric ordering because of its invariance under the conjugation, for example

$$\overline{:T^{a}T^{b}:} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{(T^{a}T^{b} + T^{b}T^{a})} = \frac{1}{2}(T^{b}T^{a} + T^{a}T^{b}) =:T^{a}T^{b}:.$$

The basis is then

$$: T^{a}: = T^{a},$$

$$: T^{a}T^{b}: = \frac{1}{2}(T^{a}T^{b} + T^{b}T^{a}),$$

$$...$$

$$: T^{a_{1}}...T^{a_{l}}: = \frac{1}{l!}\sum_{\sigma \in S_{l}}(T^{\sigma(a_{1})}...T^{\sigma(a_{l})}).$$
(3.3.2)

Since the noncommutative gauge parameter is enveloping algebra-valued it can be expanded in the basis (3.3.2)

$$\Lambda(x) = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\text{basis}} \Lambda_l^{a_1 \dots a_l}(x) : T^{a_1} \dots T^{a_l}$$

= $\Lambda^a(x) : T^a : + \Lambda_2^{a_1 a_2}(x) : T^{a_1} T^{a_2} : + \dots$ (3.3.3)

Now we define the covariant derivative $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi(x) = \partial^{\star}_{\mu} \triangleright \psi(x) - iV_{\mu} \star \psi(x)$ by its transformation law

$$\delta_{\Lambda}(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi(x)) = i\Lambda \star \mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi(x). \tag{3.3.4}$$

Before we continue, one remarks is in order. The derivative ∂^{\star}_{μ} is not specified here. The choice of ∂^{\star}_{μ} depends on the choice of a deformed space on which we want to construct the gauge theory (and not only on that, as we shall see later). The reason for not specifying ∂^{\star}_{μ} immediately is that we are trying to be as general as possible and first discuss some problems characteristic for the noncommutative gauge theories in general. We come back to this problem in the next section.

The transformation law for the noncommutative gauge field V_{μ} , just like in the commutative case, follows from (3.3.4)

$$(\delta_{\Lambda}V_{\mu}) \star \psi = \partial_{\mu}^{\star} \triangleright (\Lambda \star \psi) - \Lambda \star (\partial_{\mu}^{\star} \triangleright \psi) + i\Lambda \star V_{\mu} \star \psi - iV_{\mu} \star \Lambda \star \psi.$$
(3.3.5)

Note that before we have specified the derivatives ∂^{\star}_{μ} we can not write (3.3.5) more explicitly since we do not know the Leibniz rules for the derivatives ∂^{\star}_{μ} . It is important that from (3.3.5) and (3.3.3) it follows that V_{μ} has to be enveloping algebra-valued as well

$$V_{\mu} = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\text{basis}} V_{\mu a_1 \dots a_l}^l : T^{a_1} \dots T^{a_l} :$$

= $V_{\mu}^a(x) : T^a : + V_{\mu}^{a_1 a_2} : T^{a_1} T^{a_2} : + \dots$ (3.3.6)

From (3.3.3) and (3.3.6) looks like we have formulated a theory with infinitely many degrees of freedom which is an unphysical situation. The way to solve this problem is to demand that all higher orders degrees of freedom are not independent, but that they can be expressed in terms of the finitely many degrees of freedom. The most natural then is to demand that all higher order degrees of freedom can be expressed in terms of the zeroth order degrees of freedom, that is the Lie algebra-valued quantities. If this is possible (and that we can only determine by explicit calculation, there is no principle to determine a priori if this reduction is possible or not) then we reduce the number of degrees of freedom to

the classical one. That means that our noncommutative quantities (gauge parameter, gauge fields,...) will be functions of the classical ones. The explicit construction is know as the Seiberg-Witten map and it was first used by N. Seiberg and E. Witten in [26]. In the next section we continue with the construction of the Seiberg-Witten map.

3.4 Seiberg-Witten map

We start with the noncommutative gauge parameter Λ and suppose that it can be written as a function of the commutative gauge parameter $\alpha = \alpha^a T^a$ and the commutative gauge field $A^0_{\mu} = A^{0a}_{\mu} T^a$. Therefore, we introduce the following notation

$$\Lambda(x) = \Lambda_{\alpha}(A^{0}_{\mu}; x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Lambda_{\alpha}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Lambda_{\alpha}, \qquad (3.4.1)$$

and keep the dependence on the commutative variables implicit as well as the x-dependence, unless we want to stress something. Also

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\psi = i\Lambda \star \psi = i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \psi = \delta_{\alpha}\psi. \tag{3.4.2}$$

Here $\delta_{\alpha}\psi$ means that having the expression for the noncommutative field (here ψ) in terms of the commutative variables (ψ^0 and A^0_{μ} in this case, as we shall see later), noncommutative gauge transformation (3.4.2) is given by the commutative gauge transformation of the expanded noncommutative field. From (3.4.2) we have

$$\delta_{\alpha}\delta_{\beta}\psi = \delta_{\alpha}(i\Lambda_{\beta}\star\psi)$$

= $i(\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta})\star\psi + i\Lambda_{\beta}\star(i\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\psi) = i(\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta})\star\psi - \Lambda_{\beta}\star\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\psi.$ (3.4.3)

The variation $\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta}$ is nonzero since Λ_{β} depends on the commutative gauge field A^{0}_{μ} and $\delta_{\alpha}A^{0}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\alpha - i[A^{0}_{\mu}, \alpha]$. The consistency condition (3.2.7) then gives

$$\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta} - \delta_{\beta}\Lambda_{\alpha} - i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \Lambda_{\beta} + i\Lambda_{\beta} \star \Lambda_{\alpha} = \Lambda_{-i[\alpha,\beta]}, \qquad (3.4.4)$$

where we have omitted $\star \psi$ in each term since the equation must be true for an arbitrary field ψ . Since (3.4.4) is an equation in Λ_{α} only, we can use it to solve the Seiberg-Witten map for Λ_{α} . We solve it perturbatively, that is we expand Λ_{α} in the deformation parameter a^4

$$\Lambda_{\alpha} = \Lambda_{\alpha}^{0} + a\Lambda_{\alpha}^{1} + \dots + a^{k}\Lambda_{\alpha}^{k} + \dots$$
(3.4.5)

But also the \star -product in (3.4.4) has to be expanded. Therefore, this is the place at which we leave the general discussion and specialise to the κ -deformed space. For the \star -product we use (2.4.4), that is the symmetrically ordered \star -product. Expanding equation (3.4.4) up to first order in *a* gives

$$a^{0}: \quad \delta_{\alpha}\Lambda^{0}_{\beta} - \delta_{\beta}\Lambda^{0}_{\alpha} - i[\Lambda^{0}_{\alpha}, \Lambda^{0}_{\beta}] = \Lambda^{0}_{-i[\alpha,\beta]}$$
(3.4.6)

$$a^{1}: \quad a\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta}^{1} - a\delta_{\beta}\Lambda_{\alpha}^{1} - ia[\Lambda_{\alpha}^{0} \star^{1}\Lambda_{\beta}^{0}] - ia[\Lambda_{\alpha}^{0},\Lambda_{\beta}^{1}] - ia[\Lambda_{\alpha}^{1},\Lambda_{\beta}^{0}] = a\Lambda_{-i[\alpha,\beta]}^{1}, \qquad (3.4.7)$$

⁴Different expansions are possible, for example the expansion in the enveloping algebra basis (3.3.3), or the expansion in the number of factors of gauge field
$$A^0_{\mu}$$
. Of course, these expansions will not coincide.

where we introduced \star^1 for the first order term of the \star -product,

$$a\Lambda^0_{\alpha} \star^1 \Lambda^0_{\beta} = \frac{i}{2} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\partial_{\rho} \Lambda^0_{\alpha}) (\partial_{\sigma} \Lambda^0_{\beta})$$

Looking at (3.4.6) we see that it will be fulfilled with the choice $\Lambda_{\alpha}^{0} = \alpha$, that is in zeroth order noncommutative gauge transformation reduces to the classical one⁵.

Equation (3.4.7) is an inhomogeneous linear equation in Λ^1_{α} with the solution

$$a\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\{A^{0}_{\rho},\partial_{\sigma}\alpha\}.$$
(3.4.8)

Calculating explicitly $\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta}^{1}$, using (3.1.9) one can check that (3.4.7) is fulfilled. However, this solution is not unique, one can add to it solutions of the homogeneous equation

$$a\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda^{1}_{\beta} - a\delta_{\beta}\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha} - i[\alpha,\Lambda^{1}_{\beta}] - i[\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha},\beta] - a\Lambda^{1}_{-i[\alpha,\beta]} = 0.$$
(3.4.9)

The analysis of ambiguities of the Seiberg-Witten map was done in detail in [42] for the θ -deformed space. Most of the things said there can be applied here as well and we will not go into details. In the next chapter we use the freedom in the Seiberg-Witten map when discussing the ambiguity of the conserved current in the case of U(1) gauge theory.

Now one can solve the second order for Λ_{α} and so on. The second order solution is given in [86]. Here we do not go into second order analysis. Just for completeness we write the solution for Λ_{α} up to first order in a

$$\Lambda_{\alpha} = \alpha - \frac{1}{4} C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} \{ A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma} \alpha \}.$$
(3.4.10)

Before proceeding further, we have two comments. When solving (3.4.7) it was supposed that Λ^1_{α} is not derivative-valued, that is it is a function not a differential operator. Nevertheless, the different approach is possible and we describe it shortly at the end of the last chapter. If one compares (3.4.10) with the solution for Λ^1_{α} in the case of θ -deformed space [41] one sees that they are the same, replaced $\theta^{\rho\sigma}$ with $C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}$. This is the consequence of the first order similarity of the symmetrically ordered *-product for the κ -deformed space and the Moyal-Weyl *-product (1.5.8)

$$f \star g = fg + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} f) (\partial_{\sigma} g) + \dots, \qquad (3.4.11)$$

$$f \star g = fg + \frac{i}{2} C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} (\partial_{\rho} f) (\partial_{\sigma} g) + \dots$$
(3.4.12)

However, this analogy only applies to the first order. Already in the second order the \star -products (3.4.11) and (3.4.12) are different and also the explicit *x*-dependence of Λ_{α} in (3.4.10) produces new terms in second order in the case of κ -deformed space, compared with the θ -deformed space [86].

Having the solution of the Seiberg-Witten map for the noncommutative gauge parameter Λ_{α} we can now solve the Seiberg-Witten map for the noncommutative matter field ψ using equation (3.4.2). Again, ψ has to be expanded in the deformation parameter a

$$\psi = \psi^0 + a\psi^1 + \dots$$
 (3.4.13)

⁵Note that $\delta_{\alpha} \Lambda^0_{\beta} = 0$.

Inserting this into (3.4.2) and expanding the \star -product to first order in a gives

$$a^0: \quad \delta_\alpha \psi^0 = i\alpha \psi^0, \tag{3.4.14}$$

$$a^{1}: \quad a\delta_{\alpha}\psi^{1} = ia\alpha\psi^{1} + ia\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha}\psi^{0} - \frac{1}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}(\partial_{\rho}\alpha)(\partial_{\sigma}\psi^{0}). \tag{3.4.15}$$

The zeroth order equation is fulfilled if ψ^0 is the commutative matter field, since $\delta_{\alpha}\psi^0 = i\alpha\psi^0$. The first order solution is

$$a\psi^1 = -\frac{1}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}A^0_{\rho}(\partial_{\sigma}\psi^0) + \frac{i}{8}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}[A^0_{\rho}, A^0_{\sigma}]\psi^0.$$
(3.4.16)

The comments about the ambiguities of the Seiberg-Witten map and about the similarity of the first order solution with the solution in the case of the θ -deformed space also apply here. Again for the completeness we write the solution for the field ψ up to first order in a

$$\psi = \psi^{0} - \frac{1}{2} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} A^{0}_{\rho} (\partial_{\sigma} \psi^{0}) + \frac{i}{8} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} [A^{0}_{\rho}, A^{0}_{\sigma}] \psi^{0}.$$
(3.4.17)

3.5 Covariant derivative and the gauge field

The covariant derivative was introduced in (3.3.4). However, there we have not specified the derivatives ∂_{μ}^{\star} . Now we do that first and then solve the Seiberg-Witten map for the noncommutative gauge field V_{μ} .

As it was shown in Chapter 2, there is no unique derivative on the κ -deformed space and any of derivatives obtained there is a good candidate for ∂_{μ}^{\star} . But if we look at the transformation laws of different derivatives under the κ -deformed Lorentz transformations, we see that all but one have very complicated commutation relations with the κ -Lorentz generators $M^{\mu\nu}$. The one that is different is the Dirac derivative D_{μ}^{\star} introduced in (2.4.15). It fulfils

$$[L^{\star\,\mu\nu}, D^{\star}_{\rho}] = \delta^{\nu}_{\rho} D^{\star\,\mu} - \delta^{\mu}_{\rho} D^{\star\,\nu}, \qquad (3.5.1)$$

where $L^{\star \mu\nu}$ are given in (2.4.19). Therefore, the covariant derivative defined as $\mathcal{D}_{\mu} = D^{\star}_{\mu} - iV_{\mu}$ transforms as

$$\delta_{\omega}(\mathcal{D}_{\rho}\psi) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \Big(L^{\star}_{\alpha\beta} \triangleright (\mathcal{D}_{\rho}\psi) - \eta_{\beta\rho}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\psi) + \eta_{\alpha\rho}(\mathcal{D}_{\beta}\psi) \Big).$$
(3.5.2)

This means that the gauge field V_{ρ} transforms as a covariant vector (2.5.8).

Having fixed the derivative we want to covariantise, we proceed in the familiar way, by calculating the transformation law of the gauge filed V_{μ} . From

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi) = i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi = i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \left(D_{\mu}^{\star} \triangleright \psi - iV_{\mu} \star \psi\right)$$
(3.5.3)

it follows

$$(\delta_{\alpha}V_{\mu}) \star \psi = D_{\mu}^{\star} \triangleright (\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \psi) - \Lambda_{\alpha} \star (D_{\mu}^{\star} \triangleright \psi) + i[\Lambda_{\alpha} \overset{*}{,} V_{\mu}] \star \psi.$$
(3.5.4)

Now one has to be careful since the derivatives D^{\star}_{μ} have the nontrivial Leibniz rules (2.4.16) and (2.4.17). It is convenient to analyse separately the *n*th and *j*th components.

First let us look at the *j*th component of (3.5.4). Using the Leibniz rule for D_j^* (2.4.17), we obtain

$$\delta_{\alpha}V_{j}\star\psi = (D_{j}^{\star}\triangleright\Lambda_{\alpha})\star\left(e^{-ia\partial_{n}}\triangleright\psi\right) + i\Lambda_{\alpha}\star V_{j}\star\psi - iV_{j}\star\left(\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\psi\right).$$
(3.5.5)

If we demand that V_j is a function and not a differential operator, we see from (3.5.5) that we can not solve this equation. The problematic term is the first term on the right-hand side; it is the consequence of the nontrivial Leibniz rule for $D_j^{\star 6}$. The only way to solve this is to allow that V_j is a differential operator, that is it is derivative-valued. Looking at (3.5.5) we make the following ansatz

$$V_j = A_j \star e^{-ia\partial_n} \tag{3.5.6}$$

and insert it in (3.5.5). After using $e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright (f \star g) = (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright f) \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright g)$ and omitting $e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright \psi$ on the right-hand side we arrive at

$$\delta_{\alpha}A_{j} = (D_{j}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star A_{j} - iA_{j} \star (e^{-ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}).$$
(3.5.7)

This equation can now be used to solve the Seiberg-Witten map for the field A_j . As before, A_j is expanded in the deformation parameter a:

$$A_j = A_j^0 + aA_j^1 + \dots (3.5.8)$$

Expanding (3.5.7) gives

$$a^{0}: \quad \delta_{\alpha}A_{j}^{0} = \partial_{j}\alpha + i[\alpha, A_{j}^{0}]$$

$$a^{1}: \quad a\delta_{\alpha}A_{j}^{1} = a\partial_{j}\Lambda^{1} - \frac{ia}{2}\partial_{j}\partial_{n}\alpha + ia[\alpha, A_{j}^{1}] + ia[\Lambda^{1}, A_{j}^{0}]$$

$$+ ia[\alpha \stackrel{\star^{1}}{,} A_{j}^{0}] - aA_{j}^{0}(\partial_{n}\alpha).$$

$$(3.5.10)$$

The zeroth order solution is obviously the commutative gauge field A_j^0 . The first order solution is given by

$$aA_{j}^{1} = -\frac{ia}{2}\partial_{n}A_{j}^{0} - \frac{a}{4}\{A_{n}^{0}, A_{j}^{0}\} + \frac{1}{4}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda}\Big(\{F_{\rho j}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}\} - \{A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma}A_{j}^{0}\}\Big).$$
(3.5.11)

That this is really a solution of (3.5.10) one can check explicitly using (3.1.9). For completeness we write the solution for the field V_j up to first order in a

$$V_{j} = A_{j}^{0} - iaA_{j}^{0}\partial_{n} - \frac{ia}{2}\partial_{n}A_{j}^{0} - \frac{a}{4}\{A_{n}^{0}, A_{j}^{0}\} + \frac{1}{4}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda}\Big(\{F_{\rho j}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}\} - \{A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma}A_{j}^{0}\}\Big).$$
(3.5.12)

Comparing this solution with the solution for the noncommutative gauge field in the θ deformed case, we see that now they differ already in the first order, namely the second,
third and fourth term in (3.5.12) do not appear in the θ -deformed case.

Before going to the *n*th component of (3.5.4) we remark one more thing. Solving for V_j we made ansatz (3.5.6). However, this is not the most general ansatz; we could have started with

$$V_j = A_{1j} \star e^{-ia\partial_n} + A_{2j} \star D_n^* + A_3 \star D_j^* + A_{4j}^l \star D_l^*.$$
(3.5.13)

⁶Choosing the different set of derivatives [87] one can avoid the derivative-valued gauge fields, but then one loses the symmetry properties.

Inserting this into (3.5.5) gives

$$\delta_{\alpha}A_{1j} = (D_{j}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star A_{1j} - iA_{1j} \star (e^{-ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) -iA_{2j} \star (D_{n}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) - iA_{3} \star (D_{j}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) - iA_{4j}^{l} \star (D_{l}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}), \qquad (3.5.14)$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}A_{2j} = i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star A_{2j} - iA_{2j} \star (e^{iaO_n} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}), \qquad (3.5.15)$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}A_3 = i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star A_3 - iA_3 \star \Lambda_{\alpha}, \tag{3.5.16}$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}A_{4j}^{l} = i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star A_{4j}^{l} - iA_{4j}^{l} \star \Lambda_{\alpha} - aA_{2j} \star (\partial^{\star l} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}), \qquad (3.5.17)$$

where we have collected terms proportional to $\star e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright \psi$, $\star D_n^{\star} \triangleright \psi$, $\star D_j^{\star} \triangleright \psi$ and $\star D_l^{\star} \triangleright \psi$ respectively. To solve for A_{1j} we have to solve first the equations for A_{2j} , A_3 and A_{4j}^l . Let us start from A_{2j} . Expanding (3.5.15) gives

$$a^{0}: \quad \delta_{\alpha} A^{0}_{2i} = i[\alpha, A^{0}_{2i}] \tag{3.5.18}$$

$$a^{1}: \quad a\delta_{\alpha}A^{1}_{2j} = ia[\alpha, A^{1}_{2j}] + ia[\Lambda^{1}, A^{0}_{2j}] + ia[\alpha \stackrel{\star^{1}}{,} A^{0}_{2j}] + aA^{0}_{2j}(\partial_{n}\alpha).$$
(3.5.19)

Looking at the zeroth order equation we see that there are no inhomogeneous terms at the right-hand side, so $A_{2j}^0 = 0$ is a solution. Equally well, the choice $A_{2j}^0 = c_1 F_{nj}^0$ where c_1 is an arbitrary constant is a possible solution of (3.5.18). But this would mean that the noncommutative gauge potential starts like

$$V_j = A_j^0 + F_{nj}^0 \partial_n + \mathcal{O}(a)$$

which in the limit $a \to 0$ does not reduce to the commutative gauge potential. Since we always insist on the commutative limit of our theory this solution is not what we want. The only possibility is therefore to put $A_{2i}^0 = 0$. For the first order equation this then gives

$$a\delta_{\alpha}A_{2i}^{1} = i[\alpha, A_{2i}^{1}]. \tag{3.5.20}$$

Again, this is a homogeneous equation and we can choose $A_{2j}^1 = 0$. Also, $A_{2j}^1 = c_2 a F_{nj}^0$ is allowed by (3.5.20) but this time there is no commutative limit restriction. Since so far we have been ignoring the terms that were the solutions of homogeneous equations (when solving for $\Lambda_{\alpha}, \psi, \ldots$); we do the same here, that is we choose $A_{2j}^1 = 0$. One should keep in mind that different choices are possible, but being the solutions of homogeneous equations they reduce to the freedom in the Seiberg-Witten map.

For A_3 we repeat the previous analysis with the same result, $A_3 = 0$ to first order in a. With this solution the same follows for A_{4j}^l : $A_{4j}^l = 0$. Inserting this in (3.5.14) gives (3.5.10) again. Therefore, the solution for V_j is the same as before, (3.5.12). To conclude this remark, we could have started from a more general ansatz for V_j leading to a different solution. However, the difference between (3.5.12) and the new solution are just the terms which are solutions of the homogeneous equations and we say that this two solutions are equivalent up to the freedom in the Seiberg-Witten map.

Now, we look at the *n*th component of equation (3.5.4). Using the Leibniz rule for D_n^{\star} (2.4.16) leads to

$$\delta_{\alpha}V_{n}\star\psi = (D_{n}^{\star}\triangleright\Lambda_{\alpha})\star(e^{-ia\partial_{n}}\triangleright\psi) + \left((e^{ia\partial_{n}}-1)\triangleright\Lambda_{\alpha}\right)\star D_{n}^{\star}\triangleright\psi \qquad (3.5.21)$$
$$-ia\left(D_{j}^{\star}\triangleright(e^{ia\partial_{n}}\triangleright\Lambda_{\alpha})\right)\star(D^{\star j}\triangleright\psi) + i\Lambda_{\alpha}\star V_{n}\star\psi - iV_{n}\star(\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\psi).$$

The ansatz for V_n is

$$V_n = A_{1n} \star e^{-ia\partial_n} + A_{2n} \star D_n^* + A_{3n}^l \star D_l^*, \qquad (3.5.22)$$

but this time it is the most general ansatz we could think of. It gives (after collecting terms proportional to $\star e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright \psi$, $\star D_n^{\star} \triangleright \psi$ and $\star D_l^{\star} \triangleright \psi$) the transformation laws for the fields A_{1n} , A_{2n} and A_{3n}^l respectively:

$$\delta_{\alpha}A_{1n} = (D_{n}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star A_{1n} - iA_{1n} \star (e^{-ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) -iA_{2n} \star (D_{n}^{\star}\Lambda_{\alpha}) - iA_{3n}^{l} \star (D_{l}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}),$$
(3.5.23)

$$\delta_{\alpha}A_{2n} = \left(\left(e^{ia\partial_n} - 1 \right) \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha} \right) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star A_{2n} - iA_{2n} \star \left(e^{ia\partial_n} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha} \right), \tag{3.5.24}$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}A_{3n}^{l} = -ia(\partial^{\star l} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star A_{3n}^{l} - iA_{3n}^{l} \star \Lambda_{\alpha} - aA_{2n} \star (\partial^{\star l}\Lambda_{\alpha}).$$
(3.5.25)

We have to solve A_{2n} first. We expand (3.5.24)

$$a^{0}: \quad \delta_{\alpha} A^{0}_{2n} = i[\alpha, A^{0}_{2n}]$$
(3.5.26)

$$a^{1}: \quad a\delta_{\alpha}A^{1}_{2n} = ia\partial_{n}\alpha + ia[\alpha, A^{1}_{2n}] + ia[\Lambda^{1}, A^{0}_{2n}] + ia[\alpha \stackrel{\star^{1}}{,} A^{0}_{2n}] + aA^{0}_{2n}(\partial_{n}\alpha).$$
(3.5.27)

With the same arguments as before (proper commutative limit), the zeroth order solution is $A_{2n}^0 = 0$. This then gives

$$a\delta_{\alpha}A_{2n}^1 = ia\partial_n\alpha + ia[\alpha, A_{2n}^1]$$

and the solution for A_{2n} up to first order in a is

$$A_{2n} = iaA_n^0. (3.5.28)$$

Again we have ignored the solutions of the homogeneous equation (for example, we could have added the first order term $c_3 C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} F_{\rho\sigma}^0$ to the solution (3.5.28)).

Expanding (3.5.25) gives

$$a^{0}: \quad \delta_{\alpha} A^{0l}_{3n} = i[\alpha, A^{0l}_{3n}] \tag{3.5.29}$$

$$a^{1}: \quad a\delta_{\alpha}A^{0l}_{3n} = -ia\partial^{l}\alpha + ia[\alpha, A^{1l}_{3n}] + ia[\Lambda^{1}, A^{0l}_{3n}] + ia[\alpha \stackrel{*^{1}}{,} A^{0l}_{3n}] - aA^{0}_{2n}(\partial^{l}\alpha).$$
(3.5.30)

The solution up to first order is

a

$$A_{3n}^l = -iaA^{0l}. (3.5.31)$$

Finally we come to (3.5.23)

$$a^{0}: \quad \delta_{\alpha}A^{0}_{1n} = \partial_{n}\alpha + i[\alpha, A^{0}_{1n}] \tag{3.5.32}$$

¹:
$$a\delta_{\alpha}A_{1n}^{1} = a\partial_{n}\Lambda^{1} - \frac{i\alpha}{2}\partial_{l}\partial^{l}\alpha + ia[\alpha, A_{1n}^{1}] + ia[\Lambda^{1}, A_{1n}^{0}]$$

 $+ia[\alpha ; ^{1}A_{1n}^{0}] - iaA_{2n}^{1}(\partial_{n}\alpha) - iaA_{3n}^{1l}(\partial_{l}\alpha).$ (3.5.33)

The zeroth order solution is just the commutative field $A_{1n}^0 = A_n^0$. Inserting this and the solutions for A_{2n} and A_{3n}^l we find

$$aA_{1n}^{1} = -\frac{a}{2} \Big(i\partial_{j}A^{0j} + A_{j}^{0}A^{0j} \Big) + \frac{1}{4} C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} \Big(\{F_{\rho n}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}\} - \{A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma}A_{n}^{0}\} \Big).$$
(3.5.34)

Summing up all the results leads to the solution for V_n up to first order in a

$$V_n = A_n^0 - iaA^{0j}\partial_j - \frac{ia}{2}\partial_j A^{0j} - \frac{a}{2}A_j^0 A^{0j} + \frac{1}{4}C_\lambda^{\rho\sigma}x^\lambda \Big(\{F_{\rho n}^0, A_\sigma^0\} - \{A_\rho^0, \partial_\sigma A_n^0\}\Big).$$
(3.5.35)

With this result we end our analysis of the Seiberg-Witten map on the κ -deformed space. Once again we mention that the problem of ambiguities has not been discussed here. A part of it we will analyse in the next chapter and the rest is left for the future work.

3.6 Gauge covariant Lagrangians

In this section we want to construct the gauge covariant (invariant) Lagrangians for the matter and gauge field. To write down the Lagrangian for the matter field we already have all that we need. For the gauge field Lagrangian we first have to calculate the field-strength tensor. It is defined as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = i[\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \stackrel{\star}{,} \mathcal{D}_{\nu}] \tag{3.6.1}$$

and from here it follows

$$\delta_{\alpha} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = i [\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}]. \tag{3.6.2}$$

Applying this to the field ψ (calculating $\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} \star \psi$) gives

$$\mathcal{F}_{ij} = \left((D_i^* \triangleright V_j) - (D_j^* \triangleright V_i) - iV_i \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_j) + iV_j \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_i) \right) \star e^{-2ia\partial_n}$$

= $F'_{ij} \star e^{-2ia\partial_n},$ (3.6.3)

$$\mathcal{F}_{nj} = F'_{nj1} \star e^{-2ia\partial_n} + F'_{nj2} \star e^{-ia\partial_n} D_n^\star + F'_{nj3} \star e^{-ia\partial_n} D_l^\star, \qquad (3.6.4)$$

where we have used the Leibniz rules for D_{μ}^{\star} derivatives and

$$F'_{nj1} = (D_n^* \triangleright V_j) - (D_j^* \triangleright V_{n1}) - iV_{n1} \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_j) + iV_j \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_{n1}) -iV_{n3}^l \star (D_l^* \triangleright V_j) - iV_{n2} \star (D_n^* \triangleright V_j),$$

$$(3.6.5)$$

$$F'_{nj2} = \left((e^{ia\partial_n} - 1) \triangleright V_j \right) - (D_j^* \triangleright V_{n2}) - iV_{n2} \star (e^{ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_j) + iV_j \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_{n2}),$$
(3.6.6)

$$F_{nj3}^{\prime l} = -ia(\partial^{\star l} \triangleright V_j) - (D_j^{\star} \triangleright V_{n3}^l) - aV_{n2} \star (\partial^{\star l} \triangleright V_j) -iV_{n3}^l \star V_j + V_j \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_{n3}^l).$$
(3.6.7)

From (3.6.3) and (3.6.4) it is obvious that $\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}$ is derivative-valued. Therefore, the term $\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} \star \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu}$ in the Lagrangian (or in the action afterwards) does not make sense. This problem can be solved using the analogy with the gravity theory. There one also calculates the commutator of two covariant derivatives and expresses the result in terms of the curvature tensor and torsion. We try to do the same here.

Let us look first at the component \mathcal{F}_{ij} . We expand $e^{-2ia\partial_n}$ up to first order in a

$$\mathcal{F}_{ij} = F'_{ij} \star e^{-2ia\partial_n} = F'_{ij} \star (1 - 2ia\partial_n)$$

= $F'_{ij} \star \left(1 - 2ia(\partial_n - iA^0_n) + 2aA^0_n\right) = F'_{ij} \star \left(1 + 2aA^0_n - 2ia\mathcal{D}^0_n\right)$
= $F_{ij} + T^n_{ij} \star \mathcal{D}^0_n.$

Here we have covariantised the derivative ∂_n by adding the field A_n^0 to it (since we are interested only in the theory up to first order in *a*) and subtracting the same term. Note that F_{ij} is different from F'_{ij} , the difference is in the first order term coming from covariantising ∂_n . One can continue this separation on terms proportional to the covariant derivatives to higher orders and for \mathcal{F}_{nj} as well. We conclude that the field-strength tensor $\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}$ can be written as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = F_{\mu\nu} + T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{D}_{\rho} + \dots + T^{\rho_1 \dots \rho_l}_{\mu\nu} : \mathcal{D}_{\rho_1} \dots \mathcal{D}_{\rho_l} : + \dots , \qquad (3.6.8)$$

where the colons denote a basis in the enveloping algebra of covariant derivatives⁷. The term which is not derivative-valued we call curvature-like term, while the other terms $T^{\rho_1...\rho_l}_{\mu\nu}$ are torsion-like terms. When writing the Lagrangian (action) we use only the curvature-like terms and ignore all the torsion-like terms.

Each of the terms in the expansion transforms covariantly again and that is why we define the torsion-like terms proportional to the covariant and not to the usual derivatives. To make this clearer we start form the definition (3.6.1). Then

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} \star \psi) = i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} \star \psi$$
$$\delta_{\alpha}\Big(F_{\mu\nu} \star \psi + T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \star (\mathcal{D}_{\rho}\psi) + \dots\Big) = i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \Big(F_{\mu\nu} \star \psi + T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \star (\mathcal{D}_{\rho}\psi) + \dots\Big).$$

From here we have

$$\delta_{\alpha}F_{\mu\nu} = i[\Lambda_{\alpha} * F_{\mu\nu}], \qquad (3.6.9)$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} = i[\Lambda_{\alpha} * T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}]. \qquad (3.6.10)$$

If one would expand $\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}$ in terms of the usual derivatives, a term like $T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \star (\partial_{\rho}\psi)$ would appear. Then

$$\delta_{\alpha} \left(T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \star (\partial_{\rho}\psi) \right) = \left(\delta_{\alpha} T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \right) \star \left(\partial_{\rho}\psi \right) + T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \star \left(\delta_{\alpha}(\partial_{\rho}\psi) \right)$$
$$\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \star (\partial_{\rho}\psi).$$

The last term in the first line produces an additional term (since $\partial_{\rho}\psi$ does not transform covariantly) spoiling the covariant transformation of $T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$.

Rewriting (3.6.3) and (3.6.4) in the form (3.6.8) and expanding everything up to first order in a gives

$$F_{ij} = F_{ij}^{0} - ia\mathcal{D}_{n}^{0}F_{ij}^{0} + \frac{1}{4}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda} \Big(2\{F_{\rho i}^{0}, F_{\sigma j}^{0}\} + \{\mathcal{D}_{\rho}^{0}F_{ij}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}\} - \{A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma}F_{ij}^{0}\}\Big), \quad (3.6.11)$$
$$T_{ij}^{\mu} = -2ia\delta_{n}^{\mu}F_{ij}^{0}, \qquad (3.6.12)$$

$$F_{nj} = F_{nj}^{0} - \frac{ia}{2} \mathcal{D}^{\mu 0} F_{\mu j}^{0} + \frac{1}{4} C_{\lambda}^{\rho \sigma} x^{\lambda} \Big(2\{F_{\rho m}^{0}, F_{\sigma j}^{0}\} + \{\mathcal{D}_{\rho}^{0} F_{n j}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}\} - \{A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma} F_{n j}^{0}\} \Big),$$
(3.6.13)

$$T^{\mu}_{nj} = -ia\eta^{\mu l}F^{0}_{lj} - ia\delta^{\mu}_{n}F^{0}_{nj}.$$
(3.6.14)

⁷The enveloping algebra of covariant derivatives is the algebra freely generated by derivatives \mathcal{D}_{ρ} and divided by the ideal generated by (3.6.1).

Now we have all the ingredients to write both Lagrangians for the matter and gauge field. The dynamics of the gauge field can be formulated using the tensor $F^{\mu\nu}$

> $\mathcal{L}_{\text{gauge}} = c \operatorname{Tr} \left(F^{\mu\nu} \star F_{\mu\nu} \right).$ (3.6.15)

Note, however, that Tr
$$(F_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\mu\nu})$$
 is not invariant because of the *-product in (3.6.15) but

$$\delta_{\alpha} \mathcal{L}_{\text{gauge}} = i [\Lambda_{\alpha} \stackrel{*}{,} \mathcal{L}_{\text{gauge}}].$$
(3.6.16)

The Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{gauge} gives the action (formulated with an integral with the trace property, see the next chapter) which is gauge invariant. The trace will depend on the representation of the generators T^a because higher products of the generators will enter through the enveloping algebra. Expanding (3.6.15) up to first order in a and choosing, in analogy with the undeformed theory $c = -\frac{1}{4}$, we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{gauge}} = -\frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}(F_{\mu\nu}^{0} F^{0\mu\nu}) -\frac{i}{8} C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} \text{Tr}\left((\mathcal{D}_{\rho}^{0} F^{0\mu\nu})(\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}^{0} F_{\mu\nu}^{0}) + \frac{i}{2} \{A_{\rho}^{0}, (\partial_{\sigma} + \mathcal{D}_{\sigma}^{0})(F^{0\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu}^{0})\} -i \{F^{0\mu\nu}, \{F_{\mu\rho}^{0}, F_{\nu\sigma}^{0}\}\}\right)$$
(3.6.17)

$$+\frac{ia}{4}\operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathcal{D}_{n}^{0}(F^{0\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}^{0})-\{(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{0}F^{0\mu j}),F_{nj}^{0}\}\right),\tag{3.6.18}$$

where $\mathcal{D}^0_{\mu}\psi = \partial_{\mu}\psi - iA^0_{\mu}\psi$ and $\mathcal{D}^0_{\mu}F^0_{\alpha\beta} = \partial_{\mu}F^0_{\alpha\beta} - i[A^0_{\mu}, F^0_{\alpha\beta}].$ The Lagrangian for the matter field is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}} = \bar{\psi} \star (i\gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{D}_{\mu} - m) \psi \qquad (3.6.19)$$

and

$$\delta_{\alpha} \mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}} = 0. \tag{3.6.20}$$

Expanded up to first order in a (3.6.19) gives

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}} = \bar{\psi}^{0} (i \gamma^{\mu} (\partial_{\mu} - i A^{0}_{\mu}) - m) \psi^{0} + \frac{i}{2} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\overline{\mathcal{D}}^{0}_{\rho} \psi^{0}) \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} (i \gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu} - m) \psi^{0} - \frac{i}{2} x^{\nu} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\nu} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} F^{0}_{\mu\rho} (\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} \psi^{0}). + \frac{a}{2} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{j} (\mathcal{D}^{0}_{n} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{j} \psi^{0}) + \frac{a}{2} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{n} (\mathcal{D}^{0}_{j} \mathcal{D}^{0j} \psi^{0}).$$
(3.6.21)

These are the Lagrangians which define the dynamics on the κ -deformed space. In the next chapter we formulate the action from these Lagrangians.

4

U(1) gauge theory on the κ -deformed space

In this chapter we focus on the U(1) gauge theory. We would like to come from the Lagrangians obtained in the previous chapter to the action which is necessary if one wants to analyse the properties of the given theory. To be able to write the action one needs a definition of an integral. Therefore, we first define an integral for the κ -deformed space (we continue to work in the \star -product approach) and formulate the variational principle. Having these two things at hand we write the action for the U(1) gauge theory coupled to fermions, κ -deformed electrodynamics, and analyse some of its properties. The U(1) gauge theory has been chosen for its simplicity, but the same approach is possible for nonabelian gauge theories as well. Calculations are presented up to first order in the deformation parameter but in some cases the results can be generalised to all orders. We say explicitly which results are and which are not known to all orders.

4.1 Integral and the variational principle

An integral is a linear map of the algebra \mathcal{A}_x into complex numbers

$$\int : \quad \mathcal{A}_x \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}, \tag{4.1.1}$$

$$\int (c_1 f + c_2 g) = c_1 \int f + c_2 \int g, \quad \forall f, g \in \mathcal{A}_x, \quad c_i \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(4.1.2)

However, there is one additional property we demand, the cyclicity. The motivation for this requirement can be given easily. The transformation law of the field-strength tensor $F_{\mu\nu} = F^a_{\mu\nu}T^a$ (for generality we are still considering nonabelian gauge theory) is

$$\delta_{\alpha}F_{\mu\nu} = i[\Lambda_{\alpha} * F_{\mu\nu}]. \tag{4.1.3}$$

The Yang-Mills action is given by

$$S_{YM} = -\frac{1}{4} \text{Tr} \int d^{n+1} x \ F_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.1.4)$$

where for the moment $\int d^{n+1}x$ is the usual commutative integral. Using (4.1.3) we obtain

$$\delta_{\alpha}S_{YM} = \delta_{\alpha} \left(-\frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr} \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \; F_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\mu\nu} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr} \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \; \left(i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star F_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\mu\nu} - iF_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\mu\nu} \star \Lambda_{\alpha} \right). \tag{4.1.5}$$

If we would have the usual pointwise product in (4.1.5), then cyclicly permuting under the trace would lead to $\delta_{\alpha}S_{YM} = 0$. Unfortunately, we cannot do the same here since the \star -product is noncommutative. One way to repair this (if it is the only way we are not sure) is to demand one additional property of the integral called cyclicity

$$\int d^{n+1}x \left(f(x) \star g(x) \right) = \int d^{n+1}x \left(g(x) \star f(x) \right) = \int d^{n+1}x \left(f(x)g(x) \right).$$
(4.1.6)

From (4.1.6) it follows

$$\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \left(f_1 \star f_2 \star \dots \star f_k\right) = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \left(f_k \star f_1 \star f_2 \star \dots \star f_{k-1}\right), \tag{4.1.7}$$

that is cyclic permutations under the integral are allowed. Then $\delta_{\alpha}S_{YM} = 0$ follows form (4.1.5).

So far the discussion has been general, the \star -product in (4.1.6) has not been specified. Since we are interested in the κ -deformed space, we now use the \star -product (2.4.4), expand it up to first order in *a* and check if (4.1.6) is fulfilled

$$\int d^{n+1}x (f \star g) = \int d^{n+1}x \left(fg + \frac{i}{2} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\partial_{\alpha} f) (\partial_{\beta} g) \right)$$
$$= \int d^{n+1}x \left(fg + \frac{i}{2} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda} \partial_{\beta} \left(x^{\lambda} (\partial_{\alpha} f) g \right) - \frac{i}{2} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\beta} (\partial_{\alpha} f) g - \frac{i}{2} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} f) g \right)$$
$$= \int d^{n+1}x \left(fg - \frac{i}{2} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\beta} (\partial_{\alpha} f) g \right) \neq \int d^{n+1}x fg.$$

We see that the usual integral is not suitable for defining the action¹. Expanding the \star -product to higher orders only gives new terms on the left-hand side in the last line and the conclusion stays the same. Nevertheless, one can modify the usual integral by adding the measure function [88], [89] such that

$$\int d^{n+1}x \,\mu(x) \,(f \star g) = \int d^{n+1}x \,\mu(x) \,(g \star f) = \int d^{n+1}x \,\mu(x) \,(fg). \tag{4.1.8}$$

Note that $\mu(x)$ is not \star -multiplied with other functions, it is a part of the volume element. Expanding (4.1.8) up to first order in the deformation parameter gives

$$\int d^{n+1}x \,\mu\left(f \star g\right) = \int d^{n+1}x \,\mu\left(fg + \frac{i}{2}C_{\lambda}^{\alpha\beta}x^{\lambda}(\partial_{\alpha}f)(\partial_{\beta}g)\right)$$
$$= \int d^{n+1}x \left(\mu fg - \frac{i}{2}C_{\lambda}^{\alpha\beta}x^{\lambda}(\partial_{\beta}\mu)(\partial_{\alpha}f)g - \frac{i}{2}C_{\beta}^{\alpha\beta}\mu(\partial_{\alpha}f)g\right)$$
$$\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \int d^{n+1}x \,\mu fg.$$

¹In the case of the θ -deformed space, that is the Moyal-Weyl \star -product the usual integral fulfils (4.1.6). We use this in the last chapter when constructing the deformed Einstein-Hilbert action on this space.

Using the explicit form for the structure constants $C_{\lambda}^{\alpha\beta}$ (2.1.2) from the last line follows

$$\partial_n \mu(x) = 0, \qquad x^j \partial_j \mu(x) = -n\mu(x). \tag{4.1.9}$$

Expanding the \star -product up to second order one sees that there are no new conditions on μ coming from the second order; this is valid for all orders. This result was also obtained in [90].

The solution of equations (4.1.9) is not unique. Some of the possibilities are

$$\mu = \frac{1}{x^0 \dots x^{n-1}}, \quad \mu = \frac{1}{\left((x^0)^2 \dots (x^{n-1})^2 \right)^{\frac{n-1}{2}}}, \quad \dots$$
(4.1.10)

The second problem that is obvious from (4.1.10) is that the measure function is singular at 0. However, after defining the Lagrangian density in such a way that it vanishes at zero we can choose a positive-definite measure function. Note also that the explicit form of μ is not required in any of the calculations later on, we use only relations (4.1.9) so the non-uniqueness of μ does not affect our results.

With this integral we define the action as follows:

$$S = \int d^{n+1}x \ \mu(x)\mathcal{L},$$

where \mathcal{L} is the Lagrangian density. From (4.1.9) we see that the measure function is *a*-independent and therefore it does not vanish in the $a \to 0$ limit. Since we want that our theory gives corrections to the classical one, we have to define the Lagrangian density such that

$$\lim_{a\to 0} \mu \mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}^0$$

Here \mathcal{L} is the effective Lagrangian density expanded in powers of the deformation parameter a, and \mathcal{L}^0 is the Lagrangian density of the corresponding undeformed field theory.

Having found the integral that fulfils (4.1.6) (or (4.1.8) equivalently), we define the variational principle. Namely, we can always bring the function to be varied to one side of the product under the integral and then vary it

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta g(x)} \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \,\mu \, f \star g \star h = \frac{\delta}{\delta g(x)} \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \,\mu \, g(h \star f) = \mu \, h \star f. \tag{4.1.11}$$

There is one more thing to be clarified before writing down the action. We know that the usual derivative is an antihermitian operator

$$\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1} x f(\partial_{\sigma} g) = -\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1} x(\partial_{\sigma} f) g$$

provided that functions $f, g \to 0$ at the boundary surface at infinity. Using the definition of the integral (4.1.8) however,

$$\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x\mu f(\partial_{\sigma}g) = -\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \big((\partial_{\sigma}\mu)f + \mu(\partial_{\sigma}f)\big)g \neq -\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x\mu(\partial_{\sigma}f)g,$$

since we have introduced the x-dependent measure function in the definition of the integral. If $\sigma = n$ then because of (4.1.9) there is no additional term and ∂_n is antihermitian. When $\sigma = j$ we introduce $\tilde{\partial}_j = \partial_j + \rho_j(x)$ such that

$$\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x\mu f(\tilde{\partial}_j g) = -\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x\mu(\tilde{\partial}_j f)g \qquad (4.1.12)$$

and from this requirement we calculate $\rho_j(x)$,

$$\int d^{n+1}x\mu f(\tilde{\partial}_j g) = \int d^{n+1}x\mu f(\partial_j g + \rho_j g)$$
$$= -\int d^{n+1}x\mu (\tilde{\partial}_j f)g - \int d^{n+1}x (\partial_j \mu - 2\mu\rho_j)fg.$$

From here it follows

$$\rho_j(x) = \frac{\partial_j \mu}{2\mu}.\tag{4.1.13}$$

In this way we obtain antihermitian derivatives compatible with the integral (4.1.8). Substituting

$$\partial_j \longrightarrow \tilde{\partial}_j = \partial_j + \frac{\partial_j \mu}{2\mu}, \ \partial_n \longrightarrow \tilde{\partial}_n = \partial_n$$

in (2.4.15) one obtains

$$\tilde{D}_{n}^{\star} = \left(\frac{1}{a}\sin(a\partial_{n}) - \frac{\cos(a\partial_{n}) - 1}{ia\partial_{n}^{2}}\tilde{\partial}_{l}\tilde{\partial}^{l}\right),$$
$$\tilde{D}_{j}^{\star} = \frac{e^{-ia\partial_{n}} - 1}{-ia\partial_{n}}\tilde{\partial}_{j}$$
(4.1.14)

and

$$\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1} x \mu \, \bar{f} \star (\tilde{D}^{\star}_{\sigma} \triangleright g) = -\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1} x \mu \, \overline{(\tilde{D}^{\star}_{\sigma} \triangleright f)} \star g. \tag{4.1.15}$$

Now one has to recalculate the Leibniz rules for this modified derivatives. We do this explicitly for \tilde{D}_{j}^{\star} ; for \tilde{D}_{n}^{\star} the calculation is analogous. From (4.1.13) follows

$$\partial_n \rho_j = 0, \quad x^l(\partial_l \rho_j) = -\rho_j$$

$$(4.1.16)$$

and from here and (2.4.7)

$$\rho_j \star f = \rho_j \frac{e^{ia\partial_n} - 1}{ia\partial_n} f, \quad f \star \rho_j = \rho_j \frac{e^{-ia\partial_n} - 1}{-ia\partial_n} f. \tag{4.1.17}$$

Then

$$\tilde{D}_{j}^{\star} \triangleright (f \star g) = \frac{e^{-ia\partial_{n}} - 1}{-ia\partial_{n}} (\partial_{j} + \rho_{j})(f \star g) = D_{j}^{\star} \triangleright (f \star g) + \rho_{j} \frac{e^{-ia\partial_{n}} - 1}{-ia\partial_{n}} (f \star g). \quad (4.1.18)$$

Using (4.1.17) we have

$$\rho_{j} \frac{e^{-ia\partial_{n}} - 1}{-ia\partial_{n}} (f \star g) = f \star g \star \rho_{j}$$

$$= f \star \rho_{j} \star g + f \star [g \star \rho_{j}]$$

$$= f \star \rho_{j} \star g + f \star \rho_{j} \star \left(\frac{2 - e^{ia\partial_{n}} - e^{-ia\partial_{n}}}{e^{ia\partial_{n}} - 1}g\right)$$

$$= f \star \rho_{j} \star (e^{-ia\partial_{n}}g) = f \star \left(\rho_{j} \frac{1 - e^{-ia\partial_{n}}}{ia\partial_{n}}g\right).$$

Inserting this result in (4.1.18) gives the Leibniz rule for \tilde{D}_j^{\star}

$$\tilde{D}_{j}^{\star}(f \star g) = (D_{j}^{\star} \triangleright f) \star (e^{-ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright g) + f \star (\tilde{D}_{j}^{\star} \triangleright g).$$

$$(4.1.19)$$

The Leibniz rule for \tilde{D}_n^{\star} is obtained in the similar way

$$\tilde{D}_{n}^{\star} \triangleright (f \star g) = (D_{n}^{\star} \triangleright f) \star (e^{-ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright g) + (e^{ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright f) \star (\tilde{D}_{n}^{\star} \triangleright g) -ia (D_{j}^{\star} \triangleright (e^{ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright f)) \star (\tilde{D}^{\star j} \triangleright g).$$

$$(4.1.20)$$

It is interesting to note that \tilde{D}^*_{σ} always acts on the last term in the product, function g in this case. We use this result in the next section when discussing the field-strength tensor.

4.2 Modified Seiberg-Witten map

In the previous chapter we have already solved the Seiberg-Witten map for a general nonabelian gauge theory on the κ -deformed space. Therefore, the solutions for the U(1) gauge theory immediately follow. However, our solution for the gauge field depends on the definition of the covariant derivative and this in turn on the choice of the derivative we want to gauge. Since we prefer to work with \tilde{D}^*_{μ} instead of D^*_{μ} because of (4.1.15), we have to modify the solutions for the gauge field V_{μ} obtained in the previous chapter.

Once again we start from the covariant derivative $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu} = \tilde{D}_{\mu}^{\star} - i\tilde{V}_{\mu}$ and its transformation law

$$\delta_{\alpha} \Big(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu} \psi(x) \Big) = i \Lambda_{\alpha}(x) \star \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu} \psi(x).$$
(4.2.1)

From (4.2.1) it follows

$$\delta \tilde{V}_{\mu} \star \psi = \tilde{D}_{\mu}^{\star} \triangleright \left(\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \psi\right) - \Lambda_{\alpha} \star \left(\tilde{D}_{\mu}^{\star} \triangleright \psi\right) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \tilde{V}_{\mu} \star \psi - i\tilde{V}_{\mu} \star \left(\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \psi\right).$$
(4.2.2)

Again, it is more convenient to separate the *n*th and the *j*th components of (4.2.2).

First we look at the *j*th component. Using the Leibniz rule for D_j^{\star} (4.1.19), we obtain

$$\delta_{\alpha}\tilde{V}_{j}\star\psi = (D_{j}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha})\star \left(e^{-ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright \psi\right) + i\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\tilde{V}_{j}\star\psi - i\tilde{V}_{j}\star(\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\psi).$$

$$(4.2.3)$$

Inserting the ansatz

$$\tilde{V}_j = \tilde{A}_j \star e^{-ia\partial_n} \tag{4.2.4}$$

in (4.2.3) leads to

$$\delta_{\alpha}\tilde{A}_{j} = (D_{j}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \tilde{A}_{j} - i\tilde{A}_{j} \star (e^{-ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}).$$

$$(4.2.5)$$

Expanding \tilde{A}_j field in the deformation parameter *a*:

$$\tilde{A}_j = \tilde{A}_j^0 + \tilde{A}_j^1 + \dots$$

and using the solution for the gauge parameter Λ_{α} (3.4.10) gives the solution for \tilde{V}_j up to first order in a

$$\tilde{V}_{j} = A_{j}^{0} - iaA_{j}^{0}\partial_{n} - \frac{ia}{2}\partial_{n}A_{j}^{0} - \frac{a}{4}\{A_{n}^{0}, A_{j}^{0}\} + \frac{1}{4}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda}\Big(\{F_{\rho j}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}\} - \{A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma}A_{j}^{0}\}\Big).$$
(4.2.6)

One notices that this solution is the same as (3.5.12). This is to be expected, because the \tilde{V}_i field is only ∂_n derivative-valued and ∂_n is not modified.

Next, we look at the *n*th component of equation (4.2.2). Using the Leibniz rule for \tilde{D}_n^{\star} (4.1.20) leads to

$$\delta_{\alpha}\tilde{V}_{n}\star\psi = (D_{n}^{\star}\triangleright\Lambda_{\alpha})\star(e^{-ia\partial_{n}}\triangleright\psi) + \left((e^{ia\partial_{n}}-1)\triangleright\Lambda_{\alpha}\right)\star(\tilde{D}_{n}^{\star}\triangleright\psi)$$
$$-ia(D_{j}^{\star}\triangleright(e^{ia\partial_{n}}\triangleright\Lambda_{\alpha}))\star(\tilde{D}^{\star j}\triangleright\psi) + i\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\tilde{V}_{n}\star\psi - i\tilde{V}_{n}\star(\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\psi).(4.2.7)$$

We make the following ansatz

$$\tilde{V}_n = \tilde{A}_{1n} \star e^{-ia\partial_n} + \tilde{A}_{2n} \star \tilde{D}_n^\star + \tilde{A}_{3n}^l \star \tilde{D}_l^\star$$
(4.2.8)

and insert it in equation (4.2.7). Collecting terms proportional to $\star e^{-ia\partial_n}\psi$, $\star \tilde{D}_n^{\star}\psi$ and $\star \tilde{D}_l^{\star}\psi$ we obtain the transformation laws for the fields \tilde{A}_{1n} , \tilde{A}_{2n} and \tilde{A}_{3n}^l respectively

$$\delta_{\alpha}\tilde{A}_{1n} = (D_{n}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \tilde{A}_{1n} - i\tilde{A}_{1n} \star (e^{-ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) -i\tilde{A}_{2n} \star (D_{n}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) - i\tilde{A}_{3n}^{l} \star (D_{l}^{\star} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}), \delta_{\alpha}\tilde{A}_{2n} = ((e^{ia\partial_{n}} - 1) \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \tilde{A}_{2n} - i\tilde{A}_{2n} \star (e^{ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}), \delta_{\alpha}\tilde{A}_{3n}^{l} = -ia(\partial^{\star l} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}) + i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \tilde{A}_{3n}^{l} - i\tilde{A}_{3n}^{l} \star \Lambda_{\alpha} - a\tilde{A}_{2n} \star (\partial^{\star l} \triangleright \Lambda_{\alpha}).$$
(4.2.9)

Up to first order in a the solutions of these equations are

$$\begin{split} \tilde{A}_{1n} &= A_n^0 - \frac{a}{2} \Big(i \partial_j A^{0j} + A_j^0 A^{0j} \Big) + \frac{1}{4} C_\lambda^{\rho\sigma} x^\lambda \Big(\{ F_{\rho n}^0, A_\sigma^0 \} - \{ A_\rho^0, \partial_\sigma A_n^0 \} \Big), \\ \tilde{A}_{2n} &= i a A_n^0, \\ \tilde{A}_{3n}^j &= -i a A^{0j}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\tilde{V}_{n} = A_{n}^{0} - iaA^{0j}\tilde{\partial}_{j} - \frac{ia}{2}\partial_{j}A^{0j} - \frac{a}{2}A_{j}^{0}A^{0j} + \frac{1}{4}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda}\Big(\{F_{\rho n}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}\} - \{A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma}A_{n}^{0}\}\Big).$$
(4.2.10)

Comparing this solution with the solution for V_n (3.5.35), one sees that the only difference is in the term $-iaA^{0j}\tilde{\partial}_j$. This is obviously the consequence of modifying derivatives. As the next step we construct the field-strength tensor. It is defined as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = i[\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu} \stackrel{*}{,} \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\nu}]. \tag{4.2.11}$$

Applying this to the field ψ gives

$$\mathcal{F}_{ij} = \left((D_i^* \triangleright V_j) - (D_j^* \triangleright V_i) - iV_i \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_j) + iV_j \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_i) \right) \star e^{-2ia\partial_n}, \quad (4.2.12)$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{nj} = F_{nj1} \star e^{-2ia\partial_n} + F_{nj2} \star e^{-ia\partial_n} \tilde{D}_n^\star + F_{nj3}^l \star e^{-ia\partial_n} \tilde{D}_l^\star, \qquad (4.2.13)$$

where

$$\begin{split} F_{nj1} &= (D_n^{\star} \triangleright V_j) - (D_j^{\star} \triangleright V_{n1}) - iV_{n1} \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_j) + iV_j \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_{n1}) \\ &-iV_{n3}^l \star (D_l^{\star} \triangleright V_j) - iV_{n2} \star (D_n^{\star} \triangleright V_j), \\ F_{nj2} &= \left((e^{ia\partial_n} - 1) \triangleright V_j \right) - (D_j^{\star} \triangleright V_{n2}) - iV_{n2} \star (e^{ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_j) + iV_j \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_{n2}), \\ F_{nj3}^l &= -ia(\partial^{\star l} \triangleright V_j) - (D_j^{\star} \triangleright V_{n3}^l) - aV_{n2} \star (\partial^{\star l} \triangleright V_j) - iV_{n3}^l \star V_j + V_j \star (e^{-ia\partial_n} \triangleright V_{n3}^l), \end{split}$$

just like in (3.6.5)-(3.6.7).

Again we split $\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}$ into the curvature-like terms and torsion-like terms ²

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = F_{\mu\nu} + T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\rho} + \dots + T^{\rho_1\dots\rho_l}_{\mu\nu} : \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\rho_1}\dots\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\rho_l} : + \dots$$
 (4.2.14)

Expanding (4.2.12) and (4.2.13) up to first order in a and rewriting them in form (4.2.14) gives

$$F_{ij} = F_{ij}^{0} - ia\mathcal{D}_{n}^{0}F_{ij}^{0} + \frac{1}{4}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda} \Big(2\{F_{\rho i}^{0}, F_{\sigma j}^{0}\} + \{\mathcal{D}_{\rho}^{0}F_{ij}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}\} - \{A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma}F_{ij}^{0}\}\Big),$$

$$T_{ij}^{\mu} = -2ia\delta_{n}^{\mu}F_{ij}^{0},$$

$$F_{nj} = F_{nj}^{0} - \frac{ia}{2}\mathcal{D}^{\mu0}F_{\mu j}^{0}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda} \Big(2\{F_{\rho n}^{0}, F_{\sigma j}^{0}\} + \{\mathcal{D}_{\rho}^{0}F_{nj}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}\} - \{A_{\rho}^{0}, \partial_{\sigma}F_{nj}^{0}\}\Big),$$

$$T_{nj}^{\mu} = -ia\eta^{\mu l}F_{lj}^{0} - ia\delta_{n}^{\mu}F_{nj}^{0}.$$
(4.2.15)

These results are the same as (3.6.11)-(3.6.14). Actually, we checked this up to second order in a, and because of the structure of equations (4.2.12), (4.2.13), (4.1.19) and (4.1.20), we expect that this holds to all orders in a. As in the action for the gauge field only the curvature-like term is used³, from equations (4.2.15) we see that the modification of the derivatives does not affect the gauge part of the action.

 $^{^2\}mathrm{Note}$ that now the torsion-like terms are defined to be coefficients in front of the modified covariant derivatives.

³That we use only the curvature-like term in the action is the matter of choice. In principle, one can also include terms depending on the torsion-like terms.

4.3 The action for the κ -deformed electrodynamics

Now we concentrate on the U(1) gauge theory coupled to fermions. For convenience we list the solutions of the Seiberg-Witten map for the gauge parameter Λ_{α} , gauge field \tilde{V}_{μ} and matter filed ψ in the case of U(1) gauge group

$$\Lambda_{\alpha} = \alpha - \frac{1}{2} C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} A_{\rho}^{0}(\partial_{\sigma} \alpha), \qquad (4.3.1)$$

$$\psi = \psi^0 - \frac{1}{2} C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} A_{\rho}^0(\partial_{\sigma} \psi^0), \qquad (4.3.2)$$

$$\tilde{V}_{j} = A_{j}^{0} - iaA_{j}^{0}\partial_{n} - \frac{ia}{2}\partial_{n}A_{j}^{0} - \frac{a}{2}A_{n}^{0}A_{j}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda} \Big(2(\partial_{\rho}A_{j}^{0}) - (\partial_{j}A_{\rho}^{0})\Big)A_{\sigma}^{0},
\tilde{V}_{n} = A_{n}^{0} - iaA^{0j}\tilde{\partial}_{j} - \frac{ia}{2}\partial_{j}A^{0j} - \frac{a}{2}A_{j}^{0}A^{0j} + \frac{1}{2}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda} \Big(2(\partial_{\rho}A_{n}^{0}) - (\partial_{n}A_{\rho}^{0})\Big)A_{\sigma}^{0}, \quad (4.3.3)$$

$$F_{ij} = F_{ij}^{0} - ia\partial_{n}F_{ij}^{0} + C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda} \Big(F_{\rho i}^{0}F_{\sigma j}^{0} + (\partial_{\rho}F_{ij}^{0})A_{\sigma}^{0}\Big), \qquad ia$$

$$F_{nj} = F_{nj}^{0} - \frac{ia}{2} \partial^{\mu} F_{\mu j}^{0} + C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} \Big(F_{\rho n}^{0} F_{\sigma j}^{0} + (\partial_{\rho} F_{n j}^{0}) A_{\sigma}^{0} \Big).$$
(4.3.4)

4.3.1 Matter field action

First we look at the action for the matter field without gauge symmetry. A proper action for the spinor field $\tilde{\psi}$ would be:

$$S_m = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \,\mu \,\overline{\tilde{\psi}} \star \left(i\gamma^{\sigma} \tilde{D}^{\star}_{\sigma} \triangleright \tilde{\psi} - m\tilde{\psi} \right), \tag{4.3.5}$$

where $\tilde{D}_{\sigma}^{\star}$ is given in (4.1.14). Varying (4.3.5) with respect to $\overline{\psi}$ using (4.1.11) we obtain

$$\mu \left(i\gamma^{\sigma} \tilde{D}^{\star}_{\sigma} \triangleright \tilde{\psi} - m\tilde{\psi} \right) = 0.$$
(4.3.6)

The classical limit of this equation is

$$\mu(i\gamma^{\sigma}\tilde{\partial}_{\sigma}-m)\tilde{\psi}=0,$$

since μ and ρ_j are *a*-independent. In order to correct this (like we have said before, we want to have a theory with the good classical limit) we notice that

$$\tilde{\partial}_j(\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}f) = (\partial_j + \rho_j)(\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}f) = \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\partial_j f)$$
(4.3.7)

and as a consequence

$$\tilde{D}_{\sigma}^{\star}\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} = \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}D_{\sigma}^{\star}.$$
(4.3.8)

This suggests that we can rescale the field ψ

 $\tilde{\psi} = \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi. \tag{4.3.9}$

Inserting (4.3.9) into (4.3.6) gives, after using (4.3.8)

$$i\gamma^{\sigma}D^{\star}_{\sigma} \triangleright \psi - m\psi = 0, \qquad (4.3.10)$$

which has the proper classical limit.

The other way to obtain (4.3.10) is to insert (4.3.9) in the action (4.3.5) directly

$$S_{m} = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \,\mu \left(\overline{\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi}\right) \star \left(i\gamma^{\sigma}\tilde{D}_{\sigma}^{\star} \triangleright \left(\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi\right) - m\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi\right)$$
$$= \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \,\mu \left(\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\overline{\psi}\right) \left(i\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\gamma^{\sigma}(D_{\sigma}^{\star} \triangleright \psi) - m\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi\right)$$
$$= \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \,\overline{\psi} \left(i\gamma^{\lambda}D_{\lambda}^{\star} \triangleright \psi - m\psi\right), \qquad (4.3.11)$$

where coming from the first to the second line we used (4.1.8) and (4.3.8). The equation of motion following from this action is exactly (4.3.10).

Now we write the gauge covariant version of (4.3.5)

$$S_{m} = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1} x \, \mu \left(\tilde{\bar{\psi}} \star (i\gamma^{\mu}\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu} - m)\tilde{\psi} \right)$$
$$= \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1} x \, \mu \left(\tilde{\bar{\psi}} \star \left(i\gamma^{\mu}\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu}^{\star} \triangleright \tilde{\psi} + \gamma^{\mu}\tilde{V}_{\mu} \star \tilde{\psi} - m\tilde{\psi} \right) \right). \tag{4.3.12}$$

Using the variational principle we obtain the equation of motion for the matter field $\tilde{\psi}$:

$$\mu \left(i \gamma^{\mu} \tilde{D}^{\star}_{\mu} \triangleright \tilde{\psi} + \gamma^{\mu} \tilde{V}_{\mu} \star \tilde{\psi} - m \tilde{\psi} \right) = 0.$$
(4.3.13)

Again we have the same problem, equation (4.3.13) does not have the proper classical limit. Unfortunately, we can not use (4.3.9) now since this rescaling is not compatible with the Seiberg-Witten map. Namely, if $\delta_{\alpha}\psi = i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \psi$ then

$$\delta_{\alpha}\tilde{\psi} = \delta_{\alpha}(\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi) = i\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\psi) \neq i\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\tilde{\psi},$$

since the \star -product is noncommutative and the action (4.3.12) will not be gauge invariant.

Nevertheless, demanding

$$\delta_{\alpha}\tilde{\psi} = i\Lambda_{\alpha}\star\tilde{\psi}$$

one redoes the Seiberg-Witten map for the field $\tilde{\psi}$, but this time taking the solution in $a \to 0$ limit to be $\tilde{\psi}^0 = \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} \psi^0$ instead of ψ^0 . This is allowed by the transformation law $\delta_{\alpha} \tilde{\psi}^0 = i \alpha \tilde{\psi}^0$. Repeating the same calculation as in the previous chapter⁴ we find the following solution

$$\tilde{\psi} = \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi^0 - \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\frac{1}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}A^0_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\psi^0 - \frac{na}{4}\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}A^0_n\psi^0.$$
(4.3.14)

The additional term arises as the consequence of requesting that the $a \to 0$ limit of the solution for $\tilde{\psi}$ field is $\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi^0$. This we might call the "covariant rescaling".

$$\psi = \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\psi^{0} - \frac{1}{2}\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda}A_{\rho}^{0}\partial_{\sigma}\psi^{0} + \frac{i}{8}\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda}[A_{\rho}^{0}, A_{\sigma}^{0}]\psi^{0} - \frac{na}{4}\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}A_{n}^{0}\psi^{0}.$$

⁴In (4.3.14) we wrote the solution for $\tilde{\psi}$ field in the case of U(1) gauge group. Nevertheless, one can calculate the solution in the case of an arbitrary nonabelian gauge group, first order result is

Now we insert (4.3.14) and (4.3.3) in (4.3.13) and expand the Dirac derivatives up to first order in a as well. The equation of motion up to first order in a follows

$$(i\gamma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu} - m)\psi^{0} - \frac{1}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}\gamma_{\rho}\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}\mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^{0} - \frac{i}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\gamma^{\mu}F^{0}_{\mu\rho}(\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}\psi^{0}) - \frac{i}{4}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\sigma}\gamma^{\mu}F^{0}_{\mu\rho}\psi^{0} = 0.$$
(4.3.15)

The equation of motion for $\bar{\psi}$ is obtained analogously, one varies the action with respect to the field $\tilde{\psi}$, rescales the field $\bar{\tilde{\psi}}$ and expands the Dirac derivatives. The result is

$$-i\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}\psi^{0}}\gamma^{\mu} - m\bar{\psi}^{0} - \frac{1}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}\mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^{0}}\gamma_{\rho} + \frac{i}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}\psi^{0}}\gamma^{\mu}F^{0}_{\mu\rho} + \frac{i}{4}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\sigma}\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\mu}F^{0}_{\mu\rho} = 0.$$
(4.3.16)

We see that (4.3.16) is the hermitian conjugate of (4.3.15) (and vice versa) as expected.

But we are also interested in the effective action for fermions up to first order in a. Let us write the action (4.3.12) with all the derivatives explicitly, using (4.2.4) and (4.2.8):

$$S_{m} = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \,\mu \left(\tilde{\psi} \star (i\gamma^{\mu}\tilde{D}_{\mu}^{\star} \triangleright \tilde{\psi} - m\tilde{\psi}) + \tilde{\psi} \star \gamma^{\mu}V_{\mu 1} \star (e^{-ia\partial_{n}} \triangleright \tilde{\psi}) + \tilde{\psi} \star \gamma^{n}V_{n 2} \star (\tilde{D}_{n}^{\star} \triangleright \tilde{\psi}) + \tilde{\psi} \star \gamma^{n}V_{n 3} \star (\tilde{D}_{j}^{\star} \triangleright \tilde{\psi})\right).$$

$$(4.3.17)$$

Now we repeat the calculation leading to (4.3.11). We omit one \star in (4.3.17), rescale the fermionic fields using (4.3.14) and finally insert the solutions for the Seiberg-Witten map for the gauge field and obtain up to first order in a^5

$$S_{m} = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1} x \Big(\bar{\psi}^{0} (i \gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu} - m) \psi^{0} - \frac{1}{4} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} F^{0}_{\rho\sigma} (i \gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu} - m) \psi^{0}$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma_{\rho} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^{0} - \frac{i}{2} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} F^{0}_{\mu\rho} (\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} \psi^{0}) - \frac{i}{4} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\sigma} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} F^{0}_{\mu\rho} \psi^{0} \Big).$$

$$(4.3.18)$$

It might not be obvious but the action (4.3.18) is hermitian.

Since the integral in (4.3.18) is the usual integral, applying the variational principle to (4.3.18) leads to the usual Euler-Lagrange equation of motion⁶

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\psi)} - \partial_{\mu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\mu}\psi)} + \frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial\psi} = 0.$$
(4.3.19)

Using (4.3.19) the equations of motion for the fields $\bar{\psi}$ and ψ follow from (4.3.18). They are the same as (4.1.14) and (4.3.16) so we do not write them again.

⁵The covariant derivative \mathcal{D}^0_{μ} is the usual covariant derivative for the undeformed U(1) gauge field theory, $\mathcal{D}^0_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - iA^0_{\mu}$. ⁶Note that in (4.3.18) the Lagrangian density depends on the second derivatives of fields as well.

4.3.2 Gauge field action

Our first guess for the gauge field action is

$$S_g = -\frac{1}{4} \int d^{n+1}x \ \mu \ \text{Tr} \left(F_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\mu\nu} \right). \tag{4.3.20}$$

To check if this is a good guess we look shortly at the equations of motion following from (4.3.20).

If the matter field is not present, the equation of motion for the gauge field is

$$\mu \Big(\partial_{\mu} F^{0\mu\rho} + \text{ higher order terms} \Big) = 0, \qquad (4.3.21)$$

that is

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{0\mu\rho} + \text{ higher order terms } = 0,$$
 (4.3.22)

since μ is a nonzero function. Equation (4.3.22) has the proper classical limit.

Now we add matter field to this action, that is we consider the theory described by the action

$$S = S_m + S_q, \tag{4.3.23}$$

where S_m is given by (4.3.18). The equation of motion for the gauge field follows from

$$\frac{\delta(S_g + S_m)}{\delta A_\rho^0} = 0, \qquad (4.3.24)$$

$$\mu \Big(\partial_{\mu} F^{0\mu\rho} + \text{ higher order terms } \Big) = -(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\rho}\psi + \text{ higher order terms }).$$
(4.3.25)

Looking at the classical limit of this equation one finds

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{0\mu\rho} = -\frac{1}{\mu}\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\rho}\psi, \qquad (4.3.26)$$

which is obviously not the classical equation. Therefore, we have to cancel the measure⁷ under the integral in (4.3.20). The covariant rescaling will not work here. To be more precise, it might work for the U(1) gauge theory since $F^0_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A^0_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^0_{\mu}$. Then one would rescale the gauge field in a proper way and obtain the rescaling of the field-strength tensor such that it cancels the measure under the integral. But for the general nonabelian gauge theory we have $F^0_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A^0_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^0_{\mu} - i[A^0_{\mu}, A^0_{\nu}]$. Since $F^0_{\mu\nu}$ consists of both linear and quadratic terms in A^0_{μ} , one cannot rescale the gauge field and obtain the rescaling of the field-strength tensor as well. Since we would like to have a procedure how to write the action for a general nonabelian gauge theory on the κ -deformed space, we do not consider the possibility of covariant rescaling of the gauge field, but try to do something else instead.

⁷Leaving μ in (4.3.20) but also in (4.3.17) will not give the requested result since then the equations of motion for ψ and $\bar{\psi}$ will not have the proper limit because of the derivatives $\tilde{\partial}_j$ appearing.

In [91] the similar problem was analysed, namely the construction of the Yang-Mills action on the $E_q(2)$ -covariant plane. The solution was the following. One can write the action for the gauge field as

$$S_g = -\frac{1}{4} \int d^{n+1}x \ \mu(x) \ \text{Tr} \left(X \star F_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\mu\nu} \right), \qquad (4.3.27)$$

where X is the gauge covariant expression (so that the gauge invariance of the action is not spoiled)

$$\delta_{\alpha}X = i[\Lambda_{\alpha} \stackrel{\star}{,} X]. \tag{4.3.28}$$

In the $a \to 0$ limit X should cancel the measure μ under the integral, leading to the equation of motion with the good classical limit.

We take that approach here and calculate X from (4.3.28) in the case of U(1) gauge theory, having in mind that the generalisation to the nonabelian gauge theory is straightforward⁸. We obtain up to first order in a,

$$X = (1 - anA_n^0)\mu^{-1}.$$
(4.3.29)

Expanding (4.3.27) up to first order in a and using the solutions for the Seiberg-Witten map (4.3.4) and (4.3.29), the effective action for the gauge field follows

$$S_g = -\frac{1}{4} \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1} x \left(F^0_{\mu\nu} F^{0\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} F^{0\mu\nu} F^0_{\mu\nu} F^0_{\rho\sigma} + 2 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} F^{0\mu\nu} F^0_{\mu\rho} F^0_{\nu\sigma} \right).$$
(4.3.30)

4.3.3 Conserved currents

The complete action for the U(1) gauge theory coupled with matter is $S = S_m + S_g$. The equations of motion for the matter fields are given by (4.3.15) and (4.3.16). For the gauge field we have from (4.3.24)

$$-J^{\rho} = \partial_{\mu}F^{0\mu\rho} - \frac{1}{2}C^{\alpha\beta}_{\mu}F^{0\mu\rho}F^{0}_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{4}C^{\mu\rho}_{\mu}F^{0\alpha\beta}F^{0}_{\alpha\beta} + C^{\alpha\beta}_{\mu}F^{0\mu}_{\alpha}F^{0\rho}_{\beta} -C^{\alpha\rho}_{\mu}F^{0\beta\mu}F^{0}_{\alpha\beta} + C^{\alpha\mu}_{\mu}F^{0\beta\rho}F^{0}_{\alpha\beta} +C^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\partial_{\mu}\left(F^{0\mu}_{\alpha}F^{0\rho}_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}F^{0\mu\rho}F^{0}_{\alpha\beta}\right) - \frac{1}{4}C^{\mu\rho}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\partial_{\mu}(F^{0\alpha\beta}F^{0}_{\alpha\beta}) -C^{\alpha\rho}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\partial_{\mu}(F^{0\beta\mu}F^{0}_{\alpha\beta}) + C^{\alpha\mu}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\partial_{\mu}(F^{0\beta\rho}F^{0}_{\alpha\beta}).$$
(4.3.31)

The current J^{μ} is given by

$$J^{\rho} = \frac{\delta S_{m}}{\delta A_{\rho}^{0}} = -\partial_{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{m}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} A_{\rho}^{0})} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{m}}{\partial A_{\rho}^{0}}$$

$$= \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} \psi^{0} - \frac{1}{2} C_{\lambda}^{\alpha\beta} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} F_{\alpha\beta}^{0} \psi^{0} - C_{\lambda}^{\alpha\rho} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} F_{\mu\alpha}^{0} \psi^{0} - \frac{i}{2} C_{\lambda}^{\alpha\mu} \eta^{\lambda\rho} \overline{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu}^{0} \psi^{0} \gamma_{\alpha} \psi^{0}$$

$$- \frac{i}{2} C_{\mu}^{\alpha\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} (\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{0} \psi^{0}) + \frac{i}{2} C_{\mu}^{\alpha\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma_{\alpha} (\mathcal{D}^{0\mu} \psi^{0}) + \frac{i}{4} C_{\alpha}^{\alpha\mu} \left(\overline{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu}^{0} \psi^{0} \gamma^{\rho} \psi^{0} - \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{0} \psi^{0} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{i}{2} C_{\lambda}^{\alpha\mu} x^{\lambda} \overline{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu}^{0} \psi^{0} \gamma^{\rho} (\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{0} \psi^{0}). \qquad (4.3.32)$$

⁸The solution for X up to first order in a in the case of an arbitrary nonabelian group is the same as (4.3.29), the difference arises in the second and higher orders in a.

Using the equations of motion (4.3.15) and (4.3.16) one can show that the current (4.3.32) is conserved, $\partial_{\rho} J^{\rho} = 0$.

In the undeformed gauge theory the existence and the conservation of the current J^{ρ} are the consequences of the symmetry of the action with respect to the gauge transformations. One expects that the same applies here. To check this we calculate the variation of the action (4.3.18) for

$$\delta_{\alpha}\psi^{0} = i\alpha\psi^{0}, \quad \delta_{\alpha}\bar{\psi}^{0} = -i\alpha\bar{\psi}^{0}, \quad \delta_{\alpha}A^{0}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\alpha \quad \text{and} \ \delta_{\alpha}F^{0}_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
(4.3.33)

Since the action (4.3.18) depends on the second derivatives of the field ψ^0 and $\bar{\psi}^0$ and on the first derivatives of the gauge field A^0_{ρ} (unlike in the classical case), we have to derive the Nöther theorem from the beginning. We do it for the U(1) gauge symmetry.

$$\begin{split} \delta_{\alpha}S_{m} &= \delta_{\alpha}\int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x\,\mathcal{L}\Big(\psi^{0},\bar{\psi}^{0},\partial\psi^{0},\partial\bar{\psi}^{0},\partial^{2}\psi^{0},\partial^{2}\bar{\psi}^{0},A^{0}_{\rho},\partial A^{0}_{\rho}\Big)\\ \delta_{\alpha}\mathcal{L} &= \frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial\psi^{0}}\delta_{\alpha}\psi^{0} + \frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\mu}\psi^{0})}\delta_{\alpha}(\partial_{\mu}\psi^{0}) + \frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\psi^{0})}\delta_{\alpha}(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\psi^{0})\\ &+ (\delta_{\alpha}\bar{\psi}^{0})\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial\bar{\psi}^{0}} + (\delta_{\alpha}(\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}^{0}))\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}^{0})} + (\delta_{\alpha}(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\bar{\psi}^{0}))\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\bar{\psi}^{0})}\\ &+ \frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial A^{0}_{\mu}}\delta_{\alpha}A^{0}_{\mu} + \frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\nu}A^{0}_{\mu})}\delta_{\alpha}(\partial_{\nu}A^{0}_{\mu}). \end{split}$$
(4.3.34)

Inserting (4.3.33) into (4.3.34), using that $\delta_{\alpha}(\partial_{\mu}\psi^0) = \partial_{\mu}(\delta_{\alpha}\psi^0)$ and the equations of motion for the fields ψ^0 and $\bar{\psi}^0$ (4.3.19) gives (after partial integration)

$$\delta_{\alpha}S_m = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \left(\alpha(\partial_{\rho}j^{\rho}) + (\partial_{\rho}\alpha)M^{\rho} + (\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}\alpha)M^{\rho\mu} \right), \tag{4.3.35}$$

where

$$j^{\rho} = i \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\rho} \psi^{0})} \psi^{0} - \bar{\psi}^{0} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0})} - \left(\partial_{\nu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\nu} \partial_{\rho} \psi^{0})} \right) \psi^{0} + \bar{\psi}^{0} \left(\partial_{\nu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\nu} \partial_{\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0})} \right) + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\nu} \partial_{\rho} \psi^{0})} (\partial_{\nu} \psi^{0}) - (\partial_{\nu} \bar{\psi}^{0}) \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\nu} \partial_{\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0})} \right), \qquad (4.3.36)$$
$$M^{\rho} = i \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\rho} \psi^{0})} \psi^{0} - \bar{\psi}^{0} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\rho} \bar{\psi}^{0})} \right)$$

$$+2\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\psi^{0})}(\partial_{\nu}\psi^{0}) - 2(\partial_{\nu}\bar{\psi}^{0})\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\bar{\psi}^{0})} - i\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial A^{0}_{\rho}}\bigg), \qquad (4.3.37)$$

$$M^{\rho\mu} = i \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\rho} \partial_{\mu} \psi^{0})} \psi^{0} - \bar{\psi}^{0} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\rho} \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi}^{0})} - \frac{i}{2} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} A^{0}_{\rho})} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\rho} A^{0}_{\mu})} \right).$$
(4.3.38)

Since $\alpha(x)$, $\partial_{\rho}\alpha(x)$ and $\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}\alpha(x)$ are independent parameters (functions), then from the requirement that $\delta_{\alpha}S_m = 0$ we have

$$\partial_{\rho} j^{\rho} = 0, \qquad (4.3.39)$$

$$M^{\rho} = 0, (4.3.40)$$

$$M^{\rho\mu} = 0. (4.3.41)$$

Using the explicit form of the Lagrangian (4.3.18) one calculates that indeed $M^{\rho} = 0$, $M^{\rho\mu} = 0$, while for j^{ρ}

$$j^{\rho} = \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} \psi^{0} - \frac{1}{4} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} F^{0}_{\alpha\beta} \psi^{0} - \frac{1}{2} C^{\alpha\rho}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} F^{0}_{\mu\alpha} \psi^{0}$$

$$- \frac{i}{4} C^{\alpha\mu}_{\lambda} \eta^{\lambda\rho} \Big(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu} \psi^{0}} \gamma_{\alpha} \psi^{0} - \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma_{\alpha} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu} \psi^{0} \Big) - \frac{i}{4} C^{\alpha\rho}_{\lambda} \Big(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^{0}} \gamma_{\alpha} \psi^{0} - \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma_{\alpha} \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^{0} \Big).$$

$$(4.3.42)$$

Comparing this result with (4.3.32) it looks as there are two conserved currents in the theory. We first check if the difference $\Delta^{\rho} = J^{\rho} - j^{\rho}$ is a topological current, that is one proves that it is conserved without using the equations of motion (off-shell). To do this, we rewrite the difference of (4.3.32) and (4.3.42) more conveniently

$$\Delta^{\rho} = J^{\rho} - j^{\rho} = \frac{i}{4} \Big(C^{\alpha\rho}_{\lambda} \eta^{\lambda\mu} - C^{\alpha\mu}_{\lambda} \eta^{\lambda\rho} \Big) \partial_{\mu} (\bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma_{\alpha} \psi^{0}) + \frac{1}{2} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} \partial_{\beta} (\bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} A^{0}_{\alpha} \psi^{0}) - \frac{1}{2} C^{\alpha\rho}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} (\partial_{\mu} A^{0}_{\alpha}) \psi^{0} + \frac{i}{2} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} \partial_{\beta} (\bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} (\partial_{\alpha} \psi^{0})) + \frac{1}{2} C^{\alpha\rho}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} (\partial_{\alpha} A^{0}_{\mu}) \psi^{0} - \frac{i}{2} C^{\alpha\rho}_{\mu} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} (\partial_{\alpha} \psi^{0} - i A^{0}_{\alpha} \psi^{0}) + \frac{1}{2} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\beta} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} A^{0}_{\alpha} \psi^{0} - \frac{i}{4} C^{\alpha\beta}_{\beta} \partial_{\alpha} (\bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} \psi^{0}) + \frac{i}{2} C^{\alpha\mu}_{\mu} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\rho} (\partial_{\alpha} \psi^{0}).$$

$$(4.3.43)$$

If one wants to check now if $\partial_{\rho}\Delta^{\rho} = 0,^{9}$ one observes the following

$$\partial_{\rho}\Delta^{\rho} = \frac{i}{2}C^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\beta}\left(\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\rho}(\partial_{\alpha}\psi^{0})\right) + \frac{1}{2}C^{\alpha\rho}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\partial_{\rho}\left(\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\mu}(\partial_{\alpha}A^{0}_{\mu})\psi^{0}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{2}C^{\alpha\rho}_{\rho}\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\mu}(\partial_{\alpha}A^{0}_{\mu})\psi^{0} + \frac{i}{2}C^{\alpha\rho}_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}\left(\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\mu}(\partial_{\alpha}\psi)\right).$$
(4.3.44)

Here we have cancelled all the terms we could without using explicitly the equations of motion. First term in (4.3.43) is a real topological term; to cancel the others we used that $\partial_{\rho}(\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\rho}\psi^{0}) = 0$. To cancel the terms in (4.3.44) we have to use the zeroth order equations of motion for the fields ψ^{0} and $\bar{\psi}^{0}$, but not the equation of motion for the field A^{0}_{μ} . Therefore, Δ^{ρ} is not really a topological current.

To have two different conserved currents in the theory with only one symmetry is an unexpected result. One possible interpretation is that it is actually a manifestation of the freedom of the Seiberg-Witten map. However, there might be some other reasons for the appearance of two conserved currents in our theory, but so far we were not able to answer this question properly.

4.4 Seiberg-Witten map and the gauge symmetry

It is well known that the Seiberg-Witten map is not unique [92], [93], [94], [95]. The detailed analysis of the ambiguities in the Seiberg-Witten map in the θ -deformed space was given in [42] and we adopt this analysis for the problem at hand. Of course, we only look at the first order contributions and the U(1) gauge theory.

⁹Since $\Delta^{\rho} = J^{\rho} - j^{\rho}$, $\partial_{\rho}\Delta^{\rho} = 0$ is certainly fulfilled. The only question is whether one can prove it explicitly without using the equations of motion.

Let us start from the solution for the gauge parameter Λ_{α} (4.3.1). The homogeneous equation expanded up to first order is

$$\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda^{1}_{\beta} - \delta_{\beta}\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha} = 0. \tag{4.4.1}$$

If we restrict ourselves to Λ^1_{α} which is hermitian and do not allow for a derivative valued gauge parameter, then there are no terms coming from the homogeneous equation, $\Delta \Lambda^1_{\alpha} = 0$.

The solution of the Seiberg-Witten map for the fermions (4.3.14) allows an additional term

$$\Delta \tilde{\psi} = b_1 \mu^{-1/2} C_{\lambda}^{\rho \sigma} x^{\lambda} F_{\rho \sigma}^0 \psi^0, \qquad (4.4.2)$$

which does affect the action, as we shall see later.

When analysing possible additional terms in the solution of the Seiberg-Witten map for the gauge filed in [42] the restriction was made that one does not allow for the derivative valued terms to appear. However, in our setting the derivative-valued gauge fields appear naturally, as the consequence of the nontrivial Leibniz rules for the Dirac derivatives (4.1.19) and (4.1.20). Therefore, the most general solution of the homogeneous equation is given by

$$\Delta \tilde{V}_{\mu} = ib_2 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} F^0_{\mu\rho} \tilde{\mathcal{D}}^0_{\sigma} + ib_3 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} F^0_{\rho\sigma} \tilde{\mathcal{D}}^0_{\mu} + ib_4 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\mathcal{D}^0_{\sigma} F^0_{\mu\rho}) + ib_5 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\mathcal{D}^0_{\mu} F^0_{\rho\sigma}) + ib_6 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\sigma} F^0_{\mu\rho} + ib_7 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\mu} F^0_{\rho\sigma}.$$
(4.4.3)

Terms $ib_4 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\mathcal{D}^0_{\sigma} F^0_{\mu\rho})$ and $ib_5 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\mathcal{D}^0_{\mu} F^0_{\rho\sigma})$ are related by the Bianchi identity

$$C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\Big((\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}F^{0}_{\mu\rho}) + (\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}F^{0}_{\rho\sigma}) + (\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\rho}F^{0}_{\sigma\mu})\Big) = 0.$$

Changing ρ and σ indices in the last term, we see

$$C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\Big(2(\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}F^{0}_{\mu\rho})+(\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}F^{0}_{\rho\sigma})\Big)=0,$$

that is the terms proportional to b_4 and b_5 are not independent, so it is enough to write one of them.

If in the last two terms in (4.4.3) we use the explicit formula for $C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}$, we obtain

$$iab_6nF^0_{\mu n} + iab_7(F^0_{n\mu} - F^0_{\mu n}) = ia(b_6n - 2b_7)F^0_{\mu n}$$

In this way we reduce the number of arbitrary constants from 6 to 4,

$$\Delta \tilde{V}_{\mu} = ib_2 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} F^0_{\mu\rho} \tilde{\mathcal{D}}^0_{\sigma} + ib_3 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} F^0_{\rho\sigma} \tilde{\mathcal{D}}^0_{\mu} + ib_4 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\mathcal{D}^0_{\sigma} F^0_{\mu\rho}) + iab_5 F^0_{\mu n}.$$

$$(4.4.4)$$

Now we demand that $\Delta \tilde{V}_{\mu}$ is hermitian (that is natural, since \tilde{V}_{μ} is also hermitian and we do not want to spoil that). This fixes the constants b_4 and b_5 and finally

$$\Delta \tilde{V}_{\mu} = i b_2 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} F^0_{\mu\rho} \tilde{\mathcal{D}}^0_{\sigma} + i b_3 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} F^0_{\rho\sigma} \tilde{\mathcal{D}}^0_{\mu} + \frac{i}{2} (b_2 - 2b_3) C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\mathcal{D}^0_{\sigma} F^0_{\mu\rho}) + \frac{ia}{2} (nb_2 - 2b_3) F^0_{\mu n}.$$
(4.4.5)

Note also that $\mathcal{D}^0_{\sigma} F^0_{\mu\rho} = \partial^0_{\sigma} F^0_{\mu\rho}$ since we work with the U(1) gauge theory.

The new terms from (4.4.5) lead to the modification of the curvature-like terms

$$\Delta F_{\mu\nu} = 2b_2 C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} F_{\mu\sigma} F_{\nu\rho} + 2b_3 C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} F_{\mu\nu} F_{\rho\sigma} + \frac{i}{2} (b_2 - 2b_3) C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} \Big(\mathcal{D}_{\nu}^0 \mathcal{D}_{\sigma}^0 F_{\mu\rho}^0 - \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^0 \mathcal{D}_{\sigma}^0 F_{\nu\rho}^0 \Big) - \frac{ia}{2} (n-1) b_2 \mathcal{D}_n^0 F_{\mu\nu}^0 \quad (4.4.6)$$

and the torsion-like terms

$$\Delta T^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} = -ib_2 \left(C^{\rho\sigma}_{\nu} F^0_{\mu\rho} - C^{\rho\sigma}_{\mu} F^0_{\nu\rho} \right) - ib_2 C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\mathcal{D}^0_{\nu} F^0_{\mu\rho} - \mathcal{D}^0_{\mu} F^0_{\nu\rho}) -ib_3 \left(\delta^{\sigma}_{\mu} (C^{\rho\alpha}_{\nu} F^0_{\rho\alpha} + C^{\rho\alpha}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\mathcal{D}^0_{\nu} F^0_{\rho\alpha})) - \delta^{\sigma}_{\nu} (C^{\rho\alpha}_{\mu} F^0_{\rho\alpha} + C^{\rho\alpha}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} (\mathcal{D}^0_{\mu} F^0_{\rho\alpha})) \right)$$
(4.4.7)

of the field strength (4.2.15).

Taking into consideration all the additional terms (4.4.2), (4.4.5) and (4.4.6) we obtain a more general effective action:

$$S = \int d^{n+1}x \left(\bar{\psi}^{0} (i\gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{0} - m) \psi^{0} - \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu}^{0} F^{0\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} (\bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma_{\rho} \mathcal{D}_{\sigma}^{0} \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^{0} + \overline{\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}^{0}} \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^{0} \gamma_{\rho} \psi^{0} \right) - \frac{1}{4} (1 - 8b_{1}) C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} F_{\rho\sigma}^{0} (i\gamma^{\mu} (\mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{0} \psi^{0}) - m\psi^{0}) - \frac{i}{2} (1 - 2b_{2}) C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} F_{\mu\rho}^{0} (\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}^{0} \psi^{0}) + ib_{3} C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} F_{\rho\sigma}^{0} (\mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{0} \psi^{0}) - 2i (b_{1} - \frac{1}{4} (b_{2} - 2b_{3})) C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} (\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}^{0} F_{\mu\rho}^{0}) \psi^{0} - \frac{ia}{4} (n + 8b_{1} - 2nb_{2} + 4b_{3} - 1) \bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma^{\mu} F_{\mu n}^{0} \psi^{0} - \frac{1}{2} (1 - 2b_{2}) C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} F^{0\mu\nu} F_{\mu\rho}^{0} F_{\nu\sigma}^{0} + \frac{1}{8} (1 - 8b_{3}) C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} F^{0\mu\nu} F_{\mu\rho}^{0} F_{\rho\sigma}^{0} \right).$$

$$(4.4.8)$$

All constants b_i are so far completely undetermined and they have been all set to zero in the previous chapter. The reason for this particular choice has been a technical simplicity in the construction of the Seiberg-Witten map. However, we have another interesting possibility. There exists a particular choice of the constants b_i such that all the ambiguous, undetermined terms in the action (4.4.8) are set to zero.

For the massless fermions we choose $b_1 = 1/16$, $b_2 = 1/2$ and $b_3 = 1/8$. The effective action (4.4.8) up to first order in the deformation parameter a is then

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \left(i\bar{\psi}^0 \gamma^\mu \mathcal{D}^0_\mu \psi^0 - \frac{1}{4} F^0_{\mu\nu} F^{0\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} C^{\rho\sigma}_\lambda (\bar{\psi}^0 \gamma_\rho \mathcal{D}^0_\sigma \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^0 + \overline{\mathcal{D}^0_\sigma \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^0} \gamma_\rho \psi^0) \right).$$
(4.4.9)

The corresponding equations of motion are

$$i\gamma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}\psi^{0} - \frac{1}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}\gamma_{\rho}\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}\mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^{0} - \frac{i}{4n}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\sigma}\gamma^{\mu}F^{0}_{\mu\rho}\psi^{0} = 0,$$

$$-i\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}\psi^{0}}\gamma^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}\mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^{0}}\gamma_{\rho} + \frac{i}{4n}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\sigma}\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\mu}F^{0}_{\mu\rho} = 0,$$
 (4.4.10)

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{0\rho\mu} = J^{\rho} = \bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\rho}\psi^{0} \tag{4.4.11}$$

$$-\frac{i}{4}\left(C_{\lambda}^{\alpha\mu}\eta^{\lambda\rho}\left(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}\psi^{0}}\gamma_{\alpha}\psi^{0}-\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma_{\alpha}\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}\psi^{0}\right)+C_{\lambda}^{\alpha\rho}\left(\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^{0}}\gamma_{\alpha}\psi^{0}-\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma_{\alpha}\mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^{0}\right)\right).$$

If one calculates the current j^{ρ} (4.3.36), coming from the variation of the action (4.4.9) one finds $j^{\rho} = J^{\rho}$.

For the massive fermions we have to choose $b_1 = 1/2$, $b_2 = 1/2$ and $b_3 = 0$. This leads to the effective action up to first order in a

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \left(\bar{\psi}^0 (i\gamma^\mu \mathcal{D}^0_\mu - m)\psi^0 - \frac{1}{4}F^0_{\mu\nu}F^{0\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}C^{\rho\sigma}_\lambda (\bar{\psi}^0\gamma_\rho \mathcal{D}^0_\sigma \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^0 + \overline{\mathcal{D}^0_\sigma \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^0}\gamma_\rho\psi^0) + \frac{1}{8}C^{\rho\sigma}_\lambda x^\lambda F^{0\mu\nu}F^0_{\mu\nu}F^0_{\rho\sigma} \right). \quad (4.4.12)$$

The equations of motion for the matter field which follow from (4.4.12) are

$$(i\gamma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}-m)\psi^{0} - \frac{1}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}\gamma_{\rho}\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}\mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^{0} - \frac{i}{4n}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\sigma}\gamma^{\mu}F^{0}_{\mu\rho}\psi^{0} = 0,$$

$$-i\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu}\psi^{0}}\gamma^{\mu} - m\bar{\psi}^{0} - \frac{1}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}\overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma}\mathcal{D}^{0\lambda}\psi^{0}}\gamma_{\rho} + \frac{i}{4n}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\sigma}\bar{\psi}^{0}\gamma^{\mu}F^{0}_{\mu\rho} = 0.$$
(4.4.13)

The conserved current is again only one and it is given by (4.4.11). However, the equation of motion for the gauge field will have additional terms on the left-hand side of (4.4.11) and they will be explicitly x-dependent. It looks like the Yang-Mills part of the action "feels" if the fermionic fields are massive or massless, which is unusual. Also, the explicit x-dependence in the action (4.4.12) is not something that one expects to have. Fortunately, there is a freedom in the Seiberg-Witten map which we have not used so far. Namely, X was also obtained by solving the Seiberg-Witten map (4.3.28). To the solution (4.3.29) we add

$$\Delta X = b_4 \mu^{-1} C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma} x^{\lambda} F_{\rho\sigma}^0.$$
 (4.4.14)

This leads to the effective action (for the massive fermions, for the massless fermions we set $b_4 = 0$)

$$S = \int d^{n+1}x \left(\bar{\psi}^{0} (i\gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu} - m) \psi^{0} - \frac{1}{4} F^{0}_{\mu\nu} F^{0\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} (\bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma_{\rho} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^{0} + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^{0}} \gamma_{\rho} \psi^{0}) + \frac{1}{8} (1 - 2b_{4}) C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} x^{\lambda} F^{0\mu\nu} F^{0}_{\mu\nu} F^{0}_{\rho\sigma} \right).$$

$$(4.4.15)$$

Choosing $b_4 = 1/2$ we obtain

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1}x \left(\bar{\psi}^{0} (i\gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\mu} - m) \psi^{0} - \frac{1}{4} F^{0}_{\mu\nu} F^{0\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda} (\bar{\psi}^{0} \gamma_{\rho} \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^{0} + \overline{\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} \mathcal{D}^{0\lambda} \psi^{0}} \gamma_{\rho} \psi^{0}) \right), \qquad (4.4.16)$$

which is exactly (4.4.9) (up to m = 0 or $m \neq 0$ for the fermions).

In this way we have obtained the same action, equations of motion and conserved current in the case of U(1) gauge theory coupled to the massive or massless fermions. Furthermore, we have obtained the action and the equations of motion that are both gauge invariant and invariant under the classical Poincaré transformations. Note that no explicitly *x*-dependent terms appear in the action (4.4.16). This is the reason why we would prefer this choice of the Seiberg-Witten solutions. Since we are not sure if the requirement that the two conserved currents should be equal is correct, we do not want to use it to fix the ambiguities in the Seiberg-Witten map. However, we can demand that the action is explicitly x-independent and this then gives the preferred choice of the Seiberg-Witten map. In addition, we say that this choice gives the unique conserved current.

We end this analysis with a few comments. First note that the fermionic action we have constructed here up to first order in a is

$$S_m = \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^{n+1} x \left(\bar{\psi}^0 (i\gamma^\mu \mathcal{D}_\mu - m) \psi^0 + (-i\overline{\mathcal{D}_\mu \psi} \gamma^\mu - m\bar{\psi}) \psi \right). \tag{4.4.17}$$

Here the operator \mathcal{D}_{μ} is Dirac operator (4.1.14) expanded in *a* in which partial derivatives are covariantised by minimal substitution $\partial_{\alpha} \to \partial_{\alpha} - iA^{0}_{\alpha}$. We conjecture that this is also valid for higher orders, but one needs to be careful in ordering the derivatives in the expansion of the Dirac operator. Namely, in the second order in *a* a term like $\bar{\psi}^{0}\partial_{n}^{2}\partial_{j}\psi^{0}$ appears. Therefore, it will not be the same if one writes $\bar{\psi}^{0}\mathcal{D}_{n}^{0}\mathcal{D}_{n}^{0}\mathcal{D}_{j}^{0}\mathcal{W}^{0}$ or $\bar{\psi}^{0}\mathcal{D}_{n}^{0}\mathcal{D}_{n}^{0}\mathcal{D}_{n}^{0}\mathcal{W}^{0}$ or $\bar{\psi}^{0}\mathcal{D}_{j}^{0}\mathcal{D}_{n}^{0}\mathcal{M}_{n}^{0}\psi^{0}$ since the covariant derivatives do not commute. But analysis here is far from being complete, this is to be investigated in future.

Note also that if one allows for the derivative-valued gauge fields in the θ -deformed case, one can construct the effective U(1) action with no additional terms in the first order with respect to the undeformed U(1) gauge theory, compare with [41].

Gravity on the θ -deformed space

In the previous two chapters we were analysing the noncommutative gauge theories. In this chapter we continue with this subject, only now we turn to the local space-time symmetries. Our aim is the construction of a gravity theory on deformed spaces. For simplicity we work with the θ -deformed space which has been introduced in Chapter 1. Nevertheless, the method we use is a rather general one and it can be applied to other deformed spaces as well.

Since our approach is based on a deformation of the commutative diffeomorphism symmetry, we first rewrite some of the well known properties of the commutative diffeomorphisms in a more mathematical way. Then we derive the Hopf algebra of deformed diffeomorphisms and using this result introduce the concept of fields. Repeating the steps one does in the commutative case, we obtain the deformed Einstein-Hilbert action and derive the equation of motion from it. At the end of the chapter we make two remarks. The first one concerns the θ -deformed global Poincaré symmetry which can be viewed as a special case of the diffeomorphism symmetry. The second one concerns a different approach to noncommutative gauge theories.

5.1 Commutative diffeomorphisms

Under the general coordinate transformations

$$x^{\mu} \to x'^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}(x),$$
 (5.1.1)

a scalar field $\phi^0(x)^1$ transforms as

$$\phi'^{0}(x') = \phi^{0}(x), \tag{5.1.2}$$

or in the language of infinitesimal transformations

$$\delta_{\xi}^{cl}\phi^{0}(x) = \phi^{\prime 0}(x) - \phi^{0}(x) = -\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi^{0}(x).$$
(5.1.3)

Here $\xi^{\mu}(x)$ is an arbitrary function of coordinates. These transformations close in the algebra

$$[\delta_{\xi}^{cl}\delta_{\eta}^{cl} - \delta_{\eta}^{cl}\delta_{\xi}^{cl}] = \delta_{[\xi,\eta]}^{cl}, \qquad (5.1.4)$$

 $\mathbf{5}$

¹We write (almost) all commutative fields with the upper index 0 to distinguish them from their noncommutative analogs.

where $\delta^{cl}_{[\xi,\eta]}\phi^0 = -(\xi^{\nu}(\partial_{\nu}\eta^{\mu}) - \eta^{\nu}(\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\mu}))(\partial_{\mu}\phi^0)$. Algebra (5.1.4) is the algebra of commutative (classical, undeformed) diffeomorphisms.

The product of two scalar fields is a scalar field again

$$\delta_{\xi}^{cl} \Big(\phi_1^0(x) \phi_2^0(x) \Big) = \Big(\delta_{\xi}^{cl} \phi_1^0(x) \Big) \phi_2^0(x) + \phi_1^0(x) \Big(\delta_{\xi}^{cl} \phi_2^0(x) \Big)$$

= $-\xi^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \Big(\phi_1(x) \phi_2(x) \Big)$ (5.1.5)

and we see that the Leibniz rule for the operator δ_{ξ}^{cl} is undeformed. This Leibniz rule follows from the coproduct

$$\Delta \delta_{\xi}^{cl} = \delta_{\xi}^{cl} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{\xi}^{cl}. \tag{5.1.6}$$

It is not difficult to check that (5.1.6) is coassociative and that it is consistent with the algebra (5.1.4). Adding the counit and antipode

$$\varepsilon(\delta_{\xi}^{cl}) = 0, \qquad S(\delta_{\xi}^{cl}) = -\delta_{\xi}^{cl}$$

$$(5.1.7)$$

we define the Hopf algebra of undeformed diffeomorphisms².

Under the transformations (5.1.1) an arbitrary tensor transforms as

$$\delta_{\xi}^{cl} T^{0\,\nu_1...\nu_s}_{\mu_1...\mu_r} = -\xi^{\lambda} (\partial_{\lambda} T^{0\,\nu_1...\nu_s}_{\mu_1...\mu_r}) - (\partial_{\mu_1} \xi^{\lambda}) T^{0\,\nu_1...\nu_s}_{\lambda\mu_2...\mu_r} - \dots - (\partial_{\mu_r} \xi^{\lambda}) T^{0\,\nu_1...\nu_s}_{\mu_1...\mu_{r-1}\lambda}
+ (\partial_{\lambda} \xi^{\nu_1}) T^{0\,\lambda\nu_2...\nu_s}_{\mu_1...\mu_r} + \dots + (\partial_{\lambda} \xi^{\nu_s}) T^{0\,\nu_1...\nu_{s-1}\lambda}_{\mu_1...\mu_r}.$$
(5.1.8)

Specially, for a covariant vector we have

$$\delta_{\xi}^{cl} V_{\mu}^{0} = -\xi^{\lambda} (\partial_{\lambda} V_{\mu}^{0}) - (\partial_{\mu} \xi^{\lambda}) V_{\lambda}^{0}, \qquad (5.1.9)$$

and for a contravariant one

$$\delta_{\xi}^{cl} V^{0\mu} = -\xi^{\lambda} (\partial_{\lambda} V^{0\mu}) + (\partial_{\lambda} \xi^{\mu}) V^{0\lambda}.$$
(5.1.10)

Since (5.1.9) is a local transformation (the parameter ξ^{λ} being *x*-dependent), one proceeds like in the usual gauge theory, observing that the partial derivative of a vector field does not transform like a second rank tensor. This is repaired by introducing the covariant derivative

$$D^{0}_{\mu}V^{0}_{\nu} = (\partial_{\mu}V^{0}_{\nu}) - \Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu}V^{0}_{\alpha}, \qquad (5.1.11)$$

where $\Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ is the commutative connection. Its transformation law follows from the requirement

$$\delta_{\xi}^{cl}(D^{0}_{\mu}V^{0}_{\nu}) = -\xi^{\lambda}(\partial_{\lambda}D^{0}_{\mu}V^{0}_{\nu}) - (\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})D^{0}_{\lambda}V^{0}_{\nu} - (\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})D^{0}_{\mu}V^{0}_{\lambda}, \qquad (5.1.12)$$

and it is given by

$$\delta_{\xi}^{cl}\Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = -\xi^{\lambda}(\partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu}) - (\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})\Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\lambda\nu} - (\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})\Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\lambda} + (\partial_{\lambda}\xi^{\alpha})\Gamma^{0\,\lambda}_{\mu\nu} - (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\alpha}).$$
(5.1.13)

²To be more precise, in order to speak about the Hopf algebra of diffeomorphisms one has to go to the enveloping algebra of (5.1.4) [96]. It is the associative algebra freely generated by δ_{ξ}^{cl} elements and divided by the ideal generated by (5.1.4) relations.

Because of the last term in (5.1.13) $\Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ is not a tensor. One generalises (5.1.11) to an arbitrary tensor

$$D^{0}_{\rho}T^{0\,\nu_{1}...\nu_{s}}_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r}} = (\partial_{\rho}T^{0\,\nu_{1}...\nu_{s}}_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r}}) - \Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\rho\mu_{1}}T^{0\,\nu_{1}...\nu_{s}}_{\alpha\mu_{2}...\mu_{r}} - \cdots - \Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\rho\mu_{r}}T^{0\,\nu_{1}...\nu_{s}}_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r-1}\alpha} + \Gamma^{0\,\nu_{1}}_{\rho\alpha}T^{0\,\nu_{1}...\nu_{s-1}\alpha}_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r}} + \cdots + \Gamma^{0\,\nu_{s}}_{\rho\alpha}T^{0\,\nu_{1}...\nu_{s-1}\alpha}_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r}}.$$
(5.1.14)

The commutator of two covariant derivatives defines the curvature tensor $R^0_{\mu\nu\rho}{}^{\sigma}$ and the torsion $T^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$

$$[D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}]V_{\rho}^{0} = R_{\mu\nu\rho}^{0\ \sigma}V_{\sigma}^{0} + T_{\mu\nu}^{0\ \alpha}D_{\alpha}^{0}V_{\rho}^{0}, \qquad (5.1.15)$$

with

$$R^{0\ \sigma}_{\mu\nu\rho} = \left(\partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{0\sigma}_{\mu\rho}\right) - \left(\partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{0\sigma}_{\nu\rho}\right) + \Gamma^{0\beta}_{\nu\rho}\Gamma^{0\sigma}_{\mu\beta} - \Gamma^{0\beta}_{\mu\rho}\Gamma^{0\sigma}_{\nu\beta},\tag{5.1.16}$$

$$T^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = \Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\nu\mu} - \Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu}. \tag{5.1.17}$$

One also introduces the metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}$ as a symmetric tensor of the second rank. Together with its inverse $g^{\mu\nu}$, it is used to raise and lower indices. Although metric and connection are independent objects, they can be related introducing the metricity condition

$$D^{0}_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu} = (\partial_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}) - \Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\rho\mu}g_{\alpha\nu} - \Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\rho\nu}g_{\mu\alpha} = 0.$$
 (5.1.18)

This condition enables us to calculate the symmetric part of $\Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ in terms of the metric tensor and its inverse. If the space is torsion-free, $T^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = 0$, then from (5.1.17) it follows that the connection is symmetric in lower indices and it is then given entirely in terms of the metric and its inverse.

Using the metric one defines the Ricci tensor and scalar curvature as

$$R^{0}_{\mu\nu} = R^{0}_{\mu\rho\nu}{}^{\rho} = R^{0}_{\nu\mu}, \qquad (5.1.19)$$

$$R^{0} = g^{\mu\nu} R^{0}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(5.1.19)
$$R^{0} = g^{\mu\nu} R^{0}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(5.1.20)

Finally, the Einstein-Hilbert $action^3$ is given by

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \,\sqrt{-g} R^0,\tag{5.1.21}$$

where g is the determinant of the metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}$. In order to have an action which is invariant under the undeformed diffeomorphisms, one has to introduce the measure function $\sqrt{-q}$. Its transformation law

$$\delta_{\xi}^{cl}\sqrt{-g} = -(\partial_{\lambda}(\xi^{\lambda}\sqrt{-g})) = -(\partial_{\lambda}\xi^{\lambda})\sqrt{-g} - \xi^{\lambda}(\partial_{\lambda}\sqrt{-g})$$
(5.1.22)

ensures that the action (5.1.21) is invariant. Varying (5.1.21) with respect to the metric gives the equations of motion.

In the next sections we generalise these concepts to the θ -deformed space. The starting point is the Hopf algebra of undeformed diffeomorphisms given in (5.1.4), (5.1.6) and (5.1.7).

 $^{^{3}}$ Of course, one can define more general actions than (5.1.21) using not only curvature scalar but also curvature tensor, Ricci tensor and, if it is different from zero, torsion.

5.2 Deformed diffeomorphisms

In this section we introduce the mathematical tools necessary to derive a gravity theory on the θ -deformed space. We work in the \star -product formalism. For convenience some of the important formulas from Section 1.5 are repeated.

The θ -deformed space is defined by (1.1.3). Functions in the abstract algebra are represented by functions of the commutative coordinates, while the abstract algebra multiplication is represented by the Moyal-Weyl \star -product

$$f \star g(x) = e^{\frac{i}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\rho}} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\sigma}}} f(x)g(y)\Big|_{y \to x},$$
(5.2.1)

$$f \star g(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^n \frac{1}{n!} \theta^{\rho_1 \sigma_1} \dots \theta^{\rho_n \sigma_n} \left(\partial_{\rho_1} \dots \partial_{\rho_n} f(x)\right) \left(\partial_{\sigma_1} \dots \partial_{\sigma_n} g(x)\right)$$
$$= fg + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho \sigma} (\partial_{\rho} f) (\partial_{\sigma} g) - \frac{1}{8} \theta^{\rho_1 \sigma_1} \theta^{\rho_2 \sigma_2} (\partial_{\rho_1} \partial_{\rho_2} f) (\partial_{\sigma_1} \partial_{\sigma_2} g) + \dots, \quad (5.2.2)$$

with $\theta^{\rho\sigma} = -\theta^{\sigma\rho} = const.$ The derivatives in the abstract algebra $\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}$ are represented by the \star -derivatives $\partial_{\lambda}^{\star}$

$$\partial_{\lambda}^{\star} = \partial_{\lambda}, \tag{5.2.3}$$

where ∂_{λ} are the usual partial derivatives. In the following we will mainly write ∂_{λ} , only when we want to stress something we write explicitly $\partial_{\lambda}^{\star}$. Because of (5.2.3) this makes no difference to our results. The Leibniz rule for the derivatives (5.2.3) is

$$\partial_{\lambda}^{\star} \star (f \star g) = (\partial_{\lambda}^{\star} \star f) \star g + f \star (\partial_{\lambda}^{\star} \star g)$$

= $(\partial_{\lambda}^{\star} \triangleright f) \star g + f \star (\partial_{\lambda}^{\star} \triangleright g),$ (5.2.4)

where the " \triangleright " notation was introduced in (1.5.14).

5.2.1 Inversion of the \star -product

In order to proceed towards a deformed theory of gravity we have to introduce a few more concepts. To start with, we define the \star -action⁴ of a vector field⁵ $\xi = \xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}$ on a function f(x)

$$\xi \triangleright f = \xi^{\mu} \star (\partial_{\mu} f). \tag{5.2.5}$$

Expanding the \star -product in (5.2.5) gives

$$\begin{split} \xi \triangleright f &= \xi^{\mu}(x) \star \partial_{\mu} f(x) \\ &= \sum_{n} \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^{n} \frac{1}{n!} \theta^{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}} \dots \theta^{\rho_{n}\sigma_{n}} \left(\partial_{\rho_{1}} \dots \partial_{\rho_{n}} \xi^{\mu}(x)\right) \partial_{\sigma_{1}} \dots \partial_{\sigma_{n}} \partial_{\mu} f(x) \\ &= \xi^{\mu} (\partial_{\mu} f(x)) + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} \xi^{\mu}) (\partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\mu} f(x)) + \dots \\ &\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\Xi f(x)). \end{split}$$
(5.2.6)

⁴Just like for derivatives, one also makes the difference between the *-product and the *-action of a differential operator on a function. The first one is $\xi \star f = \xi^{\mu} \star (\partial_{\mu} f) + (\xi^{\mu} \star f)\partial_{\mu}$ while the second is $\xi \triangleright f = \xi^{\mu} \star (\partial_{\mu} f)$.

⁵Note that ξ is not a vector field in the sense of (5.1.9) or (5.1.10).

We see that the \star -action of a vector field on a function is given in terms of the higher order differential operators acting in the usual way on a function. In this way a map from vector fields to higher order differential operators is defined. Before we continue, we mention why it is important to have this \star -action. In the abstract algebra one has $\hat{\xi} = \hat{\xi}^{\mu} \hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ as a vector field. When this is mapped to the space of commuting coordinates

$$\hat{\xi}\hat{f} = \hat{\xi}^{\mu}\hat{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{f} \mapsto \xi^{\mu}(x) \star \partial^{\star}_{\mu} \star f = \xi^{\mu}(x) \star (\partial^{\star}_{\mu} \triangleright f + f \star \partial^{\star}_{\mu}), \qquad (5.2.7)$$

the first term in (5.2.7) is exactly (5.2.5).

Since the map (5.2.6) starts with the identity it is possible to invert it, that is express the usual action of a higher order differential operator on a function in terms of the \star -action. We are interested in the deformation of the commutative diffeomorphisms and therefore we look at⁶

$$(\xi f(x)) = \xi^{\mu}(\partial_{\mu} f(x)) = X_{\xi}^{\star} \triangleright f(x).$$
(5.2.8)

The operator X_{ξ}^{\star} is constructed perturbatively from the above requirement using the \star -product (5.2.2)

$$\begin{aligned} X_{\xi}^{\star} &= X_{\xi}^{\star 0} + X_{\xi}^{\star 1} + \dots \\ X_{\xi}^{\star} \triangleright f &= \left(X_{\xi}^{\star 0} \star f \right) + \left(X_{\xi}^{\star 1} \star f \right) + \dots \\ &= \left(X_{\xi}^{\star 0} f \right) + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho \sigma} (\partial_{\rho} X_{\xi}^{\star 0}) (\partial_{\sigma} f) + \left(X_{\xi}^{\star 1} f \right) + \dots \\ &\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \xi^{\mu} (\partial_{\mu} f). \end{aligned}$$

This leads to

$$X_{\xi}^{\star 1} = -\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}X_{\xi}^{\star 0})\partial_{\sigma} = -\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\xi^{\mu})\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu},$$

so the solution up to first order is

$$X_{\xi}^{\star} = \xi^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} \xi^{\mu}) \partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\mu}.$$
(5.2.9)

It is not difficult to generalise this to all orders

$$X_{\xi}^{\star} = \sum_{n} \left(\frac{-i}{2}\right)^{n} \frac{1}{n!} \theta^{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}} \dots \theta^{\rho_{n}\sigma_{n}} \left(\partial_{\rho_{1}} \dots \partial_{\rho_{n}}\xi^{\mu}\right) \partial_{\sigma_{1}} \dots \partial_{\sigma_{n}}\partial_{\mu}.$$
 (5.2.10)

Before giving the physical meaning to this result we make a few comments. Everything that has been done for a vector field ξ can be generalised to higher order differential operators. Also, generalisation to more general \star -products (more complicated deformed spaces) is possible but it will not be analysed here. An important property of (5.2.10) is that it has a meaning in the abstract algebra as well (unlike $\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}$)

$$X_{\xi}^{\star} \triangleright \phi = \xi^{\mu} \star (\partial_{\mu}\phi) - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\xi^{\mu}) \star (\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu}\phi) + \dots$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$\hat{X}_{\xi}\hat{\phi} = \hat{\xi}^{\mu}(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{\phi}) - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\hat{\partial}_{\rho}\hat{\xi}^{\mu})(\hat{\partial}_{\sigma}\hat{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{\phi}) + \dots$$
(5.2.11)

⁶Although it looks like we have too many brackets in (5.2.8), it is convenient to write them all in order to know how to understand expressions like (5.2.8).

5.2.2 Hopf algebra of deformed diffeomorphisms

The transformation law of a scalar field $\phi^0(x)$ under the commutative diffeomorphisms is given by (5.1.3). We define the transformation law of a noncommutative scalar field⁷ $\phi(x)$ to be

$$\delta_{\xi}\phi(x) = \phi'(x) - \phi(x) = -\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi(x) = -X^{\star}_{\xi} \triangleright \phi(x)$$
(5.2.12)

and this we call the deformed transformation law of a scalar field. To see if this transformations close in the algebra, one calculates

$$\delta_{\xi}\delta_{\eta}\phi(x) = \delta_{\xi}(-X_{\eta}^{\star} \triangleright \phi(x)) = X_{\eta}^{\star} \triangleright X_{\xi}^{\star} \triangleright \phi(x).$$

Form here it follows

$$\delta_{\xi}\delta_{\eta} - \delta_{\eta}\delta_{\xi} = \delta_{[\xi,\eta]}.\tag{5.2.13}$$

However, this result was expected.

What has been done so far is just rewriting the classical transformation law (5.1.3) in a rather complicated way (so no reason to call it "deformed"). But now we remember one more property of the classical diffeomorphisms. Namely, (5.1.4) tells us that the usual product of two scalar fields transforms as a scalar field. This we generalise by demanding that the \star -product of two scalar fields is a scalar field again

$$\delta_{\xi}(\phi_1 \star \phi_2) = -X_{\xi} \triangleright (\phi_1 \star \phi_2). \tag{5.2.14}$$

The right-hand side of (5.2.14), written more explicitly using (5.2.12), reads

$$\delta_{\xi}(\phi_{1} \star \phi_{2}) = -\xi^{\mu} \big(\partial_{\mu}(\phi_{1} \star \phi_{2}) \big) = -\xi^{\mu} \Big((\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1}) \star \phi_{2} + \phi_{1} \star (\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2}) \Big)$$

$$\neq -(\xi^{\mu}(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1})) \star \phi_{2} - \phi_{1} \star (\xi^{\mu}(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2})),$$

since the *-product is noncommutative. Commuting ξ^{μ} through the *-product gives additional terms

$$\delta_{\xi}(\phi_1 \star \phi_2) = (\delta_{\xi}\phi_1) \star \phi_2 + \phi_1 \star (\delta_{\xi}\phi_2) + \text{ additional terms.}$$
(5.2.15)

and this is where the difference between (5.2.12) and the classical transformation law (5.1.3) arises. The Leibniz rule for the transformations (5.2.12) is not (5.1.5) but it has to be deformed to (5.2.15).

In order to find the additional terms we expand the \star -product and the operators X_{ξ}^{\star} in (5.2.15). Expanding the left-hand side of (5.2.15) up to first order in the deformation parameter θ gives

$$\delta_{\xi}(\phi_{1} \star \phi_{2}) = -\xi^{\mu} \Big((\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1}) \star \phi_{2} + \phi_{1} \star (\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2}) \Big)$$

$$= -\xi^{\mu} \Big((\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1})\phi_{2} + \phi_{1}(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2}) + \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1})(\partial_{\sigma}\phi_{2}) + \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\phi_{1})(\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2}) \Big).$$
(5.2.16)

⁷The definitions of fields and tensor calculus will be the subject of the next section. However, in order to derive the results that follow we introduce the notion of a scalar field here.

From the right-hand side of (5.2.15) follows

$$(\delta_{\xi}\phi_{1}) \star \phi_{2} + \phi_{1} \star (\delta_{\xi}\phi_{2}) + F(\phi_{1},\phi_{2},\theta,\partial,\xi) = -\xi^{\mu}(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1})\phi_{2} - \xi_{\mu}\phi_{1}(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2}) -\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\partial_{\rho}\xi^{\mu})(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1}) + \xi^{\mu}(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1})\Big)(\partial_{\sigma}\phi_{2}) -\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\phi_{1})\Big((\partial_{\sigma}\xi^{\mu})(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2}) + \xi^{\mu}(\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2})\Big) +F(\phi_{1},\phi_{2},\theta,\partial,\xi),$$
(5.2.17)

where we labeled the unknown additional terms as $F(\phi_1, \phi_2, \theta, \partial, \xi)$. Comparing (5.2.16) and (5.2.17) we find

$$F(\phi_1, \phi_2, \theta, \partial) = \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\partial_\rho \xi^\mu) (\partial_\mu \phi_1) (\partial_\sigma \phi_2) + (\partial_\rho \phi_1) (\partial_\sigma \xi^\mu) (\partial_\mu \phi_2) \Big).$$

Finally, we write the Leibniz rule for the transformation δ_ξ up to first order in the deformation parameter θ

$$\delta_{\xi}(\phi_1 \star \phi_2) = (\delta_{\xi}\phi_1) \star \phi_2 + \phi_1 \star (\delta_{\xi}\phi_2) - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big(\big((\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi})\phi_1\big)\partial_{\sigma}\phi_2 + (\partial_{\rho}\phi_1)\big((\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi})\phi_2\big) \Big), \quad (5.2.18)$$

with $(\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi})\phi_1 \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} -(\partial_{\rho}\xi^{\mu})\partial_{\mu}\phi_1.$

This Leibniz rule follows from the abstract comultiplication, which up to first order in θ reads

$$\Delta \delta_{\xi} = \delta_{\xi} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{\xi} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho \sigma} \Big((\partial_{\rho} \delta_{\xi}) \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma} \delta_{\xi}) \Big).$$
(5.2.19)

It is not difficult to check that (5.2.19) is coassociative. The counit is defined in the following way

$$\varepsilon(\delta_{\xi}) = 0 \tag{5.2.20}$$

and it fulfils (1.3.5). Therefore, we have the coalgebra of deformed diffeomorphisms.

For a bialgebra we have to check whether

$$[\Delta\delta_{\xi}, \Delta\delta_{\eta}] = \Delta\delta_{[\xi,\eta]}, \qquad (5.2.21)$$

$$\varepsilon(\delta_{\xi}\delta_{\eta}) = \varepsilon(\delta_{\xi})\varepsilon(\delta_{\eta}). \tag{5.2.22}$$

We prove (5.2.21), (5.2.22) is obvious.

$$\begin{split} \Delta\delta_{\xi} \cdot \Delta\delta_{\eta} &= \left(\delta_{\xi} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{\xi} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left((\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}) \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi}) \right) \right) \\ &\quad \cdot \left(\delta_{\eta} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{\eta} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left((\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\eta}) \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\eta}) \right) \right) \\ &= \delta_{\xi}\delta_{\eta} \otimes 1 + \delta_{\xi} \otimes \delta_{\eta} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left(\delta_{\xi}(\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\eta}) \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \delta_{\xi}\partial_{\rho} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\eta}) \right) \\ &\quad + \delta_{\eta} \otimes \delta_{\xi} + 1 \otimes \delta_{\xi}\delta_{\eta} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left((\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\eta}) \otimes \delta_{\xi}\partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes \delta_{\xi}(\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\eta}) \right) \\ &\quad - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left((\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}) \otimes \partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\eta} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi}) \delta_{\eta} + (\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}) \delta_{\eta} \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho}\delta_{\eta} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi}) \right) \end{split}$$

$$-\Delta\delta_{\eta}\cdot\Delta\delta_{\xi} = \dots$$

$$= -\delta_{\eta}\delta_{\xi}\otimes 1 - \delta_{\eta}\otimes\delta_{\xi} + \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}\left(\delta_{\eta}(\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi})\otimes\partial_{\sigma} + \delta_{\eta}\partial_{\rho}\otimes(\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi})\right)$$

$$-\delta_{\xi}\otimes\delta_{\eta} - 1\otimes\delta_{\eta}\delta_{\xi} + \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}\left((\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi})\otimes\delta_{\eta}\partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho}\otimes\delta_{\eta}(\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi})\right)$$

$$+ \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}\left((\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\eta})\otimes\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi} + \partial_{\rho}\otimes(\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\eta})\delta_{\xi} + (\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\eta})\delta_{\xi}\otimes\partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}\otimes(\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\eta})\right)$$

$$\Delta\delta_{[\xi,\eta]} = \delta_{[\xi,\eta]} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{[\xi,\eta]} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\partial_{\rho} \delta_{[\xi,\eta]}) \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma} \delta_{[\xi,\eta]}) \Big)$$
(5.2.23)

Adding these three expressions and using (5.2.13) gives (5.2.21) only if

$$\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}) \otimes \partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\eta} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi})\delta_{\eta} \\ + (\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi})\delta_{\eta} \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho}\delta_{\eta} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi}) - (\xi \leftrightarrow \eta) \Big) = 0.$$
(5.2.24)

By using $\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\eta} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi}) = ((\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\eta}) + \delta_{\eta}\partial_{\rho}) \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{\xi})$, one proves the last equation; then (5.2.21) is proven as well.

Adding the antipode $S(\delta_{\xi}) = -\delta_{\xi}$ leads to a Hopf algebra. The condition for the antipode (1.3.8) is not difficult to check, but in order to do that we first rewrite (5.2.19) in a different way

$$\Delta \delta_{\xi} = \delta_{\xi} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{\xi} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho \sigma} \Big(\delta_{(\partial_{\rho} \xi)} \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes \delta_{(\partial_{\sigma} \xi)} \Big), \tag{5.2.25}$$

using $\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)} = (\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi})$. With (5.2.25)

$$m \circ (S \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Delta(\delta_{\xi}) = m \circ (S \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \left(\delta_{\xi} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{\xi} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left(\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)} \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes \delta_{(\partial_{\sigma}\xi)}\right)\right)$$
$$= m \circ \left(-\delta_{\xi} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{\xi} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left(-\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)} \otimes \partial_{\sigma} - \partial_{\rho} \otimes \delta_{(\partial_{\sigma}\xi)}\right)\right)$$
$$= -\delta_{\xi} + \delta_{\xi} + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left(\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)} \partial_{\sigma} - \partial_{\sigma} \delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)}\right)$$
$$= +\frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left(\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)} \partial_{\sigma} - (\partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\rho} \delta_{\xi}) - \delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)} \partial_{\sigma}\right) = 0 = \eta \circ \varepsilon(\delta_{\xi}),$$

where we have used $S(\partial_{\rho}) = -\partial_{\rho}$, $(\partial_{\sigma}\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)}) = (\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\rho}\delta_{\xi})$ and the antisymmetry of $\theta^{\rho\sigma}$.

We have shown that the Hopf algebra of deformed diffeomorphisms exists and that it is given by

$$\delta_{\xi}\delta_{\eta} - \delta_{\eta}\delta_{\xi} = \delta_{[\xi,\eta]}, \quad \varepsilon(\delta_{\xi}) = 0, \quad S(\delta_{\xi}) = -\delta_{\xi},$$
$$\Delta\delta_{\xi} = \delta_{\xi} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{\xi} - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big(\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)} \otimes \partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho} \otimes \delta_{(\partial_{\sigma}\xi)}\Big). \tag{5.2.26}$$

The algebra sector is undeformed, while the coalgebra sector becomes deformed. In the limit $\theta \to 0$ (commutative space), this Hopf algebra reduces to the Hopf algebra of undeformed diffeomorphisms (5.1.4), (5.1.6) and (5.1.7).

All the calculations done here are up to first order in θ . However, the result up to all orders in θ is known [36] and we cite it here for completeness

$$\delta_{\xi}\delta_{\eta} - \delta_{\eta}\delta_{\xi} = \delta_{[\xi,\eta]},$$

$$\Delta\delta_{\xi} = e^{-\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}\otimes\partial_{\sigma}} \left(\delta_{\xi}\otimes 1 + 1\otimes\delta_{\xi}\right) e^{\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}\otimes\partial_{\sigma}}$$

$$= \delta_{\xi}\otimes 1 + 1\otimes\delta_{\xi} - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \left(\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)}\otimes\partial_{\sigma} + \partial_{\rho}\otimes\delta_{(\partial_{\sigma}\xi)}\right) + \dots,$$

$$\varepsilon(\delta_{\xi}) = 0, \quad S(\delta_{\xi}) = -\delta_{\xi}.$$
(5.2.27)

As in the case of classical diffeomorphisms, one has to consider the full enveloping algebra of diffeomorphisms in order to be (mathematically) precise.

5.2.3 Consequences of the deformed coproduct

In (5.2.18) the Leibniz rule for δ_{ξ} acting on the *-product of two scalar fields is given. When writing down effective actions one expands all the *-products between fields. Therefore, we should also know how to transform expanded expressions like

$$\delta_{\xi}(\phi_1 \star \phi_2) = \delta_{\xi} \Big(\phi_1 \phi_2 + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} \phi_1) (\partial_{\sigma} \phi_2) + \dots \Big).$$
 (5.2.28)

Let us for the moment forget about the nontrivial Leibniz rule for the operator δ_{ξ} and calculate (5.2.28) as we would do it in the classical case, by using $\delta_{\xi}(\partial_{\rho}\phi) = \partial_{\rho}(\delta_{\xi}\phi)$. We obtain

$$\delta_{\xi}(\phi_{1}\star\phi_{2}) = (\delta_{\xi}\phi_{1})\phi_{2} + \phi_{1}(\delta_{\xi}\phi_{2}) + \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \big((\partial_{\rho}(\delta_{\xi}\phi_{1}))(\partial_{\sigma}\phi_{2}) + (\partial_{\rho}\phi_{1})(\partial_{\sigma}(\delta_{\xi}\phi_{2})) + \dots \\ = -\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}(\phi_{1}\star\phi_{2}) - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\xi^{\mu})\big((\partial_{\mu}\phi_{1})(\partial_{\sigma}\phi_{2}) - (\partial_{\sigma}\phi_{1})(\partial_{\mu}\phi_{2})\big), \qquad (5.2.29)$$

which is not the transformation law of a scalar field since there is one additional term compared to (5.2.14). But we know that $\phi_1 \star \phi_2$ is a scalar field so we must have done something wrong calculating this. The answer is the following. The nontrivial Leibniz rule for the operator δ_{ξ} will also affect the expanded expressions like (5.2.28). The classical transformations do not apply there anymore: one has to change them in a way "dictated" by the deformed comultiplication. Coming back to the concrete example one sees that the problem arises when commuting $\delta_{\xi}(\partial_{\rho}\phi) = \partial_{\rho}(\delta_{\xi}\phi)$, or equivalently when treating $\partial_{\rho}\phi$ as a vector field. This has to be changed to

$$\delta_{\xi}(\partial_{\rho}\phi) = -\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\rho}\phi. \tag{5.2.30}$$

One says that either δ_{ξ} and ∂_{ρ} do not commute anymore, or that the derivatives contracted with $\theta^{\rho\sigma}$ do not transform like the usual derivatives. However this might look unnatural, we always remember that this is the rule dictated by the comultiplication.

Having this in mind we analyse the transformation properties of objects (fields, equations, Lagrangians,...) before expanding the \star -product, when possible. Analysis can also be done after the expansion but then one has to be very careful about the rules one uses.

5.3 Tensor calculus

In the previous section we defined a scalar field by its transformation law (5.2.12). In this section we generalise this transformation law to vector and tensor fields. As an example of a tensor of the second rank we discuss the properties of the metric tensor. Once again we mention that all calculations are done up to first order in θ , but some of them can be written to all orders [36].

5.3.1 Fields

In analogy with (5.2.12), the transformation law of a covariant vector field is given by

$$\delta_{\xi} V_{\mu} = -\xi^{\lambda} (\partial_{\lambda} V_{\mu}) - (\partial_{\mu} \xi^{\lambda}) V_{\lambda} = -X_{\xi}^{\star} \triangleright V_{\mu} - X_{(\partial_{\mu} \xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright V_{\lambda}$$

$$= -\xi^{\lambda} \star (\partial_{\lambda} V_{\mu}) + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} \xi^{\lambda}) \star (\partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\lambda} V_{\mu})$$

$$- (\partial_{\mu} \xi^{\lambda}) \star V_{\lambda} + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} \partial_{\mu} \xi^{\lambda}) \star (\partial_{\sigma} V_{\lambda}) + \dots,$$
(5.3.1)

where in the last two lines X_{ξ}^{\star} and $X_{(\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})}^{\star}$ are expanded. This we generalise to the transformation law of an arbitrary covariant tensor

$$\delta_{\xi} T_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_r} = -\xi^{\lambda} (\partial_{\lambda} T_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_r}) - (\partial_{\mu_1} \xi^{\lambda}) T_{\lambda \mu_2 \dots \mu_r} - \dots - (\partial_{\mu_r} \xi^{\lambda}) T_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_{r-1} \lambda}$$
$$= -X_{\xi}^{\star} \triangleright T_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_r} - X_{(\partial_{\mu_1} \xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright T_{\lambda \mu_2 \dots \mu_r} - \dots - X_{(\partial_{\mu_r} \xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright T_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_{r-1} \lambda}.$$
(5.3.2)

It is not difficult to check that this transformation close in the algebra (5.2.13).

By demanding that the \star -product of two scalar fields should be a scalar field again we derived the Leibniz rule for the operator δ_{ξ} (5.2.18) and then abstracted the coproduct (5.2.19). Now we check if this was the correct thing to do. Namely, the coproduct is a representation-independent concept so our result (5.2.19) should also apply to vector and tensor fields. For example, the \star -product of two covariant vector fields should transform as a second rank tensor if we use (5.2.19)

$$\delta_{\xi}(V_{\mu} \star V_{\nu}) = (\delta_{\xi}V_{\mu}) \star V_{\nu} + V_{\mu} \star (\delta_{\xi}V_{\nu}) - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)}V_{\mu})(\partial_{\sigma}V_{\nu}) + (\partial_{\rho}V_{\mu})(\delta_{(\partial_{\sigma}\xi)}V_{\nu}) \Big).$$

Expanding the \star -product in first two terms and cancelling some of the terms coming from that expansion with the nontrivial terms in the coproduct leads to

$$\delta_{\xi}(V_{\mu} \star V_{\nu}) = -\xi^{\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}(V_{\mu}V_{\nu}) - (\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})V_{\lambda}V_{\nu} - (\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})V_{\mu}V_{\lambda} -\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big(\xi^{\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}\Big((\partial_{\rho}V_{\mu})(\partial_{\sigma}V_{\nu})\Big) + (\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})(\partial_{\rho}V_{\lambda})(\partial_{\sigma}V_{\nu}) + (\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})(\partial_{\rho}V_{\mu})(\partial_{\sigma}V_{\lambda})\Big) = -\xi^{\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}(V_{\mu} \star V_{\nu}) - (\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})(V_{\lambda} \star V_{\nu}) - (\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})(V_{\mu} \star V_{\lambda}) = -X_{\xi}^{\star} \triangleright (V_{\mu} \star V_{\nu}) - X_{(\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright (V_{\lambda} \star V_{\nu}) - X_{(\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright (V_{\mu} \star V_{\lambda}),$$
(5.3.3)

which we wanted to prove. This means that (5.2.19) is the correct coproduct.

All that has been done for the covariant vectors (tensors) can also be done for the contravariant ones. We just summarise the results

$$\delta_{\xi}V^{\mu} = -X^{\star}_{\xi} \triangleright V^{\mu} + X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\lambda}\xi^{\mu})} \triangleright V^{\lambda}, \qquad (5.3.4)$$

$$\delta_{\xi} T^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_r} = -X^{\star}_{\xi} \triangleright T^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_r} + X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\lambda} \xi^{\mu_1})} \triangleright T^{\lambda \mu_2 \dots \mu_r} + \dots + X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\lambda} \xi^{\mu_r})} \triangleright T^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_{r-1} \lambda}.$$
(5.3.5)

Again, $V^{\mu} \star V^{\nu}$ transforms like a second rank tensor due to the coproduct (5.2.19). Also, having covariant and contravariant vectors and tensors one can construct invariants. For example,

$$\delta_{\xi}(V_{\mu} \star V^{\mu}) = (\delta_{\xi}V_{\mu}) \star V^{\mu} + V_{\mu} \star (\delta_{\xi}V^{\mu}) - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)}V_{\mu})(\partial_{\sigma}V^{\mu}) + (\partial_{\rho}V_{\mu})(\delta_{(\partial_{\sigma}\xi)}V^{\mu}) \Big)$$

= ...
= $-\xi^{\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}(V_{\mu} \star V^{\mu}) = -X_{\xi}^{\star} \triangleright (V_{\mu} \star V^{\mu}).$ (5.3.6)

To summarise, we know now how to multiply vector and tensor fields and how to construct invariants under the transformations (5.2.26).

5.3.2 Metric tensor

An important example of a tensor is the metric tensor. Classically, it is a symmetric tensor of rank two

$$\delta_{\xi}^{cl}g_{\mu\nu} = -\xi^{\rho}(\partial_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}) - (\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\rho})g_{\rho\nu} - (\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\rho})g_{\mu\rho}.$$
(5.3.7)

Its inverse $g^{\mu\nu}$ is defined by

$$g^{\mu\nu}g_{\nu\rho} = \delta^{\mu}_{\rho}.$$
 (5.3.8)

In analogy to the classical case, we define the noncommutative metric tensor $G_{\mu\nu}$ as a symmetric tensor of rank two

$$\hat{\delta}_{\xi}G_{\mu\nu} = -X^{\star}_{\xi} \triangleright G_{\mu\nu} - X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\rho})} \triangleright G_{\rho\nu} - X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\rho})} \triangleright G_{\mu\rho}, \qquad (5.3.9)$$

with the condition that it reduces to the classical metric tensor in the $\theta \to 0$ limit,

$$G_{\mu\nu}\Big|_{\theta=0} = g_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (5.3.10)

However, these conditions do not determine $G_{\mu\nu}$ uniquely and in the following we present a few different solutions.

Looking at the transformation law of $G_{\mu\nu}$ we see that the choice $G_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}$, that is the noncommutative metric equals the classical metric, is consistent with (5.3.9). The condition (5.3.10) is automatically fulfilled and we obtain the θ -independent metric tensor. Our final aim is the construction of the deformed Einstein-Hilbert action. Varying this action with respect to the metric one should obtain deformed equations of motion. By solving these equations we should obtain the noncommutative metric in terms of the classical one and the θ -dependent corrections. Therefore, starting with the commutative metric and saying later that it becomes θ -dependent might look a little odd⁸. Instead, one can choose from the beginning a θ -dependent metric tensor. Then one expands it in orders of the deformation parameter θ

$$G_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} + G^1_{\mu\nu} + \dots, \qquad (5.3.11)$$

where $G^1_{\mu\nu}$ is the first order correction which one calculates by solving the equations of motion.

⁸However, this is just the problem of interpretation. Starting with the classical fields and finding out later that they have to have θ -dependent corrections is normally done in the framework of the Seiberg-Witten map, see Chapter 3 and Chapter 4.

On the other hand, we remember that the classical metric tensor can be expressed in terms of the vierbein $e_{\mu}^{\ a}$

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{ab} e^{\ a}_{\mu} e^{\ b}_{\nu}, \tag{5.3.12}$$

where η_{ab} is the flat Minkowski metric and a and b are local Lorentz indices. This we generalise to the noncommutative metric tensor

$$G_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \Big(E_{\mu}^{\ a} \star E_{\nu}^{\ b} + E_{\nu}^{\ a} \star E_{\mu}^{\ b} \Big) \eta_{ab}, \qquad (5.3.13)$$

where $E_{\mu}^{\ a}$ is the noncommutative vierbein. In order to fulfil (5.3.9), $E_{\mu}^{\ a}$ has to transform as a vector field (5.3.1) and the coproduct (5.2.19) has to be used. Because of (5.3.10) in the limit $\theta \to 0$ it has to reduce to the classical vierbein

$$E_{\mu}^{\ a} = e_{\mu}^{\ a} + E_{\mu}^{\ a\,1} + \dots \tag{5.3.14}$$

Note that one can also start with the classical vierbein (it is consistent with both (5.3.9) and (5.3.10)) and after solving the equations of motion obtain that it becomes θ -dependent. The arguments pro and contra are the same as for choosing $g_{\mu\nu}$ as the noncommutative metric and we do not repeat them.

For the moment we do not specify the metric tensor. Instead, we look at the inverse metric. Starting with the noncommutative metric tensor $G_{\mu\nu}$, one can introduce two inverses. The inverse with respect to the pointwise multiplication (classical inverse) we denote by $G^{\mu\nu}$

$$G_{\mu\nu} \cdot G^{\nu\rho} = \delta^{\rho}_{\mu}, \qquad (5.3.15)$$

and the inverse with respect to the \star -multiplication with $G^{\mu\nu\star}$

$$G_{\mu\nu} \star G^{\nu\rho\star} = \delta^{\rho}_{\mu}. \tag{5.3.16}$$

Expanding $G^{\nu\rho\star}$ in the deformation parameter θ and inserting the expansion in (5.3.16) gives the \star -inverse in terms of the classical inverse

$$G^{\mu\nu\star} = G^{\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} G^{\mu\alpha}) (\partial_{\sigma} G_{\alpha\beta}) G^{\beta\nu}$$

= $2G^{\mu\nu} - G^{\mu\alpha} \star G_{\alpha\beta} \star G^{\beta\nu}.$ (5.3.17)

This result is valid up to first order in θ . The exact result will of course depend on the choice of $G_{\mu\nu}$. From (5.3.16), using the comultiplication (5.2.19), it follows that $G^{\mu\nu\star}$ transforms like a tensor of rank two

$$\delta_{\xi}G^{\mu\nu\star} = -X^{\star}_{\xi} \triangleright G^{\mu\nu\star} + X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi^{\mu})} \triangleright G^{\rho\nu\star} + X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi^{\nu})} \triangleright G^{\mu\rho\star}.$$
(5.3.18)

Although $G_{\mu\nu}$ is a symmetric tensor, its *-inverse is not symmetric

$$G^{\mu\nu\star} \neq G^{\nu\mu\star}.\tag{5.3.19}$$

5.4 Curvature and torsion

In this section we define geometrical objects like curvature tensor, torsion,.... They do not have the geometrical interpretation like in the commutative case, but we use them to obtain the deformed Einstein-Hilbert action in the next section.

5.4.1 Covariant derivative

Let us proceed as in the commutative case, by observing that the partial derivative of a vector field transforms as

$$\delta_{\xi}(\partial_{\mu}V_{\nu}) = (\partial_{\mu}\delta_{\xi}V_{\nu})$$

= $-X_{\xi}^{\star} \star \triangleright(\partial_{\mu}V_{\nu}) - X_{(\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright(\partial_{\lambda}V_{\nu}) - X_{(\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright(\partial_{\mu}V_{\lambda}) - X_{(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright V_{\lambda}$
= $-\xi^{\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}(\partial_{\mu}V_{\nu}) - (\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})(\partial_{\lambda}V_{\nu}) - (\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})(\partial_{\mu}V_{\lambda}) - (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})V_{\lambda}.$ (5.4.1)

Here we have used

$$(\partial_{\mu}X_{\xi}^{\star}) = \sum_{n} \left(\frac{-i}{2}\right)^{n} \frac{1}{n!} \theta^{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}} \dots \theta^{\rho_{n}\sigma_{n}} \left(\partial_{\rho_{1}}\dots\partial_{\rho_{n}}\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda}\right) \partial_{\sigma_{1}}\dots \partial_{\sigma_{n}}\partial_{\lambda} = X_{(\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})}\partial_{\lambda} \qquad (5.4.2)$$

and similarly $\partial_{\mu} X_{(\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})} = X_{(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})}$. Because of the last term in (5.4.1) this is not the transformation law of a tensor. To repair this we introduce the covariant derivative

$$D_{\mu}V_{\nu} = (\partial_{\mu}V_{\nu}) - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} \star V_{\alpha}, \qquad (5.4.3)$$

where $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ is the noncommutative connection. From the demand that (5.4.3) transforms as a tensor of rank two

$$\delta_{\xi}(D_{\mu}V_{\nu}) = -X_{\xi}^{\star} \star \triangleright (D_{\mu}V_{\nu}) - X_{(\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright (D_{\lambda}V_{\nu}) - X_{(\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})}^{\star} \triangleright (D_{\mu}V_{\lambda})$$
(5.4.4)

one calculates the transformation law of the connection $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$

$$\delta_{\xi}(D_{\mu}V_{\nu}) = \partial_{\mu}(\delta_{\xi}V_{\nu}) - \delta_{\xi}(\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} \star V_{\alpha}).$$
(5.4.5)

To calculate the last term in (5.4.5) we have to use the coproduct⁹ (5.2.19). We write this term explicitly

$$\delta_{\xi}(\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} \star V_{\alpha}) = (\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}) \star V_{\alpha} + \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} \star (\delta_{\xi}V_{\alpha}) -\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\delta_{(\partial_{\rho}\xi)}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu})(\partial_{\sigma}V_{\alpha}) + (\partial_{\rho}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu})(\delta_{(\partial_{\sigma}\xi)}V_{\alpha}) \Big).$$
(5.4.6)

To calculate $\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ we proceed in the usual way. We expand $\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ in orders of the deformation parameter and expand all *-products in (5.4.6). This gives

$$\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = -X^{\star}_{\xi} \triangleright \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} - X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\mu}\xi^{\lambda})} \triangleright \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\lambda\nu} - X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\lambda})} \triangleright \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\lambda} + X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\lambda}\xi^{\alpha})} \triangleright \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\alpha}.$$
(5.4.7)

Expanding all *-products and the operators X^* gives the classical transformation law, as expected.

In analogy with (5.4.3) one defines the covariant derivative of a contravariant vector and of an arbitrary tensor

$$D_{\mu}V^{\nu} = (\partial_{\mu}V^{\nu}) + \Gamma^{\nu}_{\mu\alpha} \star V^{\alpha}, \qquad (5.4.8)$$

$$D_{\lambda}T^{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{r}}_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{p}} = \left(\partial_{\lambda}T^{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{r}}_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{p}}\right) - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\lambda\mu_{1}} \star T^{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{r}}_{\alpha\mu_{2}\dots\mu_{p}} - \dots - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\lambda\mu_{p}} \star T^{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{r}}_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{p-1}\alpha} + \Gamma^{\nu_{1}}_{\lambda\alpha} \star T^{\alpha\nu_{2}\dots\nu_{r}}_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{p}} + \dots + \Gamma^{\nu_{r}}_{\lambda\alpha} \star T^{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{r-1}\alpha}_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{p}}.$$
(5.4.9)

⁹This step is not straightforward, since the coproduct applies to tensors, but we know that $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ is not a tensor.

5.4.2 Curvature tensor, Ricci tensor and scalar curvature

The \star -commutator of two covariant derivatives applied on a vector field gives the curvature tensor and torsion

$$[D_{\mu} \star D_{\nu}] \star V_{\rho} = R_{\mu\nu\rho}{}^{\sigma} \star V_{\sigma} + T^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} \star D_{\alpha}V_{\rho}.$$
(5.4.10)

By using (5.4.9) one obtains

$$D_{\mu}D_{\nu}V_{\rho} = (\partial_{\mu}(D_{\nu}V_{\rho})) - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} \star D_{\alpha}V_{\rho} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\rho} \star D_{\nu}V_{\alpha}$$
$$= \dots$$

and finally

$$R_{\mu\nu\rho}{}^{\sigma} = (\partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu\rho}) - (\partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\nu\rho}) + \Gamma^{\beta}_{\nu\rho} \star \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu\beta} - \Gamma^{\beta}_{\mu\rho} \star \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\nu\beta}, \qquad (5.4.11)$$

$$T^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\nu\mu} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}. \tag{5.4.12}$$

From (5.4.11) it follows

$$R_{\mu\nu\rho}{}^{\sigma} = -R_{\nu\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} \tag{5.4.13}$$

like in the commutative case, but

$$R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} R_{\mu\nu\rho}^{\ \alpha} \star G_{\alpha\sigma} \neq R_{\mu\nu\sigma\rho}, \qquad (5.4.14)$$

$$R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \neq R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu}.\tag{5.4.15}$$

This is a consequence of having the \star -product in (5.4.11).

The Ricci tensor is defined as

$$R_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\sigma\nu}{}^{\sigma}. \tag{5.4.16}$$

Contracting the first and the fourth index gives the same result because of (5.4.13). Unlike in the classical case, here it is also possible to contract the third and the fourth index since the curvature tensor is not antisymmetric with respect to these two indices. However, the commutative limit of this result¹⁰ will not give the commutative Ricci tensor, so we do not consider this possibility. From this analysis it follows that we can define the Ricci tensor uniquely. One should also note that it is not symmetric

$$R_{\mu\nu} \neq R_{\nu\mu}.\tag{5.4.17}$$

However, there are more possible definitions of the scalar curvature. Some of them are

$$R = G^{\mu\nu\star} \star R_{\nu\mu}, \tag{5.4.18}$$

$$R = R_{\nu\mu} \star G^{\mu\nu\star},\tag{5.4.19}$$

$$R = \frac{1}{2} \left(G^{\mu\nu\star} \star R_{\nu\mu} + R_{\nu\mu} \star G^{\mu\nu\star} \right).$$
 (5.4.20)

We choose (5.4.18) to be our working definition, but one should keep in mind that there are other possibilities.

¹⁰In the deformed case from (5.4.14) we have $R_{\mu\nu\sigma}{}^{\sigma} = \mathcal{O}(\theta)$ and in the limit $\theta \to 0$, $R_{\mu\nu\sigma}{}^{\sigma} \to 0$.

Finally, from (5.4.12) we see that if the connection is symmetric, the torsion vanishes. In the following we analyse only the torsion-free case, that is

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\nu\mu} = \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}.\tag{5.4.21}$$

In order to relate the connection with the metric tensor in the commutative case one imposes the metricity condition (5.1.18). We generalise this construction to the θ -deformed case. Namely, we demand that

$$D_{\alpha}G_{\beta\gamma} = (\partial_{\alpha}G_{\beta\gamma}) - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta} \star G_{\rho\gamma} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\gamma} \star G_{\beta\rho} = 0.$$
 (5.4.22)

By writing this equation two more times, cyclicly permuting the indices and adding all three equations we obtain

$$2\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta} \star G_{\rho\gamma} = (\partial_{\alpha}G_{\beta\gamma}) + (\partial_{\beta}G_{\alpha\gamma}) - (\partial_{\gamma}G_{\alpha\beta}).$$
(5.4.23)

Now it is clear why we insisted on having the \star -inverse of $G_{\mu\nu}$. Using the classical inverse we can not extract $\Gamma^{\rho}_{\alpha\beta}$ from (5.4.23), we have to use the \star -inverse. Then the unique result follows

$$\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \Big((\partial_{\alpha} G_{\beta\gamma}) + (\partial_{\beta} G_{\alpha\gamma}) - (\partial_{\gamma} G_{\alpha\beta}) \Big) \star G^{\gamma\sigma\star}.$$
(5.4.24)

To obtain this result we have used that the metric tensor and connection are symmetric. In analogy with the commutative case, we call the connection (5.4.24) Christoffel symbol. Using the transformation properties of $G_{\mu\nu}$ and $G^{\mu\nu\star}$, (5.3.9) and (5.3.18) respectively, and the coproduct (5.2.19), from (5.4.24) the transformation law (5.4.7) of the Christoffel symbol follows.

Using the result (5.4.24) one expresses the curvature tensor, Ricci tensor and scalar curvature in terms of the metric tensor and its inverse.

5.5 Deformed Einstein-Hilbert action

In the commutative case, the Einstein-Hilbert action is given by (5.1.21). In the following we generalise this to the θ -deformed space. Our aim is to construct an action invariant under the deformed diffeomorphisms which in the zeroth order limit reduces to (5.1.21).

We need an integral with the cyclic property (see also Section 4.1),

$$\int d^4x \left(f_1 \star f_2 \star \dots \star f_k \right) = \int d^4x \left(f_k \star f_1 \star f_2 \star \dots \star f_{k-1} \right).$$
(5.5.1)

Fortunately, the θ -deformed space is simple enough and the usual commutative integral has this property. In the previous section we obtained the scalar curvature, so the only thing left to generalise is the density $\sqrt{-g}$.

We need a \star -density E^{\star} that transforms like

$$\delta_{\xi} E^{\star} = -X^{\star}_{\xi} \triangleright E^{\star} - X^{\star}_{(\partial_{\lambda}\xi^{\lambda})} \triangleright E^{\star}.$$
(5.5.2)

This gives

$$\delta_{\xi}(E^{\star} \star R) = -\partial^{\star}_{\mu} \triangleright \left(X^{\star}_{\xi^{\mu}} \triangleright \left(E^{\star} \star R \right) \right)$$
(5.5.3)

and the action

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \ E^\star \star R \tag{5.5.4}$$

is invariant under the deformed diffeomorphisms

$$\delta_{\xi} \left(\int \mathrm{d}^4 x \ E^* \star R \right) = 0. \tag{5.5.5}$$

The problem with this so far undetermined \star -density is that the transformation law (5.5.2) does not give enough conditions to fix E^{\star} uniquely. Adding the requirement of the proper commutative limit does not help. For example, we can take

$$E^{\star} = \sqrt{-g},\tag{5.5.6}$$

that is the classical object. It transforms like (5.5.2) and (of course) has the good commutative limit. Also, following the arguments from Section 5.2, one can take

$$E^{\star} = \sqrt{-G}, \quad G = \det G_{\mu\nu} = \det(g_{\mu\nu} + G^{1}_{\mu\nu} + \dots),$$
 (5.5.7)

where $G^{1}_{\mu\nu}$ is the first order correction to the noncommutative metric tensor.

Let us consider this possibility in more detail. The deformed Einstein-Hilbert action is then

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \,\sqrt{-G} \star R \tag{5.5.8}$$

and we suppose that R is expressed in terms of $G_{\mu\nu}$ and its inverse using (5.4.11), (5.4.18) and (5.4.24). Varying the action (5.5.8) with respect to $G_{\mu\nu}$ leads to

$$\delta S = \int d^4 x \left(\left(\delta \sqrt{-G} \right) \star R + \sqrt{-G} \star \left(\delta R \right) \right)$$

=
$$\int d^4 x \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{-G} G^{\mu\nu} (\delta G_{\nu\mu}) \right) \star R + \sqrt{-G} \star \left(\delta R \right) \right).$$
(5.5.9)

Here we have used that

$$\delta G = \delta(\det(G_{\mu\nu})) = GG^{\mu\nu}(\delta G_{\nu\mu}). \tag{5.5.10}$$

The problem with (5.5.9) is that in the first term we have a mixture of the- \star -product and the usual pointwise product. This makes it difficult (impossible) to write (5.5.9) in the following form

$$\delta S = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \delta G_{\mu\nu} \star \left(\dots\right). \tag{5.5.11}$$

In order to have *-product everywhere one should know how to define $(\sqrt{-G})_*$. Unfortunately, the square root is a concept which is hard to generalise, so we have to try something else.

The classical action (5.1.21) can be written in a different way

$$S = \int d^4x \ eR^0, \tag{5.5.12}$$

where $e = \det e_{\mu}^{a}$ is the determinant of the classical vierbein. In Section 5.2 we have already introduced the noncommutative vierbein and we have to generalise the concept of a determinant. This is not too difficult, we define the *-determinant as

$$E^{\star} = \det_{\star} E_{\mu}^{\ a} = \frac{1}{4!} \varepsilon^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_4} \varepsilon_{a_1 \dots a_4} E_{\mu_1}^{\ a_1} \star \dots \star E_{\mu_4}^{\ a_4}, \qquad (5.5.13)$$

where $\varepsilon^{\mu_1...\mu_4}$ is the totally antisymmetric tensor of rank 4. By using the comultiplication (5.2.19) one checks that (5.5.13) has the right transformation property (5.5.2) and (5.3.14) ensures the good commutative limit.

Finally, the deformed Einstein-Hilbert action we define as

$$S = \int d^4x \left(E^* \star R + \text{ c.c.} \right),$$

= $\int d^4x \left(E^* \star R + \overline{R} \star \overline{E^*} \right).$ (5.5.14)

In order to have a real action we added the complex conjugated part also. The action (5.5.14) can be varied with respect to $E_{\mu}^{\ a}$ to give the equations of motion. Of course, this fixes our choice of the noncommutative metric tensor to (5.3.13) and all the quantities like $R_{\mu\nu}$, R, ... have to be expressed in terms of $E_{\mu}^{\ a}$.

5.6 Equations of motion

In this section we calculate the equations of motion coming from the action (5.5.14). We vary the action only with respect to $E_{\mu}^{\ a}$, equations coming from the variation with respect to $\bar{E}_{\mu}^{\ a}$ are the complex conjugate of the equation coming from variation with respect to $E_{\mu}^{\ a}$. Therefore, we ignore the second term in (5.5.14),

$$\delta S = \int d^4 x \left((\delta E^*) \star R + E^* \star (\delta R) \right)$$

= I + II. (5.6.1)

The first term is not difficult to calculate, it follows from (5.5.13)

$$I = \int d^{4}x \ (\delta E^{\star}) \star R$$

= $\frac{1}{4!} \epsilon^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\mu_{4}} \epsilon_{a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}a_{4}} \int d^{4}x \ (\delta E_{\mu_{1}}^{\ a_{1}}) \star \left(E_{\mu_{2}}^{\ a_{2}} \star E_{\mu_{3}}^{\ a_{3}} \star E_{\mu_{4}}^{\ a_{4}} \star R \right)$
+ $E_{\mu_{3}}^{\ a_{3}} \star E_{\mu_{4}}^{\ a_{4}} \star R \star E_{\mu_{2}}^{\ a_{2}} + E_{\mu_{4}}^{\ a_{4}} \star R \star E_{\mu_{2}}^{\ a_{2}} \star E_{\mu_{3}}^{\ a_{3}} + R \star E_{\mu_{2}}^{\ a_{2}} \star E_{\mu_{3}}^{\ a_{3}} \star E_{\mu_{4}}^{\ a_{3}} \star E_{\mu_{4}}^{\ a_{3}} \star E_{\mu_{4}}^{\ a_{4}} \right).$ (5.6.2)

The second term is more complicated and we do it in a few steps. We write it in terms of the variation of the metric tensor,

$$II = \int d^4x \ E^* \star (\delta R) = \dots$$
$$= \int d^4x \ (\delta G_{\alpha\beta}) \star \mathcal{M}^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (5.6.3)$$

where $\mathcal{M}^{\alpha\beta}$ is a complicated function of $G_{\mu\nu}$ (or of $E_{\mu}^{\ a}$) which we have to calculate. Finally, one inserts $\delta G_{\alpha\beta}$ in terms of $\delta E_{\mu}^{\ a}$ which follows from (5.3.13).

From (5.3.16) and (5.4.24) it follows

$$\delta G^{\mu\nu\star} = -G^{\mu\alpha\star} \star (\delta G_{\alpha\beta}) \star G^{\beta\nu\star}, \tag{5.6.4}$$

$$\delta\Gamma^{\ \alpha}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \Big((\partial_{\mu}\delta G_{\nu\gamma}) + (\partial_{\nu}\delta G_{\mu\gamma}) - (\partial_{\gamma}\delta G_{\mu\nu}) \Big) \star G^{\gamma\alpha\star} - \Gamma^{\ \lambda}_{\mu\nu} \star (\delta G_{\lambda\omega}) \star G^{\omega\alpha\star}.$$
(5.6.5)

By using this results we obtain

$$\delta R = -G^{\mu\alpha\star} \star (\delta G_{\alpha\beta}) \star G^{\beta\nu\star} \star R_{\nu\mu} + G^{\mu\nu\star} \star \left((\partial_{\alpha}\delta\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}) - (\partial_{\nu}\delta\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\alpha}) + (\delta\Gamma^{\beta}_{\alpha\mu}) \star \Gamma^{\beta}_{\beta\nu} + \Gamma^{\beta}_{\alpha\mu} \star (\delta\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\nu}) - (\delta\Gamma^{\beta}_{\mu\nu}) \star \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\alpha} - \Gamma^{\beta}_{\mu\nu} \star (\delta\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\alpha}) \right).$$
(5.6.6)

Inserting this into (5.6.3) gives (after some cyclic permutation and partial integration)

$$\begin{split} II &= \int \mathrm{d}^{4}x \left(\delta G_{\beta\gamma} \right) \star \left(-G^{\gamma\nu\star} \star R_{\nu\mu} \star E^{\star} \star G^{\mu\beta\star} + G^{\gamma\alpha\star} \star E^{\star} \star G^{\mu\nu\star} \star R_{\alpha\nu\mu}{}^{\beta} \right. \\ &+ \left(G^{\gamma\lambda\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\alpha} - \left(\partial_{\alpha}G^{\gamma\alpha\star} \right) \right) \star E^{\star} \star G^{\mu\nu\star} \star \Gamma_{\mu\nu}{}^{\beta} \\ &- \left(G^{\gamma\lambda\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\nu}{}^{\alpha} - \left(\partial_{\nu}G^{\gamma\alpha\star} \right) \right) \star E^{\star} \star G^{\mu\nu\star} \star \Gamma_{\alpha\mu}{}^{\beta} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\mu} \left(G^{\gamma\alpha\star} \star E^{\star} \star G^{\mu\beta\star} - G^{\mu\alpha\star} \star E^{\star} \star G^{\gamma\beta\star} \\ &- G^{\gamma\beta\star} \star E^{\star} \star G^{\mu\alpha\star} + G^{\mu\beta\star} \star E^{\star} \star G^{\gamma\alpha\star} \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \left(\left(\left(\partial_{\alpha}G^{\gamma\alpha\star} \right) - G^{\gamma\lambda\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\alpha} \right) \star E^{\star} \star G^{\beta\lambda\star} \\ &- \left(\left(\partial_{\alpha}G^{\mu\alpha\star} \right) - G^{\gamma\lambda\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\alpha} \right) \star E^{\star} \star G^{\beta\lambda\star} \\ &- \left(\left(\partial_{\lambda}G^{\gamma\mu\star} \right) - G^{\gamma\alpha\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\beta} \right) \star E^{\star} \star G^{\beta\lambda\star} \\ &- \left(\left(\partial_{\lambda}G^{\gamma\beta\star} \right) - G^{\gamma\alpha\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\beta} \right) \star E^{\star} \star G^{\gamma\lambda\star} \\ &- \left(\left(\partial_{\lambda}G^{\mu\beta\star} \right) - G^{\mu\alpha\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\beta} \right) \star E^{\star} \star G^{\gamma\lambda\star} \\ &- \left(\left(\partial_{\lambda}G^{\mu\beta\star} \right) - G^{\mu\alpha\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\beta} \right) \star E^{\star} \star G^{\alpha\lambda\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\mu} \\ &- \left(\left(\partial_{\lambda}G^{\mu\alpha\star} - G^{\mu\gamma\star} \right) \star E^{\star} \star G^{\alpha\lambda\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\beta} \\ &- \left(\left(\partial_{\lambda}G^{\mu\lambda\star} + G^{\lambda\gamma\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\beta} - G^{\lambda\beta\star} \star \Gamma_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\mu} \right) \right) \right)$$
 (5.6.7)
$$\overset{\mathrm{def}}{=} \int \mathrm{d}^{4}x \left(\delta G_{\beta\gamma} \right) \star \mathcal{M}^{\beta\gamma}. \end{split}$$

Inserting

$$\delta G_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \Big((\delta E_{\alpha}^{\ a}) \star E_{\beta}^{\ b} + E_{\alpha}^{\ a} \star (\delta E_{\beta}^{\ b}) + (\delta E_{\beta}^{\ a}) \star E_{\alpha}^{\ b} + E_{\beta}^{\ a} \star (\delta E_{\alpha}^{\ b}) \Big)$$
(5.6.8)

into (5.6.7) and adding (5.6.2) to it, gives finally

$$\delta S = \int d^4 x \, (\delta E_{\beta}^{\ a}) \star \\ \left(\frac{1}{4!} \epsilon^{\beta \mu_2 \mu_3 \mu_4} \epsilon_{aa_2 a_3 a_4} \left(E_{\mu_2}^{\ a_2} \star E_{\mu_3}^{\ a_3} \star E_{\mu_4}^{\ a_4} \star R + E_{\mu_3}^{\ a_3} \star E_{\mu_4}^{\ a_4} \star R \star E_{\mu_2}^{\ a_2} \right) \\ + E_{\mu_4}^{\ a_4} \star R \star E_{\mu_2}^{\ a_2} \star E_{\mu_3}^{\ a_3} + R \star E_{\mu_2}^{\ a_2} \star E_{\mu_3}^{\ a_3} \star E_{\mu_4}^{\ a_4} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \left(E_{\gamma}^{\ b} \star (\mathcal{M}^{\beta\gamma} + \mathcal{M}^{\gamma\beta}) + (\mathcal{M}^{\beta\gamma} + \mathcal{M}^{\gamma\beta}) \star E_{\gamma}^{\ b} \right) \right).$$
(5.6.9)

The equation of motion is then

$$\frac{1}{4!} \epsilon^{\beta \mu_2 \mu_3 \mu_4} \epsilon_{aa_2 a_3 a_4} \left(E_{\mu_2}^{\ a_2} \star E_{\mu_3}^{\ a_3} \star E_{\mu_4}^{\ a_4} \star R + E_{\mu_3}^{\ a_3} \star E_{\mu_4}^{\ a_4} \star R \star E_{\mu_2}^{\ a_2} + E_{\mu_4}^{\ a_4} \star R \star E_{\mu_2}^{\ a_2} \star E_{\mu_3}^{\ a_3} + R \star E_{\mu_2}^{\ a_2} \star E_{\mu_3}^{\ a_3} \star E_{\mu_4}^{\ a_4} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \left(E_{\gamma}^{\ b} \star (\mathcal{M}^{\beta\gamma} + \mathcal{M}^{\gamma\beta}) + (\mathcal{M}^{\beta\gamma} + \mathcal{M}^{\gamma\beta}) \star E_{\gamma}^{\ b} \right) = 0.$$
(5.6.10)

Unfortunately, this result is very complicated and it is difficult to make any conclusions just by looking at it. The expansion in the deformation parameter might be of some help here, so we proceed in that way in the next section.

5.7 Expansion in the deformation parameter

In this section we expand some of the results from the previous sections up to first order in the deformation parameter θ and in terms of the classical fields, vierbein e_{μ}^{a} , metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and the inverse metric $g^{\mu\nu 11}$. We start with the basic object, the vierbein. It is given by

$$E_{\mu}^{\ a} = e_{\mu}^{\ a} + E_{\mu}^{\ a\,1} + \dots, \qquad (5.7.1)$$

where $E_{\mu}^{\ a\ 1}$ is linear in $\theta^{\rho\sigma}$. Note that this differs from the approach that was taken in the paper [36]. There the vierbein is taken to be the classical object, keeping in mind that after solving the equations of motion it becomes θ -dependent. Here we start from the beginning with the θ -dependent object. Using (5.7.1) and (5.5.13) one calculates E^*

$$E^{\star} = e + \frac{1}{3!} \epsilon^{\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3 \mu_4} \epsilon_{a_1 a_2 a_3 a_4} E^{a_1 \, 1}_{\mu_1} e^{a_2}_{\mu_2} e^{a_3}_{\mu_3} e^{a_4}_{\mu_4}. \tag{5.7.2}$$

From (5.3.13) and (5.3.16) it follows

$$G_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} + \eta_{ab} \left(E_{\mu}^{\ a\ 1} e_{\nu}^{\ b} + e_{\mu}^{\ a} E_{\nu}^{\ b\ 1} \right), \tag{5.7.3}$$

$$G^{\mu\nu\star} = g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{\iota}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} g^{\mu\alpha} (\partial_{\rho} g_{\alpha\beta}) (\partial_{\sigma} g^{\beta\nu}) -\eta_{ab} g^{\mu\alpha} (E_{\alpha}^{\ a\ 1} e_{\beta}^{\ b} + e_{\alpha}^{\ a} E_{\beta}^{\ b\ 1}) g^{\beta\nu}.$$
(5.7.4)

¹¹Since one can express $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $g^{\mu\nu}$ in terms of e_{μ}^{a} , what we obtain might not be the final form for the results.

For the Christoffel symbol from (5.4.24) we obtain

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = \Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{4} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left(\partial_{\rho} \partial_{\mu} g_{\gamma\nu} + \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\nu} g_{\gamma\mu} - \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\gamma} g_{\mu\nu} \right) \left(\partial_{\sigma} g^{\gamma\alpha} \right)
- \frac{i}{4} \Gamma^{0\,\gamma}_{\mu\nu} \left(\theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} g_{\gamma\omega}) (\partial_{\sigma} g^{\omega\alpha}) - 2i\eta_{ab} \left(E_{\gamma}^{\ a\,1} e_{\omega}^{\ b} + e_{\gamma}^{\ a} E_{\omega}^{\ b\,1} \right) g^{\omega\alpha} \right)
+ \eta_{ab} \left(\partial_{\mu} \left(E_{\nu}^{\ a\,1} e_{\gamma}^{\ b} + e_{\nu}^{\ a} E_{\gamma}^{\ b\,1} \right)
+ \partial_{\nu} \left(E_{\mu}^{\ a\,1} e_{\gamma}^{\ b} + e_{\mu}^{\ a} E_{\gamma}^{\ b\,1} \right) - \partial_{\gamma} \left(E_{\mu}^{\ a\,1} e_{\nu}^{\ b} + e_{\mu}^{\ a} E_{\nu}^{\ b\,1} \right) \right) g^{\gamma\alpha}
= \Gamma^{0\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu} + \Gamma^{\ \alpha\,1}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(5.7.5)

We see that already this result is long and not very readable. Therefore, we just give the implicit result for the curvature tensor

$$R_{\mu\nu\alpha}{}^{\beta} = R^{0}_{\mu\nu\alpha}{}^{\beta} + (\partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\beta}_{\mu\alpha}{}^{1}) - (\partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\beta}_{\nu\alpha}{}^{1}) + \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \left((\partial_{\rho}\Gamma^{0\lambda}_{\nu\alpha})(\partial_{\sigma}\Gamma^{0\beta}_{\lambda\mu}) - (\partial_{\rho}\Gamma^{0\lambda}_{\mu\alpha})(\partial_{\sigma}\Gamma^{0\beta}_{\lambda\nu}) \right) + \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\nu\alpha}\Gamma^{0\beta}_{\lambda\mu} + \Gamma^{0\lambda}_{\nu\alpha}\Gamma^{\beta}_{\lambda\mu} - \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\alpha}\Gamma^{0\beta}_{\lambda\nu} - \Gamma^{0\lambda}_{\mu\alpha}\Gamma^{\beta}_{\lambda\nu}.$$
(5.7.6)

One can continue like this and calculate $R_{\mu\nu}$ and R in terms of the classical fields and corrections. This results can be inserted into the equation of motion (5.6.10) obtained in the previous section. Solving that equation one finds the corrections to the classical vierbein and sees how the noncommutativity influences the classical solutions. However, we are not going to do these calculations here, they will be the subject of future research.

5.8 The θ -deformed Poincaré algebra

In this section we consider one special example of the deformed diffeomorphisms. Namely, we take the vector field ξ to be linear in the coordinates

$$\xi_{\omega} = x^{\mu} \omega_{\mu}^{\ \lambda} \partial_{\lambda}, \tag{5.8.1}$$

where $\omega_{\mu\nu}$ is a constant antisymmetric matrix. One obtains in this way the global θ -deformed Lorentz transformations.

The transformation law of a scalar field is

$$\delta_{\omega}\phi = -X^{\star}_{\omega} \triangleright \phi = -x^{\mu}\omega^{\lambda}_{\mu}(\partial_{\lambda}\phi), \qquad (5.8.2)$$

where 12

$$X^{\star}_{\omega} = x^{\mu}\omega^{\ \lambda}_{\mu}\partial^{\star}_{\lambda} - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}\omega^{\ \lambda}_{\rho}\partial^{\star}_{\lambda}\partial^{\star}_{\sigma}.$$
(5.8.3)

Since ξ_{ω} is linear in x, formula (5.8.3) is already the exact expression to all orders in θ . We rewrite (5.8.2) in a more familiar way

$$\delta_{\omega}\phi = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}L_{\alpha\beta}\phi, \qquad (5.8.4)$$

¹²In this section we write ∂^{\star}_{μ} to stress that the derivatives are the elements of the θ -deformed Poincaré algebra. However, one can also use the ∂_{μ} notation, results are the same.

where $L_{\alpha\beta}$ is the orbital part of the Lorentz generator $M_{\alpha\beta}$ given by

$$L_{\alpha\beta} = x_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta} - x_{\beta}\partial_{\alpha},$$

= $x_{\alpha} \star \partial_{\beta}^{\star} - x_{\beta} \star \partial_{\alpha}^{\star} + \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} (\eta_{\rho\alpha}\partial_{\beta}^{\star} - \eta_{\rho\beta}\partial_{\alpha}^{\star})\partial_{\sigma}^{\star}.$ (5.8.5)

The first line of (5.8.5) tells us that $L_{\alpha\beta}$ is the same like in the classical case. In the second line this result is rewritten in terms of the \star -product such that it also has a meaning in the abstract algebra¹³. In order to include the spin part of $M_{\alpha\beta}$ we look at the transformation law of a vector field

$$\delta_{\omega}V_{\mu} = -X_{\omega}^{\star} \triangleright V_{\mu} - X_{\omega_{\mu}}^{\star} \triangleright V_{\alpha}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}(x_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta} - x_{\beta}\partial_{\alpha})V_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}(\eta_{\mu\alpha}V_{\beta} - \eta_{\mu\beta}V_{\alpha})$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}(L_{\alpha\beta} + \Sigma_{\alpha\beta})V_{\mu},$$
(5.8.6)

where $\Sigma_{\alpha\beta}$ is the constant matrix in the index space of fields. Again, the obtained result is equal to the classical one.

From (5.2.13) it follows

$$[\delta_{\omega}, \delta_{\omega'}] = \delta_{[\omega, \omega']}, \tag{5.8.7}$$

or in terms of the generators $M_{\alpha\beta}$

$$[M_{\rho\sigma}, M_{\alpha\beta}] = \eta_{\rho\beta}M_{\sigma\alpha} + \eta_{\sigma\alpha}M_{\rho\beta} - \eta_{\rho\alpha}M_{\sigma\beta} - \eta_{\sigma\beta}M_{\rho\alpha}.$$
 (5.8.8)

If derivatives are included as well,

$$[\delta_{\omega}, \partial_{\mu}^{\star}] = \omega_{\mu}^{\ \alpha} \partial_{\alpha}^{\star}, \tag{5.8.9}$$

or

$$[M_{\alpha\beta}, \partial_{\mu}^{\star}] = \eta_{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\beta}^{\star} - \eta_{\mu\beta}\partial_{\alpha}^{\star} \quad \text{and} \quad [\partial_{\mu}^{\star}, \partial_{\nu}^{\star}] = 0$$
(5.8.10)

we see that the algebra sector of the θ -deformed Poincaré transformations is undeformed.

Let us now look at the coprodut for this transformations. From (5.2.19) it follows

$$\Delta\delta_{\omega} = \delta_{\omega} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \delta_{\omega} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\partial_{\rho}^{\star} \star \delta_{\omega}) \otimes \partial_{\sigma}^{\star} + \partial_{\rho}^{\star} \otimes (\partial_{\sigma}^{\star} \star \delta_{\omega}) \Big), \tag{5.8.11}$$

or

$$\Delta M_{\alpha\beta} = M_{\alpha\beta} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes M_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\eta_{\rho\alpha} \partial^{\star}_{\beta} - \eta_{\rho\beta} \partial^{\star}_{\alpha}) \otimes \partial^{\star}_{\sigma} + \partial^{\star}_{\rho} \otimes (\eta_{\sigma\alpha} \partial^{\star}_{\beta} - \eta_{\sigma\beta} \partial^{\star}_{\alpha}) \Big).$$
(5.8.12)

 $^{13}\overline{\rm In}$ the abstract algebra $L_{\alpha\beta}$ reads

$$L_{\alpha\beta} = \hat{x}_{\alpha}\hat{\partial}_{\beta} - \hat{x}_{\beta}\hat{\partial}_{\alpha} + \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma} \big(\eta_{\rho\alpha}\hat{\partial}_{\beta} - \eta_{\rho\beta}\hat{\partial}_{\alpha}\big)\hat{\partial}_{\sigma}$$

Splitting $M_{\alpha\beta}$ into orbital and spin parts gives (looking at (5.8.11) and noticing that $\Sigma_{\alpha\beta}$ is constant matrix)

$$\Delta L_{\alpha\beta} = L_{\alpha\beta} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes L_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\eta_{\rho\alpha} \partial^{\star}_{\beta} - \eta_{\rho\beta} \partial^{\star}_{\alpha}) \otimes \partial^{\star}_{\sigma} + \partial^{\star}_{\rho} \otimes (\eta_{\sigma\alpha} \partial^{\star}_{\beta} - \eta_{\sigma\beta} \partial^{\star}_{\alpha}) \Big), \qquad (5.8.13)$$

$$\Delta \Sigma_{\alpha\beta} = \Sigma_{\alpha\beta} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \Sigma_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{5.8.14}$$

We see that the coproduct for the orbital part of the generator $M_{\alpha\beta}$ is deformed, while for the spin part we obtain the undeformed coproduct. The coassociativity follows from the coassociativity of (5.2.19), as well as the consistency with the algebra. Adding counits and antipods defines the θ -deformed Poncaré Hopf algebra

$$\begin{split} [M_{\rho\sigma}, M_{\alpha\beta}] &= \eta_{\rho\beta} M_{\sigma\alpha} + \eta_{\sigma\alpha} M_{\rho\beta} - \eta_{\rho\alpha} M_{\sigma\beta} - \eta_{\sigma\beta} M_{\rho\alpha}, \\ [M_{\alpha\beta}, \partial^{\star}_{\mu}] &= \eta_{\mu\alpha} \partial^{\star}_{\beta} - \eta_{\mu\beta} \partial^{\star}_{\alpha}, \qquad [\partial^{\star}_{\mu}, \partial^{\star}_{\nu}] = 0, \\ \Delta M_{\alpha\beta} &= M_{\alpha\beta} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes M_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\eta_{\rho\alpha} \partial^{\star}_{\beta} - \eta_{\rho\beta} \partial^{\star}_{\alpha}) \otimes \partial^{\star}_{\sigma} + \partial^{\star}_{\rho} \otimes (\eta_{\sigma\alpha} \partial^{\star}_{\beta} - \eta_{\sigma\beta} \partial^{\star}_{\alpha}) \Big), \\ \Delta \partial^{\star}_{\mu} &= \partial^{\star}_{\mu} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial^{\star}_{\mu}, \\ \varepsilon(\partial^{\star}_{\mu}) &= 0, \qquad \varepsilon(M_{\alpha\beta}) = 0, \\ S(\partial^{\star}_{\mu}) &= -\partial^{\star}_{\mu}, \qquad S(M_{\alpha\beta}) = -M_{\alpha\beta}. \end{split}$$
(5.8.15)

One should notice that the generators $M_{\alpha\beta}$ do not close the Hopf algebra themselves since in (5.8.12) derivatives appear. Using different approaches, this result was obtained in [37] [39], [40] also.

Having the θ -deformed Poincaré symmetry at hand, one can construct theories that are invariant under this symmetry and analyse their properties. We give one very simple example. Let us consider ϕ^3 theory

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu}^{\star} \star \phi) \star (\partial^{\star \mu} \star \phi) - \frac{m^2}{2} \phi \star \phi - \lambda \phi \star \phi \star \phi.$$
 (5.8.16)

One checks that under (5.8.15) this Lagrangian density transforms as

$$\delta_{\omega}\mathcal{L} = -X^{\star}_{\omega} \triangleright \mathcal{L} = -x^{\alpha}\omega_{\alpha}^{\ \lambda}(\partial_{\lambda}\mathcal{L}).$$
(5.8.17)

To construct the action we use the usual integral as in Section 5.5 and obtain

$$S = \int d^4x \left(\frac{1}{2} (\partial^*_\mu \star \phi) \star (\partial^{\star\mu} \star \phi) - \frac{m^2}{2} \phi \star \phi - \lambda \phi \star \phi \star \phi \right).$$
(5.8.18)

From (5.8.17) it follows that this action is invariant. Using the variational principle as in Section 5.6

$$\delta S = \delta \left(\int d^4 x \left(-\frac{1}{2} \phi \star (\partial^{\star \mu} \partial^{\star}_{\mu} \phi) - \frac{m^2}{2} \phi \star \phi - \lambda \phi \star \phi \star \phi \right) \right)$$
$$= \int d^4 x \, \delta \phi(x) \star \left(-2\frac{1}{2} (\partial^{\star \mu} \partial^{\star}_{\mu} \phi) - 2\frac{m^2}{2} \phi - 3\lambda \phi \star \phi \right)$$
(5.8.19)

we obtain the following equation of motion

$$(\partial^{\star\mu}\partial^{\star}_{\mu}\phi) + m^{2}\phi + 3\lambda\phi \star \phi = 0.$$
(5.8.20)

The other way to obtain (5.8.20) (expanded in the deformation parameter) is to first expand the \star -products in the action (5.8.18) and then vary it with respect to the field ϕ .

Since we have an action invariant under the θ -deformed Poincaré symmetry, the next step is to look at the conserved quantities. Unfortunately, this does not seem to be straightforward. It looks as the energy momentum tensor is either conserved or symmetric and not both. This remains as an open question and will be considered in the future.

5.9 Noncommutative gauge theory, revisited

At the end of this chapter we return to the noncommutative gauge theory.

The starting point for our construction of the noncommutative gauge theory in Chapter 3 was the consistency condition for the noncommutative gauge parameter

$$\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta} - \delta_{\beta}\Lambda_{\alpha} - i\Lambda_{\alpha} \star \Lambda_{\beta} + i\Lambda_{\beta} \star \Lambda_{\alpha} = \Lambda_{-i[\alpha,\beta]}, \qquad (5.9.1)$$

or expanded up to first order in the deformation parameter

$$\begin{aligned} \theta^0 : & -i[\Lambda^0_{\alpha}, \Lambda^0_{\beta}] = \Lambda^0_{-i[\alpha,\beta]} \quad \Rightarrow \Lambda^0_{\alpha} = \alpha \\ \theta^1 : & \delta_{\alpha} \Lambda^1_{\beta} - \delta_{\beta} \Lambda^1_{\alpha} - i[\Lambda^1_{\alpha}, \beta] - i[\alpha, \Lambda^1_{\beta}] - i[\alpha \, {}^{\star 1}_{\beta} \, \beta] = \Lambda^1_{-i[\alpha,\beta]}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.9.2)$$

Because of the inhomogeneous term $-i[\alpha ; \beta]$ in the last equation we said that $\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta}^{1}$ must be different from zero in order to cancel this term and that led to the Seiberg-Witten map construction. However, this is true only if we do not allow Λ_{α} to be derivative-valued, that is a differential operator. But we can try to follow the strategy from the previous sections now. Namely, one can lift the commutative gauge transformations to the *-product representation as we have done for the diffeomorphisms.

The transformation

$$\delta_{\alpha}\psi = i\alpha\psi \tag{5.9.3}$$

can be written as

$$\delta_{\alpha}\psi = iX_{\alpha}^{\star} \triangleright \psi, \tag{5.9.4}$$

where

$$X_{\alpha}^{\star} = \sum_{n} \left(\frac{-i}{2}\right)^{n} \frac{1}{n!} \theta^{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}} \dots \theta^{\rho_{n}\sigma_{n}} \left(\partial_{\rho_{1}} \dots \partial_{\rho_{n}}\alpha\right) \partial_{\sigma_{1}} \dots \partial_{\sigma_{n}}$$
$$= \alpha - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho}\alpha) \partial_{\sigma} + \dots$$
(5.9.5)

By inserting $\Lambda^1_{\alpha} = -\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\alpha)\partial_{\sigma}$ in (5.9.2) we see that, although now $\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda^1_{\beta} = 0$, this equation is satisfied due to the derivative valuedness of Λ^1_{α} . Both

$$\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha} = -\frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} \alpha) \partial_{\sigma} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Lambda^{1}_{\alpha} \stackrel{dv}{=}$$
(5.9.6)

$$\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \{A^{0}_{\rho}, \partial_{\sigma}\alpha\} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Lambda^{1}_{\alpha} \stackrel{ea}{=}$$
(5.9.7)

are the first order hermitian solutions of the consistency condition (5.9.2). While (5.9.7) is enveloping algebra-valued, (5.9.6) is derivative-valued. One can always change from one to the other adding terms which are solutions of the homogeneous equation

$$\delta_{\alpha}\Lambda^{1}_{\beta} - \delta_{\beta}\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha} - i[\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha},\beta] - i[\alpha,\Lambda^{1}_{\beta}] = \Lambda^{1}_{-i[\alpha,\beta]}.$$
(5.9.8)

One checks explicitly that

$$\Lambda^{1}_{\alpha}{}^{ea} = \Lambda^{1}_{\alpha}{}^{dv} + \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\alpha)\mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} - \frac{1}{4}\theta^{\rho\sigma}[\partial_{\rho}\alpha, A^{0}_{\sigma}].$$
(5.9.9)

But there is an important difference. With the enveloping algebra-valued gauge parameter we have

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\bar{\psi} \star \psi) = (\delta_{\alpha}\bar{\psi}) \star \psi + \bar{\psi} \star (\delta_{\alpha}\psi)$$
$$= -i\bar{\psi} \star \Lambda_{\alpha} \star \psi + i\bar{\psi} \star \Lambda_{\alpha} \star \psi = 0,$$

that is $\bar{\psi} \star \psi$ is invariant under the noncommutative gauge transformation. The situation is different with the derivative-valued gauge parameter

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\bar{\psi} \star \psi) = (\delta_{\alpha}\bar{\psi}) \star \psi + \bar{\psi} \star (\delta_{\alpha}\psi)$$
$$= -i(\bar{\psi} \triangleleft X_{\alpha}^{\star}) \star \psi + i\bar{\psi} \star (X_{\alpha}^{\star} \triangleright \psi),$$

where $(\bar{\psi} \triangleleft X_{\alpha}^{\star})$ means that the derivatives from X_{α}^{\star} act on $\bar{\psi}$. Expanding this up to first order in θ

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\bar{\psi} \star \psi) = -i\left(\bar{\psi} \star \alpha - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\bar{\psi}) \star (\partial_{\sigma}\alpha)\right) \star \psi$$
$$+i\bar{\psi} \star \left(\alpha \star \psi - \frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}\alpha) \star (\partial_{\sigma}\psi)\right) \neq 0$$

one sees that the first order terms do not cancel and $\bar{\psi} \star \psi$ is not invariant. Continuing to higher orders does not improve this. We had the same problem when analysing the diffeomorphisms. There we deformed the coproduct of transformations in order to achieve the invariance of the \star -product of two scalar fields for example. It is possible to do the same here. However, we do not want to change the coproduct of the gauge transformations since that is not in the agreement with the philosophy of the Seiberg-Witten map (the commutative gauge transformations induce the noncommutative ones). Instead, one observes that under the integral the term $\bar{\psi} \star \psi$ becomes invariant

$$\begin{split} \delta_{\alpha} \int \mathrm{d}^{4}x \, \bar{\psi} \star \psi &= \dots \\ &= \int \mathrm{d}^{4}x \left(-\frac{1}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} \bar{\psi}) (\partial_{\sigma} \alpha) \psi + \frac{1}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} \bar{\psi} (\partial_{\rho} \alpha) (\partial_{\sigma} \psi) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^{4}x \, \theta^{\rho\sigma} \Big((\partial_{\rho} \bar{\psi}) (\partial_{\sigma} \alpha) \psi + \partial_{\sigma} (\bar{\psi} (\partial_{\rho} \alpha)) \psi) \\ &- (\partial_{\sigma} \bar{\psi}) (\partial_{\rho} \alpha)) \psi - \bar{\psi} (\partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} \alpha)) \psi \Big) = 0 \end{split}$$

We partially integrated the second term in the first line, dropped one surface term, cancelled $\theta^{\rho\sigma}\bar{\psi}(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\alpha))\psi$ term due to the antisymmetry of $\theta^{\rho\sigma}$ and by using again the antisymmetry of $\theta^{\rho\sigma}$ we changed indices ρ and σ in the third term.

One can continue to higher orders and the conclusion is the same, $\bar{\psi} \star \psi$ is invariant under the integral only. That means that the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_m = \bar{\psi} \star \left(i \gamma^\mu \mathcal{D}_\mu \psi - m \psi \right)$$

is not gauge invariant as before (with the enveloping algebra-valued transformations), but the action

$$S_m = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \bar{\psi} \star \left(i \gamma^\mu \mathcal{D}_\mu \psi - m \psi \right)$$

is gauge invariant. This situation we have already met in the case of the Lagrangian (action) for the gauge field. Namely,

$$\mathcal{L}_g = -\frac{1}{4} \mathrm{Tr}(F_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\mu\nu})$$

is only gauge covariant, $\delta_{\alpha} \mathcal{L}_g = i[\Lambda_{\alpha} * \mathcal{L}_g]$, but the action

$$S_g = -\frac{1}{4} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \mathrm{Tr}(F_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\mu\nu})$$

is gauge invariant provided that the integral has the cyclic property (see Section 4.1).

From this perspective it looks like there is no need to deform the coproduct for (5.9.4) transformations. One can do that of course, but we do not consider that possibility here. Instead we continue as usual, by introducing the covariant derivative.

From the definition of the covariant derivative it follows

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi) = iX_{\alpha}^{\star} \triangleright (\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi) = iX_{\alpha}^{\star} \triangleright (\partial_{\mu}\psi - iV_{\mu} \triangleright \psi),$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}V_{\mu} \triangleright \psi = (\partial_{\mu}X_{\alpha}^{\star}) \triangleright \psi + i\left(X_{\alpha}^{\star} \star V_{\mu} - V_{\mu} \star X_{\alpha}^{\star}\right) \triangleright \psi,$$

or

$$\delta_{\alpha}V_{\mu} = (\partial_{\mu}X_{\alpha}^{\star}) + i\Big(X_{\alpha}^{\star} \star V_{\mu} - V_{\mu} \star X_{\alpha}^{\star}\Big).$$
(5.9.10)

Here V_{μ} is the noncommutative gauge field and writing $V_{\mu} \triangleright \psi$ we are taking into account that it might be derivative valued. Expanding (5.9.10) to first order gives

$$\theta^0: \quad \delta_\alpha V^0_\mu = \partial_\mu \alpha + i[\alpha, V^0_\mu] \tag{5.9.11}$$

$$\theta^{1}: \quad \delta_{\alpha}V_{\mu}^{1} = -\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho\partial_{\mu}}\alpha)\partial_{\sigma} + i[\alpha, V_{\mu}^{1}] \\ + \frac{1}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}\Big((\partial_{\rho}\alpha)V_{\mu}^{0} - (\partial_{\rho}V_{\mu}^{0})\alpha + \alpha(\partial_{\rho}V_{\mu}^{0}) - V_{\mu}^{0}(\partial_{\rho}\alpha)\Big)\partial_{\sigma}. \quad (5.9.12)$$

The zeroth order solution is the commutative gauge field $V^0_{\mu} = A^0_{\mu}$, the first order solution (up to the solutions of the homogeneous equation) is

$$V^{1}_{\mu} = -\frac{i}{2}\theta^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\rho}A^{0}_{\mu})\partial_{\sigma}.$$
(5.9.13)

Continuing to higher orders leads to the following result

$$V_{\mu} = A^{0}_{\mu} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} A^{0}_{\mu}) \partial_{\sigma} + \dots$$
$$= \sum_{n} \left(\frac{-i}{2}\right)^{n} \frac{1}{n!} \theta^{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}} \dots \theta^{\rho_{n}\sigma_{n}} \left(\partial_{\rho_{1}} \dots \partial_{\rho_{n}} A^{0}_{\mu}\right) \partial_{\sigma_{1}} \dots \partial_{\sigma_{n}} = X^{\star}_{A^{0}_{\mu}}.$$
(5.9.14)

The field-strength tensor is

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = i[\mathcal{D}_{\mu} * \mathcal{D}_{\nu}] = F^{0}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} F^{0}_{\mu\nu}) \partial_{\sigma} + \dots$$
$$= \sum_{n} \left(\frac{-i}{2}\right)^{n} \frac{1}{n!} \theta^{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}} \dots \theta^{\rho_{n}\sigma_{n}} \left(\partial_{\rho_{1}} \dots \partial_{\rho_{n}} F^{0}_{\mu\nu}\right) \partial_{\sigma_{1}} \dots \partial_{\sigma_{n}} = X^{\star}_{F^{0}_{\mu\nu}}. \tag{5.9.15}$$

Its transformation law is given by

$$\delta_{\alpha} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = i[X_{\alpha} \stackrel{*}{,} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}] = X_{i[\alpha, F^0_{\mu\nu}]}. \tag{5.9.16}$$

From (5.9.15) it is obvious that $\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}$ is derivative-valued, just as in the case of the κ -deformed space. There we split it into the curvature-like and torsion-like terms and used only the curvature-like terms to construct the action for the gauge field. One would expect that the same could be done here. Unfortunately, this seems not to be the case. One can do the splitting, up to first order the result is

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = F^{0}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} F^{0}_{\mu\nu}) A^{0}_{\sigma} - \frac{i}{2} \theta^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\rho} F^{0}_{\mu\nu}) \mathcal{D}^{0}_{\sigma} + \dots$$

= $F_{\mu\nu} + T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{D}_{\rho} + \dots$ (5.9.17)

The problem with this result is that $F_{\mu\nu}$ (or equivalently $T^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$) does not transform covariantly,

$$\delta_{\alpha}F_{\mu\nu} \neq i[X_{\alpha} \stackrel{*}{,} F_{\mu\nu}].$$

This is far from being understood properly. However, one has to find the way to solve this since we can not construct the Lagrangian (action) for the gauge field otherwise.

Concerning the action for the matter field we can speculate that it will remain classical (commutative) since

$$S_m = \int d^4x \, \bar{\psi} \star \left(i\gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \psi - m\psi \right)$$

=
$$\int d^4x \, \bar{\psi} \left(i\gamma^{\mu} (\partial_{\mu} \psi - iV_{\mu} \triangleright \psi) - m\psi \right)$$

=
$$\int d^4x \, \bar{\psi} \left(i\gamma^{\mu} (\partial_{\mu} \psi - iA^0_{\mu} \psi) - m\psi \right),$$

where we have used the cyclicity property to remove one \star and the solution (5.9.14) for the V_{μ} field.

Another interesting problem in relation to the enveloping algebra-valued vs. derivativevalued gauge transformations is the application to the diffeomorphisms. There we have the reversed situation: the derivative-valued parameter and the connection come out naturally. The question would be if one can find the enveloping algebra analogue of these solutions. Additional difficulty is that in the case of the diffeomorphisms partial derivatives are at the same time the generators of transformations (they play the role of the gauge group generators T^a) so solution (5.9.14) is in a way already enveloping algebra-valued. However, better understanding of this is needed.

Additional motivation for studying this problem comes from the fact that the local Lorentz transformations can be treated as the usual gauge transformations. If one wants to study deformation of the classical local Lorentz transformations (and that is necessary in order to have a more general theory of gravity, not only General Relativity), the question is which approach to take. In some recent papers [53], [97] the local Lorentz transformations were analysed using the enveloping algebra approach. On the other hand, if one wants to treat the deformed local Lorentz transformations and the deformed diffeomorphisms in the same way, then to use the derivative-valued transformations looks like a natural thing to do. All this will be the subject of further research.

Appendix A Vector fields in the κ -deformed space

In Section 2.5 we have defined the transformation law of a covariant vector field using the transformation law of the Dirac derivative of a scalar field. It was also said that this is not the only way to define vector fields since derivatives on the κ -deformed space are not unique. Here we continue this discussion and as an example derive the transformation law of a vector field related with the derivative $\hat{\partial}_{\rho}$ introduced in (2.1.10).

For the convenience we use the abstract algebra approach. The transformation law of a scalar field (2.5.5), rewritten in the abstract algebra notation, is

$$\delta_{\omega}\hat{\phi}(\hat{x}) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{\phi}(\hat{x}),\tag{A.1}$$

where $\hat{L}^{\alpha\beta}$ is given by (2.2.9). The transformation law of a vector field V_{μ} (2.5.8) has been obtained by generalising the transformation law of the Dirac derivative of a scalar field. In the abstract algebra notation (2.5.8) reads

$$\delta_{\omega}\hat{V}_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \left(\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{V}_{\mu} - \eta_{\beta\mu}\hat{V}_{\alpha} + \eta_{\alpha\mu}\hat{V}_{\beta} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{V}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}[M_{\alpha\beta},\hat{V}_{\mu}].$$
(A.2)

Now we introduce a vector field \hat{A}_{μ} associated with the derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ (2.1.10). The transformation law of the $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ derivative of a scalar field is

$$\delta_{\omega}\hat{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{\phi} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}[\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta},\hat{\partial}_{\mu}]\hat{\phi}, \qquad (A.3)$$

where for $[\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}, \hat{\partial}_{\mu}]$ (2.2.7) should be inserted. The transformation law of a vector field \hat{A}_{μ} should be such that it reproduces (A.3) when \hat{A}_{μ} is replaced with $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{\phi}$. The central assumption is that in this transformation law vector fields appear linearly on the right hand side. Also, we choose that derivatives are always to the left of the vector field \hat{A}_{μ} . Since on the right hand side of (2.2.7) complicated expression of derivatives appears, the generalisation of (2.2.7) to the transformation law of a vector field \hat{A}_{μ} is not straightforward. However, demanding that this transformations close in the algebra

$$\delta_{\omega}\delta_{\omega'} - \delta_{\omega'}\delta_{\omega} = \delta_{[\omega,\omega']} \tag{A.4}$$

one finds the following solution

$$\delta_{\omega}\hat{A}_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{A}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}[M_{\alpha\beta},\hat{A}_{\mu}], \qquad (A.5)$$

with

$$[M_{ij}, \hat{A}_{l}] = \eta_{jl}\hat{A}_{i} - \eta_{il}\hat{A}_{j}, \qquad [M_{ij}, \hat{A}_{n}] = 0,$$

$$[M_{in}, \hat{A}_{l}] = \eta_{il}\frac{e^{2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}} - 1}{2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}}\hat{A}_{n} - \frac{ia}{2}\eta_{il}\hat{\partial}_{m}\hat{A}^{m} + \frac{ia}{2}(\hat{\partial}_{l}\hat{A}_{i} + \hat{\partial}_{i}\hat{A}_{l})$$

$$-\eta_{il}\frac{a}{2\hat{\partial}_{n}}\tan\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right)(\hat{\partial}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{m}\hat{A}^{m} - \hat{\partial}_{m}\hat{\partial}^{m}\hat{A}_{n})$$

$$+\left(\frac{1}{\hat{\partial}_{n}^{2}} - \frac{a}{2\hat{\partial}_{n}}\cot\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right)\right)(\hat{\partial}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{i}\hat{A}_{l} + \hat{\partial}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{l}\hat{A}_{i} - 2\hat{\partial}_{l}\hat{\partial}_{i}\hat{A}_{n}),$$

$$[M_{in}, \hat{A}_{n}] = -\hat{A}_{i}. \qquad (A.6)$$

To calculate (A.6) one makes an ansatz in terms of the power series expansion in a and inserts it into (A.4). This gives a recursion formula which can be solved and the solution¹ is given by (A.6).

The square of the vector field corresponding to the Dirac derivative $\hat{V}^{\mu}\hat{V}_{\mu}$ is an invariant under the κ -deformed Poincaré transformations. To form an invariant from the vector field \hat{A}_{μ} , we have to define a vector field \check{A}^{μ} such that

$$\delta_{\omega}(\hat{A}_{\lambda}\breve{A}^{\lambda}) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}(\hat{A}_{\lambda}\breve{A}^{\lambda}).$$
(A.7)

Using (A.6) we construct the transformation law for \check{A}^{μ}

$$\delta_{\omega}\breve{A}^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\breve{A}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}[M_{\alpha\beta},\breve{A}^{\mu}]$$
(A.8)

and

$$\begin{split} [M_{ij}, \breve{A}^{l}] &= \delta^{l}_{j} \breve{A}_{i} - \delta^{l}_{i} \breve{A}_{j}, \qquad [M_{ij}, \breve{A}^{n}] = 0, \\ [M_{in}, \breve{A}^{l}] &= -\delta^{l}_{i} \breve{A}_{n} + \frac{ia}{2} \breve{A}_{i} \hat{\partial}^{l} - \frac{ia}{2} \breve{A}^{l} \hat{\partial}_{i} - \frac{ia}{2} \delta^{l}_{i} \breve{A}^{m} \hat{\partial}_{m} \\ &+ \frac{a}{2} \breve{A}_{i} \tan\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right) \hat{\partial}^{l} - (\delta^{l}_{i} \breve{A}^{m} \hat{\partial}_{m} + \breve{A}^{l} \hat{\partial}_{i}) \left(\frac{1}{\hat{\partial}_{n}} - \frac{a}{2} \cot\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right)\right), \qquad (A.9) \\ [M_{in}, \breve{A}_{n}] &= \breve{A}_{i} \frac{1 - e^{2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}}}{2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}} - \breve{A}_{i} \frac{a}{2\hat{\partial}_{n}} \tan\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right) \hat{\partial}_{m} \hat{\partial}^{m} + 2\breve{A}^{m} \left(\frac{1}{\hat{\partial}_{n}^{2}} - \frac{a}{2\hat{\partial}_{n}} \cot\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right)\right) \hat{\partial}_{i} \hat{\partial}_{m}. \end{split}$$

The transformation (A.8) represents the algebra (A.4).

All the relations considered up to now are invariant under the conjugation

$$\bar{\hat{x}}^{\mu} = \hat{x}^{\mu}, \qquad \qquad \hat{\partial}_{\mu} = -\hat{\partial}_{\mu}, \\
\overline{M}^{ij} = -M^{ij}, \qquad \qquad \overline{M}^{in} = -M^{in}.$$
(A.10)

¹This solution is not unique. If the symmetrisation in the third term of $[M_{in}, \hat{A}_l]$ is not performed, the last term of $[M_{in}, \hat{A}_l]$ vanishes.

Comparing (A.6) and (A.9), we see that \check{A}^{μ} transforms with the derivatives on the right hand side, but $\check{A}^{\mu} \neq \hat{A}^{\mu}$, they transform differently. The transformation law of \hat{A}_{μ} is:

$$\delta_{\omega}\overline{\hat{A}}_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\overline{\hat{A}}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}[M_{\alpha\beta},\overline{\hat{A}}_{\mu}], \qquad (A.11)$$

with

$$[M_{ij}, \overline{\hat{A}}_{l}] = \eta_{jl}\overline{\hat{A}}_{i} - \eta_{il}\overline{\hat{A}}_{j}, \qquad [M_{ij}, \overline{\hat{A}}_{n}] = 0,$$

$$[M_{in}, \overline{\hat{A}}_{l}] = \overline{\hat{A}}_{n}\eta_{il}\frac{e^{2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}} - 1}{2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}} - \frac{ia}{2}\eta_{il}\overline{\hat{A}}^{m}\hat{\partial}_{m} + \frac{ia}{2}(\overline{\hat{A}}_{i}\hat{\partial}_{l} + \overline{\hat{A}}_{l}\hat{\partial}_{i})$$

$$-\eta_{il}(\overline{\hat{A}}^{m}\hat{\partial}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{m} - \overline{\hat{A}}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{m}\hat{\partial}^{m})\frac{a}{2\hat{\partial}_{n}}\tan\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right)$$

$$+(\overline{\hat{A}}_{l}\hat{\partial}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{i} + \overline{\hat{A}}_{i}\hat{\partial}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{l} - 2\overline{\hat{A}}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{l}\hat{\partial}_{i})\left(\frac{1}{\hat{\partial}_{n}^{2}} - \frac{a}{2\hat{\partial}_{n}}\cot\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right)\right),$$

$$[M_{in}, \overline{\hat{A}}_{n}] = -\overline{\hat{A}}_{i}. \qquad (A.12)$$

The dual of $\overline{\hat{A}}_{\mu}$ is $\overline{\check{A}}^{\mu}$,

$$\delta_{\omega}(\overline{\hat{A}}_{\lambda}\overline{\breve{A}}^{\lambda}) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}(\overline{\hat{A}}_{\lambda}\overline{\breve{A}}^{\lambda}).$$
(A.13)

Its transformation law is

$$\delta_{\omega}\overline{\breve{A}}^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\overline{\breve{A}}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}[M_{\alpha\beta},\overline{\breve{A}}^{\mu}]$$
(A.14)

and

$$\begin{split} [M_{ij}, \overline{\breve{A}}^{l}] &= \delta_{j}^{l} \overline{\breve{A}}_{i} - \delta_{i}^{l} \overline{\breve{A}}_{j}, \qquad [M_{ij}, \overline{\breve{A}}^{n}] = 0, \\ [M_{in}, \overline{\breve{A}}^{l}] &= -\delta_{i}^{l} \overline{\breve{A}}_{n} + \frac{ia}{2} \hat{\partial}^{l} \overline{\breve{A}}_{i} - \frac{ia}{2} \hat{\partial}_{i} \overline{\breve{A}}^{l} - \frac{ia}{2} \delta_{i}^{l} \hat{\partial}_{m} \overline{\breve{A}}^{m} \\ &+ \frac{a}{2} \tan\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right) \hat{\partial}^{l} \overline{\breve{A}}_{i} - \left(\frac{1}{\hat{\partial}_{n}} - \frac{a}{2} \cot\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right)\right) (\delta_{i}^{l} \hat{\partial}_{m} \overline{\breve{A}}^{m} + \hat{\partial}_{i} \overline{\breve{A}}^{l}), \qquad (A.15) \\ [M_{in}, \overline{\breve{A}}_{n}] &= \frac{1 - e^{2ia\hat{\partial}_{n}} \overline{\breve{A}}_{i} - \frac{a}{2} \tan\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right) \hat{\partial}_{n} \hat{\partial}_{m} \overline{\breve{A}}_{i} + 2\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{a}{2} \cot\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_{n}}{2}\right)\right) \hat{\partial}_{i} \hat{\partial}_{n} \overline{\breve{A}}^{m} \end{split}$$

$$[M_{in}, A_n] = \frac{1}{2ia\hat{\partial}_n} A_i - \frac{1}{2\hat{\partial}_n} \tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) \partial_m \partial^m A_i + 2\left(\frac{1}{\hat{\partial}_n^2} - \frac{1}{2\hat{\partial}_n}\cot\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)\right) \partial_i \partial_m A \quad .$$

All the vector fields introduced so far \hat{A}_{μ} , \check{A}^{μ} , \hat{A}_{μ} and \check{A}^{\prime} can be obtained from the vector field \hat{V}_{μ} corresponding to the Dirac derivative via the derivative-valued map

$$\hat{V}_{\mu} = E_{\mu}^{\ \nu} \hat{A}_{\nu}, \qquad \hat{A}_{\mu} = (E^{-1})_{\mu}^{\ \nu} \hat{V}_{\nu}.$$
 (A.16)

The matrix $E_{\mu}^{\ \nu} = E_{\mu}^{\ \nu}(\partial)$ in (A.16) depends only on derivatives. To find its explicit form one expands the transformation laws of \hat{V}_{μ} , \hat{A}_{μ} and $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$, (A.2), (A.6) and (2.2.7) in powers of *a*. In the zeroth order we assume that

$$\hat{V}_{\mu}|_{\mathcal{O}(a^0)} = \hat{A}_{\mu}|_{\mathcal{O}(a^0)}.$$
 (A.17)

In this way a recursion formula in a is obtained and its solution is given by

$$\begin{split} E_n^{\ n} &= \frac{1}{a\hat{\partial}_n} \sin(a\hat{\partial}_n) - e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} \left(\frac{ia}{2} + \frac{i}{\hat{\partial}_n} \tan\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_n}{2}\right)\right) \frac{\hat{\partial}_m \hat{\partial}^m}{\hat{\partial}_n}, \\ E_n^{\ j} &= \frac{i}{\hat{\partial}_n} e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} \tan\left(\frac{a\hat{\partial}_n}{2}\right) \hat{\partial}^j, \\ E_j^{\ n} &= \left(e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n} - \frac{1 - e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n}}{ia\hat{\partial}_n}\right) \frac{\hat{\partial}_j}{\hat{\partial}_n}, \\ E_i^{\ j} &= \delta_i^j \frac{1 - e^{-ia\hat{\partial}_n}}{ia\hat{\partial}_n}. \end{split}$$
(A.18)

One can also construct the inverse of this map. Here we write result expanded up to second order in the deformation parameter, the full expression is given in [56]

$$(E^{-1})_{n}^{n} = 1 - \frac{(ia)^{2}}{6}\hat{\partial}_{n}^{2} - \frac{(ia)^{2}}{4}\hat{\partial}_{m}\hat{\partial}^{m} + \mathcal{O}(a^{3}),$$

$$(E^{-1})_{n}^{j} = -\frac{ia}{2}\hat{\partial}^{j} + \frac{(ia)^{2}}{4}\hat{\partial}_{n}\hat{\partial}^{j} + \mathcal{O}(a^{3}),$$

$$(E^{-1})_{j}^{n} = \frac{ia}{2}\hat{\partial}_{j} - \frac{(ia)^{2}}{12}\hat{\partial}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{j} + \mathcal{O}(a^{3}),$$

$$(E^{-1})_{i}^{j} = \delta_{i}^{j}\left(1 + \frac{ia}{2}\hat{\partial}_{n} + \frac{(ia)^{2}}{12}\hat{\partial}_{n}\hat{\partial}_{n}\right) - \frac{(ia)^{2}}{4}\hat{\partial}_{i}\hat{\partial}^{j} + \mathcal{O}(a^{3}).$$
(A.19)

Appendix B

The κ -deformed symmetry from the inversion of the \star -product

Here we apply the technique from Chapter 5 to construct a deformed symmetry for the κ -deformed space introduced in Chapter 2. The underlying idea is to compare the symmetry obtained in this way with the already known κ -Poincaré symmetry analysed in Chapter 2. We use the symmetrically ordered \star -product (2.4.4) and derivatives defined in (2.4.21) and (2.4.24).

The transformation law of a scalar field up to second order in the deformation parameter \boldsymbol{a} is

$$\delta_{\xi}\phi = -\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi = -X_{\xi}^{\star} \triangleright \phi$$

$$= -\left(\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - \frac{i}{2}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}x^{\lambda}(\partial_{\rho}\xi^{\mu})\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu} - \frac{1}{8}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}C_{\gamma}^{\alpha\beta}x^{\lambda}x^{\gamma}(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\alpha}\xi^{\mu})\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\beta}\partial_{\mu} - \frac{1}{12}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}C_{\rho}^{\alpha\beta}x^{\lambda}(\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\alpha}\xi^{\mu})\partial_{\beta}\partial_{\mu} - \frac{1}{6}C_{\lambda}^{\rho\sigma}C_{\rho}^{\alpha\beta}x^{\lambda}(\partial_{\alpha}\xi^{\mu})\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\beta}\partial_{\mu} + \mathcal{O}(a^{3})\right) \triangleright \phi. \quad (B.1)$$

For the special case of translations, $\xi^{\mu} = b^{\mu} = const.$ (B.1) gives

$$\delta^t_{\xi}\phi = -b^{\mu} \star (\partial_{\mu}\phi) = -b^{\mu}(\partial_{\mu}\phi). \tag{B.2}$$

For Lorentz rotations, $\xi^{\mu} = x^{\nu} \omega_{\nu}^{\ \mu}$ we have

$$\delta^{l}_{\xi}\phi = -x^{\lambda}\omega^{\ \mu}_{\lambda}\star(\partial_{\mu}\phi) + \frac{i}{2}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}x^{\lambda}\omega^{\ \mu}_{\rho}\star(\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu}\phi) + \frac{1}{6}C^{\rho\sigma}_{\lambda}C^{\alpha\beta}_{\rho}x^{\lambda}\omega^{\ \mu}_{\alpha}\star(\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\beta}\partial_{\mu}\phi)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}(L_{\alpha\beta}\phi), \tag{B.3}$$

where $L_{\alpha\beta} = x_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta} - x_{\beta}\partial_{\alpha}$.

Transformations (B.2) and (B.3) close in the undeformed algebra

$$[L_{\mu\nu}, L_{\rho\sigma}] = \eta_{\mu\sigma}L_{\nu\rho} + \eta_{\nu\rho}L_{\mu\sigma} - \eta_{\mu\rho}L_{\nu\sigma} - \eta_{\nu\sigma}L_{\mu\rho},$$

$$[\partial_{\rho}, \partial_{\sigma}] = 0,$$

$$[L_{\mu\nu}, \partial_{\rho}] = \eta_{\nu\rho}\partial_{\mu} - \eta_{\mu\rho}\partial_{\nu}.$$
(B.4)

Their coproducts are

$$\Delta \partial_n = \partial_n \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_n,$$

$$\Delta \partial_j = \partial_j \otimes \left(1 - \frac{ia}{2} \partial_n - \frac{a^2}{12} \partial_n \partial_n\right) + \left(1 + \frac{ia}{2} \partial_n - \frac{a^2}{12} \partial_n \partial_n\right) \otimes \partial_j$$

$$+ \frac{a^2}{12} \left(\partial_n \otimes \partial_n \partial_j + \partial_n \partial_j \otimes \partial_n\right) + \mathcal{O}(a^3).$$
(B.5)

$$\Delta L_{\alpha\beta} = L_{\alpha\beta} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes L_{\alpha\beta} - \left(\frac{ia}{2} \delta^n_{\alpha} (\partial_{\beta} \otimes x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} - x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \otimes \partial_{\beta}) - \frac{5a^2}{12} \delta^n_{\alpha} (\partial_n \partial_{\beta} \otimes x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} + x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \otimes \partial_n \partial_{\beta}) + \frac{a^2}{4} \delta^n_{\alpha} (x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \partial_n \otimes x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\beta} - \partial_n \partial_{\beta} \otimes (x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda})^2 - (x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda})^2 \otimes \partial_n \partial_{\beta} + x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\beta} \otimes x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \partial_n) + \frac{a^2}{6} \delta^n_{\alpha} (x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \partial_n \otimes \partial_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta} \otimes x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \partial_n + \partial_n \otimes x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\beta} + x^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \partial_{\beta} \otimes \partial_n) - \alpha \longleftrightarrow \beta + \mathcal{O}(a^3).$$
(B.6)

From (B.6) it is obvious that $\Delta L_{\alpha\beta}$ does not close in the algebra of derivatives and Lorentz generators (Poincaré algebra). Therefore, we have to enlarge the algebra and include coordinates as well. Before proceeding further we make one remark concerning the uniqueness of solution (2.2.3) for the commutator of Lorentz generators and coordinates. From equations (B.3) and (B.6) we see that the solution

$$[M^{\rho\sigma}, \hat{x}^{\mu}] = \eta^{\mu\sigma} \hat{x}^{\rho} - \eta^{\mu\rho} \hat{x}^{\sigma} \tag{B.7}$$

is also possible, that is it fulfils (2.2.2) conditions. However, it leads to the coproduct of $M^{\rho\sigma}$ generators that does not close in $M^{\rho\sigma}$ and $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ only, but also includes the coordinates. This is the reason why this solution has not been considered in Chapter 2.

The way that coordinates appear in (B.6) suggests introducing the generator of dilatations. Inserting $\xi^{\mu} = \epsilon x^{\mu}$ with ϵ real constant in (B.1) gives for infinitesimal dilatations

$$\delta^d_{\xi}\phi = -\epsilon x^{\mu} \star (\partial_{\mu}\phi) = -\epsilon x^{\mu}(\partial_{\mu}\phi) = -\epsilon D\phi.$$
(B.8)

As the next step we check that generators ∂_{μ} , $L_{\alpha\beta}$ and D close in the undeformed algebra¹. In addition to (B.4) we obtain

$$[D, D] = 0,$$

$$[D, \partial_{\mu}] = \partial_{\mu},$$

$$[D, L_{\mu\nu}] = 0.$$
(B.9)

¹This step is obvious. The transformations (B.2), (B.3) and (B.8) are classical transformations and therefore the algebra is undeformed.

Coproduct of the generator of dilatations is

$$\Delta D = D \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes D - \frac{ia}{2} (\partial_n \otimes D - D \otimes \partial_n) + \frac{a^2}{12} (\partial_n^2 \otimes D + D \otimes \partial_n^2) + \frac{a^2}{4} (\partial_n^2 \otimes D^2 + D^2 \otimes \partial_n^2 - 2D\partial_n \otimes D\partial_n) + \frac{a^2}{6} (D\partial_n \otimes \partial_n + \partial_n \otimes D\partial_n) + \mathcal{O}(a^3).$$
(B.10)

Coproduct of the Lorentz generators (B.6) can now be rewritten as

$$\Delta L_{\alpha\beta} = L_{\alpha\beta} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes L_{\alpha\beta}$$

$$-\left(\frac{ia}{2}\delta^n_{\alpha}(\partial_{\beta} \otimes D - D \otimes \partial_{\beta}) - \frac{5a^2}{12}\delta^n_{\alpha}(\partial_n\partial_{\beta} \otimes D + D \otimes \partial_n\partial_{\beta}) + \frac{a^2}{4}\delta^n_{\alpha}(D\partial_n \otimes D\partial_{\beta} - \partial_n\partial_{\beta} \otimes D^2 - D^2 \otimes \partial_n\partial_{\beta} + D\partial_{\beta} \otimes D\partial_n) + \frac{a^2}{6}\delta^n_{\alpha}(D\partial_n \otimes \partial_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta} \otimes D\partial_n + \partial_n \otimes D\partial_{\beta} + D\partial_{\beta} \otimes \partial_n) - \alpha \longleftrightarrow \beta\right) + \mathcal{O}(a^3).$$
(B.11)

From (B.11) we see that $\Delta L_{\alpha\beta}$ closes in the algebra of ∂_{μ} , $L_{\alpha\beta}$ and D generators. Adding counits and antipodes

$$\varepsilon(\partial_{\mu}) = \varepsilon(D) = \varepsilon(L_{\alpha\beta}) = 0.$$
 (B.12)

$$S(\partial_{\mu}) = -\partial_{\mu},\tag{B.13}$$

$$S(D) = -D + \frac{ia}{2}\partial_n - \frac{5a^2}{12}a^2\partial_n^2 + \mathcal{O}(a^3),$$
(B.14)

$$S(L_{\alpha\beta}) = -L_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{ia}{2}(\eta_{\alpha n}\partial_{\beta} - \eta_{\beta n}\partial_{\alpha}) - \frac{a^2}{3}\partial_n(\eta_{\alpha n}\partial_{\beta} - \eta_{\beta n}\partial_{\alpha}) + \mathcal{O}(a^3)$$
(B.15)

we obtain the κ -deformed Weil Hopf algebra.

In this way we have constructed another deformed symmetry for the κ -deformed space. Comparing this result with the κ -Poincaré Hopf algebra discussed in Chapter 2, we see that this two quantum symmetries are not equal. The problem is that in the " \star -product inversion" approach coordinates naturally appear and one is forced to replace the Poincaré algebra with a larger one (in this case with the deformed Weil algebra).

Appendix C The general κ -deformed space

In this appendix we concentrate on the general κ -deformed space, that is we do not specify $a^n = a$ and $a^j = 0$ in equation (2.1.1).

C.1 Derivatives

Starting from the defining relation for the general κ -deformed space

$$[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = ia^{\mu}\hat{x}^{\nu} - ia^{\nu}\hat{x}^{\mu}, \qquad \mu = 0, \dots n,$$
(C.1.1)

we obtain three families of the linear derivatives

$$\begin{split} & [\hat{\partial}_{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} + i a^{\nu} \hat{\partial}_{\mu}, \\ & [\check{\partial}_{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} (1 - i a^{\lambda} \check{\partial}_{\lambda}), \\ & [\tilde{\partial}_{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} + i a^{\nu} \tilde{\partial}_{\mu} + i \eta_{\mu\rho} \eta^{\nu\sigma} a^{\rho} \tilde{\partial}_{\sigma}. \end{split}$$
(C.1.2)

Here $\eta^{\mu\nu} = diag(1, -1, \dots, -1)$ is the formal metric. The last two solutions can be expressed in terms of $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ derivative¹

$$\check{\partial}_{\mu} = \frac{\hat{\partial}_{\mu}}{1 + ia^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\rho}},
\tilde{\partial}_{\mu} = \hat{\partial}_{\mu} + \frac{i}{2}\eta_{\mu\rho}\eta^{\alpha\beta}a^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\alpha}\hat{\partial}_{\beta}.$$
(C.1.3)

Derivatives commute among themselves

$$[\hat{\partial}_{\mu}, \hat{\partial}_{\nu}] = 0 \tag{C.1.4}$$

as well as for the other two solutions. Leibniz rules for (C.1.2) derivatives are given by

$$\hat{\partial}_{\mu}(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}) = (\hat{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{f}) \cdot \hat{g} + ((1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu})\hat{f}) \cdot (\hat{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{g}),
\check{\partial}_{\mu}(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}) = (\check{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{f}) \cdot ((1 - ia^{\nu}\check{\partial}_{\nu})\hat{g}) + \hat{f} \cdot (\check{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{g}),
\tilde{\partial}_{\mu}(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}) = (\tilde{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{f}) \cdot \hat{g} + ((1 + ia^{\nu}\tilde{\partial}_{\nu})\hat{f}) \cdot (\tilde{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{g}) + ia^{\rho}\eta_{\rho\mu}\eta^{\alpha\beta}(\tilde{\partial}_{\alpha}\hat{f})(\tilde{\partial}_{\beta}\hat{g}),$$
(C.1.5)

¹One can chose any of this three solutions to work with and express the other two in terms of it. Here we have chosen to work with the first one for no special reason but the simplicity of some formulas.

or in terms of the coproduct

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta \hat{\partial}_{\mu} &= \hat{\partial}_{\mu} \otimes 1 + (1 + ia^{\nu} \hat{\partial}_{\nu}) \otimes \hat{\partial}_{\mu}, \\ \Delta \check{\partial}_{\mu} &= \check{\partial}_{\mu} \otimes (1 - ia^{\nu} \check{\partial}_{\nu}) + 1 \otimes \check{\partial}_{\mu}, \\ \Delta \tilde{\partial}_{\mu} &= \tilde{\partial}_{\mu} \otimes 1 + (1 + ia^{\nu} \tilde{\partial}_{\nu}) \otimes \tilde{\partial}_{\mu} + ia^{\rho} \eta_{\rho\mu} \eta^{\alpha\beta} \tilde{\partial}_{\alpha} \otimes \tilde{\partial}_{\beta}. \end{aligned}$$
(C.1.6)

C.2 Deformed symmetry

Deformed symmetry is introduced like the map on the abstract algebra given by generators $M^{\mu\nu}$. The commutation relation between the generators and coordinates is given by

$$[M^{\rho\sigma}, \hat{x}^{\mu}] = \eta^{\sigma\mu}\hat{x}^{\rho} - \eta^{\rho\mu}\hat{x}^{\sigma} - ia^{\rho}M^{\sigma\mu} + ia^{\sigma}M^{\rho\mu}.$$
 (C.2.1)

Using this result one checks that $M_{\mu\nu}$ generators close the undeformed Lorentz algebra

$$[M^{\mu\nu}, M^{\rho\sigma}] = \eta^{\mu\sigma} M^{\nu\rho} + \eta^{\nu\rho} M^{\mu\sigma} - \eta^{\mu\rho} M^{\nu\sigma} - \eta^{\nu\sigma} M^{\mu\rho}.$$
 (C.2.2)

From (C.2.1) the Leibniz rule follows

$$M^{\rho\sigma}(\hat{f}\cdot\hat{g}) = (M^{\rho\sigma}\hat{f})\cdot\hat{g} + \hat{f}\cdot(M^{\rho\sigma}\hat{g}) + (ia^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}\hat{f})\cdot(M^{\lambda\sigma}\hat{g}) - (ia^{\sigma}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}\hat{f})\cdot(M^{\lambda\rho}\hat{g}), \quad (C.2.3)$$

or in the terms of the abstract comultiplication

$$\Delta M^{\rho\sigma} = M^{\rho\sigma} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes M^{\rho\sigma} + ia^{\rho} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \otimes M^{\lambda\sigma} - ia^{\sigma} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \otimes M^{\lambda\rho}.$$
(C.2.4)

Again we see that the comultiplication does not close on the generators $M^{\rho\sigma}$, derivatives have to be added. Therefore, we have to define the commutator of $M^{\rho\sigma}$ with derivatives. This can be done by first representing the generators $M^{\rho\sigma}$ by coordinates and derivatives. Just like in Section 2.2 we call the generators $M^{\rho\sigma}$ in this realisation $\hat{L}^{\rho\sigma}$

$$\hat{L}^{\rho\sigma} = \eta^{\rho\lambda}\hat{x}^{\sigma}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda} - \eta^{\sigma\lambda}\hat{x}^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda} + \frac{i}{2}(a^{\rho}\hat{x}^{\sigma} - a^{\sigma}\hat{x}^{\rho})\eta^{\kappa\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\kappa}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}.$$
(C.2.5)

From (C.2.5) the action of $M^{\rho\sigma}$ on the derivatives follows immediately

$$[M^{\rho\sigma},\hat{\partial}_{\mu}] = \delta^{\sigma}_{\mu}\eta^{\rho\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda} - \delta^{\rho}_{\mu}\eta^{\sigma\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda} + i(a^{\sigma}\eta^{\rho\lambda} - a^{\rho}\eta^{\sigma\lambda})\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\mu} + \frac{i}{2}(\delta^{\sigma}_{\mu}a^{\rho} - \delta^{\rho}_{\mu}a^{\sigma})\hat{\partial}_{\kappa}\eta^{\kappa\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}.$$
 (C.2.6)

The κ -Poincaré Hopf algebra is defined by the relations (C.1.4), (C.2.2), (C.2.6), (C.2.4), (C.1.5) and we have to add the counit and antipode:

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon(M^{\rho\sigma}) &= 0, \qquad \varepsilon(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}) = 0, \\ S(M^{\rho\sigma}) &= -M^{\rho\sigma} + ia^{\rho}M^{\lambda\sigma}\frac{\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}} - ia^{\sigma}M^{\lambda\rho}\frac{\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}} - i(n-1)\frac{(a^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\sigma} - a^{\sigma}\hat{\partial}_{\rho})}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}}, \\ S(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}) &= -\frac{\hat{\partial}_{\mu}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}}. \end{aligned} \tag{C.2.7}$$

C.3 Dirac derivative, invariants

Like in Section 2.3 we introduce the Dirac derivative and the deformed D'Alambert operator. The relevant formulas are

$$[M^{\rho\sigma}, \hat{D}_{\mu}] = (\delta^{\sigma}_{\mu}\eta^{\rho\nu} - \delta^{\rho}_{\mu}\eta^{\sigma\nu})\hat{D}_{\nu}, \qquad \hat{D}_{\mu} = \frac{\hat{\partial}_{\mu} + \frac{i}{2}a^{\mu}\eta^{\kappa\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\kappa}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{1 + ia^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\rho}}, \tag{C.3.1}$$

$$[M^{\rho\sigma}, \hat{\Box}] = 0, \qquad \hat{\Box} = \frac{\eta^{\kappa\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\kappa} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{1 + ia^{\rho} \hat{\partial}_{\rho}}, \qquad (C.3.2)$$

$$\eta^{\mu\nu}\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{D}_{\nu} = \hat{\Box}(1 - \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}a^{\mu}a^{\nu}}{4}\hat{\Box}).$$
(C.3.3)

The map from $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ to \hat{D}_{μ} is invertible:

$$\hat{\partial}_{\mu} = \frac{\hat{D}_{\mu} - \frac{i\eta_{\mu\rho}a^{\rho}}{\eta_{\alpha\beta}a^{\alpha}a^{\beta}} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \eta_{\sigma\tau}a^{\sigma}a^{\tau}\eta^{\lambda\omega}\hat{D}_{\lambda}\hat{D}_{\omega}}\right)}{-ia^{\gamma}\hat{D}_{\gamma} + \sqrt{1 - \eta_{\gamma\delta}a^{\gamma}a^{\delta}\eta^{\lambda\nu}\hat{D}_{\lambda}\hat{D}_{\nu}}}.$$
(C.3.4)

From the commutation relations

$$[\hat{D}_{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} \Big(-ia^{\rho} \hat{D}_{\rho} + \sqrt{1 - \eta_{\sigma\tau}} a^{\sigma} a^{\tau} \eta^{\lambda \omega} \hat{D}_{\lambda} \hat{D}_{\omega} \Big) + i\eta_{\mu\rho} \eta^{\nu\sigma} a^{\rho} \hat{D}_{\sigma}$$
(C.3.5)

the Leibniz rule and comultiplication for the Dirac derivative follow

$$\hat{D}_{\mu}(\hat{f} \cdot \hat{g}) = (\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{f}) \cdot \frac{1}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}}\hat{g} + ((1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu})\hat{f}) \cdot (\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{g})
+ (i\eta_{\mu\rho}a^{\rho}\eta^{\kappa\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\kappa}\hat{f}) \cdot \frac{\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}}\hat{g} - (ia^{\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}\hat{f}) \cdot \frac{\hat{\partial}_{\mu}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}}\hat{g},
\Delta\hat{D}_{\mu} = \hat{D}_{\mu} \otimes \frac{1}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}} + (1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}) \otimes \hat{D}_{\mu}
+ i\eta_{\mu\rho}a^{\rho}\eta^{\kappa\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\kappa} \otimes \frac{\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}} - ia^{\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \otimes \frac{\hat{\partial}_{\mu}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}}.$$
(C.3.6)

Equation (C.3.4) has to be used to express $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ by \hat{D}_{μ} on the righthand side of (C.3.6).

It is now convenient to define the $\kappa\text{-Poincar\'e}$ Hopf algebra in terms of the Dirac derivatives and $M^{\mu\nu}$ generators.

Algebra sector

$$[\hat{D}_{\mu}, \hat{D}_{\nu}] = 0,$$

$$[M^{\rho\sigma}, \hat{D}_{\mu}] = (\delta^{\sigma}_{\mu} \eta^{\rho\nu} - \delta^{\rho}_{\mu} \eta^{\sigma\nu}) \hat{D}_{\nu}$$

$$[M^{\mu\nu}, M^{\rho\sigma}] = \eta^{\mu\sigma} M^{\nu\rho} + \eta^{\nu\rho} M^{\mu\sigma} - \eta^{\mu\rho} M^{\nu\sigma} - \eta^{\nu\sigma} M^{\mu\rho}.$$
(C.3.7)

Coproducts

$$\begin{split} \Delta \hat{D}_{\mu} &= \hat{D}_{\mu} \otimes \frac{1}{1 + ia^{\nu} \hat{\partial}_{\nu}} + (1 + ia^{\nu} \hat{\partial}_{\nu}) \otimes \hat{D}_{\mu} \\ &+ ia^{\mu} \eta^{\kappa \lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\kappa} \otimes \frac{\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{1 + ia^{\nu} \hat{\partial}_{\nu}} - ia^{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \otimes \frac{\hat{\partial}_{\mu}}{1 + ia^{\nu} \hat{\partial}_{\nu}}, \\ \Delta M^{\rho \sigma} &= M^{\rho \sigma} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes M^{\rho \sigma} + ia^{\rho} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \otimes M^{\lambda \sigma} - ia^{\sigma} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \otimes M^{\lambda \rho}. \end{split}$$
(C.3.8)

Counits and antipodes

$$\varepsilon(D_{\mu}) = 0,$$

$$\varepsilon(M^{\rho\sigma}) = 0$$

$$S(\hat{D}_{\mu}) = -\hat{D}_{\mu} + \frac{ia^{\mu}\eta^{\kappa\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\kappa}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda} - ia^{\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\mu}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}},$$

$$S(M^{\rho\sigma}) = -M^{\rho\sigma} + ia^{\rho}M^{\lambda\sigma}\frac{\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}}$$

$$-ia^{\sigma}M^{\lambda\rho}\frac{\hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}} - i(n-1)\frac{(a^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\sigma} - a^{\sigma}\hat{\partial}_{\rho})}{1 + ia^{\nu}\hat{\partial}_{\nu}}.$$
 (C.3.9)

Casimir operators are again given by the deformed d'Alembert operator (C.3.2) and the generalisation of the square of the Pauli-Lubanski vector

$$W_{i+1}^{2} = W_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{2i-1}}W^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{2i-1}}, \qquad i = 1,\dots,\frac{d-2}{2}, \quad d = n+1 = (2k+1)+1,$$
$$W_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{2i-1}} = \epsilon_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{n}}M^{\mu_{2i}\mu_{2i+1}}\dots,M^{\mu_{n-2}\mu_{n-1}}\hat{D}^{\mu_{n}}.$$
(C.3.10)

C.4 Fields

Transformation law of a scalar field under the κ -deformed Lorentz transformations is given by

$$\delta_{\omega}\hat{\phi}(\hat{x}) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{\phi}(\hat{x}), \qquad (C.4.1)$$

where $\hat{L}^{\alpha\beta}$ is given by (C.2.5). For a vector field \hat{V}_{μ} associated with the Dirac derivative (C.3.1) we have

$$\delta_{\omega}\hat{V}_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta} \left(\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{V}_{\mu} - \eta_{\beta\mu}\hat{V}_{\alpha} + \eta_{\alpha\mu}\hat{V}_{\beta} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{V}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}[M_{\alpha\beta},\hat{V}_{\mu}].$$
(C.4.2)

Also, for a vector field \hat{A}_{μ} related with the derivative $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ we have

$$\delta_{\omega}\hat{A}_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{A}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}[M_{\alpha\beta},\hat{A}_{\mu}], \qquad (C.4.3)$$

with

$$\begin{split} [M_{\alpha\beta}, \hat{A}_{\mu}] &= \eta_{\beta\mu} \hat{A}_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\mu} \hat{A}_{\beta} + \frac{i}{2} (a_{\beta} \hat{\partial}_{\alpha} - a_{\alpha} \hat{\partial}_{\beta}) \hat{A}_{\mu} + \frac{i}{2} \hat{\partial}_{\mu} (a_{\beta} \hat{A}_{\alpha} - a_{\alpha} \hat{A}_{\beta}) \\ &+ \frac{i}{2} (\eta_{\beta\mu} a_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\mu} a_{\beta}) \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \hat{A}^{\lambda} + \frac{1}{4} (\eta_{\beta\mu} a_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\mu} a_{\beta}) \frac{a^{\lambda} (\hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\omega} \hat{A}^{\omega} - \hat{\partial}_{\omega} \hat{\partial}^{\omega} \hat{A}_{\lambda})}{1 + \frac{i}{2} a^{\gamma} \hat{\partial}_{\gamma}} \\ &+ \frac{a^{\lambda}}{i a^{\gamma} \hat{\partial}_{\gamma}} \Big(1 + \frac{i}{2} a^{\omega} \hat{\partial}_{\omega} - \frac{i a^{\omega} \hat{\partial}_{\omega}}{\log(1 + i a^{\tau} \hat{\partial}_{\tau})} \Big) \\ & \Big(a_{\alpha} (2 \hat{\partial}_{\beta} \hat{\partial}_{\mu} \hat{A}_{\lambda} - \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\mu} \hat{A}_{\beta} - \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\beta} \hat{A}_{\mu}) \\ &- a_{\beta} (2 \hat{\partial}_{\alpha} \hat{\partial}_{\mu} \hat{A}_{\lambda} - \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\mu} \hat{A}_{\alpha} - \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\alpha} \hat{A}_{\mu}) \Big). \end{split}$$
(C.4.4)

The last two terms vanish if \hat{A}_{μ} is replaced by $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}\hat{\phi}$. In (C.4.4) they are needed for the representation property (A.4).

The transformation law of a vector field \hat{B}^{μ} dual to \hat{A}_{μ} vector field follows from

$$\delta_{\omega}(\hat{A}_{\lambda}\hat{B}^{\lambda}) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}(\hat{A}_{\lambda}\hat{B}^{\lambda}) \tag{C.4.5}$$

and it is given by

$$\delta_{\omega}\hat{B}^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}\hat{L}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{B}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{\alpha\beta}[M_{\alpha\beta},\hat{B}^{\mu}], \qquad (C.4.6)$$

and

$$\begin{split} [\hat{M}_{\alpha\beta}, \hat{B}^{\mu}] &= \delta^{\mu}_{\beta} \hat{B}_{\alpha} - \delta^{\mu}_{\alpha} \hat{B}_{\beta} + \frac{i}{2} (a_{\beta} \hat{B}_{\alpha} - a_{\alpha} \hat{B}_{\beta}) \hat{\partial}^{\mu} - \frac{a^{\mu} \hat{B}^{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda}}{i a^{\gamma} \hat{\partial}_{\gamma}} (a_{\beta} \hat{\partial}_{\alpha} - a_{\alpha} \hat{\partial}_{\beta}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} (a_{\beta} \hat{B}_{\alpha} - a_{\alpha} \hat{B}_{\beta}) \frac{a^{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \hat{\partial}^{\mu} - a^{\mu} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} \hat{\partial}^{\lambda}}{1 + \frac{i}{2} a^{\gamma} \hat{\partial}_{\gamma}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{(i a^{\gamma} \hat{\partial}_{\gamma})^{2}} \Big(1 - \frac{i a^{\nu} \hat{\partial}_{\nu}}{\log(1 + i a^{\tau} \hat{\partial}_{\tau})} \Big) \\ &\Big(2a^{\mu} \hat{B}^{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} (a_{\beta} \hat{\partial}_{\alpha} - a_{\alpha} \hat{\partial}_{\beta}) - \hat{B}^{\mu} a^{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} (a_{\beta} \hat{\partial}_{\alpha} - a_{\alpha} \hat{\partial}_{\beta}) \\ &- \hat{B}^{\omega} a^{\lambda} \hat{\partial}_{\omega} \hat{\partial}_{\lambda} (\delta^{\mu}_{\alpha} a_{\beta} - \delta^{\mu}_{\beta} a_{\alpha}) \Big). \end{split}$$
(C.4.7)

The derivatives \hat{D}_{μ} and $\hat{\partial}_{\mu}$ can be transformed into each other using (C.3.1) and (C.3.4). Such a map exists between \hat{A}_{μ} and \hat{V}_{μ} as well. We demand that

$$\hat{V}_{\mu} = E_{\mu}^{\ \rho} \hat{A}_{\rho}, \qquad \hat{A}_{\rho} = (E^{-1})_{\rho}^{\ \mu} \hat{V}_{\mu}, \qquad (C.4.8)$$

such that it is consistent with (C.4.2) and (C.4.3). The solution is given by

$$E_{\alpha}^{\ \mu} = \delta_{\alpha}^{\mu} \frac{ia^{\omega}\hat{\partial}_{\omega}}{(1+ia^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\rho})\log(1+ia^{\sigma}\hat{\partial}_{\sigma})} - a_{\alpha}\hat{\partial}^{\mu} \frac{a^{\omega}\hat{\partial}_{\omega}}{(1+ia^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\rho})(2+ia^{\gamma}\hat{\partial}_{\gamma})\log(1+ia^{\lambda}\hat{\partial}_{\lambda})} + \frac{ia^{\mu}\hat{\partial}_{\alpha}}{1+ia^{\rho}\hat{\partial}_{\rho}} \Big(\frac{1}{ia^{\omega}\hat{\partial}_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{\log(1+ia^{\omega}\hat{\partial}_{\omega})}\Big) - \frac{a_{\alpha}a^{\mu}\hat{\partial}_{\rho}\hat{\partial}^{\rho}}{(1+ia^{\sigma}\hat{\partial}_{\sigma})(2+ia^{\gamma}\hat{\partial}_{\gamma})} \Big(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{ia^{\omega}\hat{\partial}_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{\log(1+ia^{\omega}\hat{\partial}_{\omega})}\Big).$$
(C.4.9)

It depends only on derivatives and not on coordinates.

Bibliography

- A. Einstein, Die Grundlage der allgemeinen Relativitätstheorie, Annalen Phys. 49, 769 (1916).
- [2] P. Dirac, The quantum theory of electron, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A117, 610 (1929).
- [3] W. Heisenberg and W. Pauli, Zur Quantendynamik der Wellenfelder, Zeitschrift für Physik 56, 1 (1929).
- [4] Letter of Heisenberg to Peierls (1930), in: Wolfgang Pauli, Scientific Correspondence, vol. II, 15, Ed. Karl von Meyenn, Springer-Verlag 1985.
- [5] H. S. Snyder, *Quantized spacetime*, Phys.Rev. **71**, 38 (1947).
- [6] A. Connes, *Noncommutative Geometry*, Academic Press (1994).
- [7] G. Landi, An introduction to noncommutative spaces and their geometry, [hep-th/9701078].
- [8] J. Madore, Noncommutative geometry for pedestrians, [gr-qc/9906059].
- [9] I. M. Gel'fand and M. A. Naimark, On the embedding of normed linear rings into the ring of operators in Hilbert space, Mat. Sbornik. **12**, 197 (1947).
- [10] F. Bayen, M. Flato, C. Fronsdal, A. Lichnerowicz and D. Sternheimer, *Deformation theory and quantization*, Ann. Phys. **111**, 61 (1978).
- [11] D. Sternheimer, Deformation quantization: Twenty years after, AIP Conf. Proc. 453, 107 (1998) [math.qa/9809056].
- [12] Maxim Kontsevich, Deformation quantization of Poisson manifolds, I, [q-alg/9709040].
- [13] H. Hopf, Uber die Topologie der Gruppenmannigfaltigkeiten und ihre Verallgemeinerungen, Ann. Math. 42, 22 (1941).
- [14] S. L. Woronowicz, Compact matrix pseudogroups, Commun. Math. Phys. 111, 613 (1987).
- [15] L. D. Faddeev, N. Y. Reshetikhin and L. A. Takhtadzhyan, Quantisation of Lie groups and Lie algebras, Leningrad Math. J. 1, 193 (1990).
- [16] M. Jimbo, A q-difference analogue of $U(\mathfrak{g})$ and the Yang-Baxter equation, Lett. Math. Phys. 10, 63 (1985).

- [17] V. G. Drinfel'd, Hopf algebras and the quantum Yang-Baxter equation, Sov. Math. Dokl. 32, 254 (1985).
- [18] M. R. Douglas and N. A. Nekrasov, Noncommutative field theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 73, 977 (2001) [hep-th/0106048].
- [19] R. J. Szabo, Quantum field theory on noncommutative spaces, Phys. Rept. 378, 207 (2003) [hep-th/0109162].
- [20] L. Castelani, Noncommutative geometry and physics: a review of selected recent results, [hep-th/0005210].
- [21] S. Girvin and R. Prange, The Quantum Hall Effect (1987).
- [22] J. Bellissard, A. van Elst and H. Schulz-Baldes, *The noncommutative geometry of the quantum Hall effect*, [cond-mat/9301005].
- [23] B. DeWitt, in *Gravitation*, edited by L. Witten, 266 (1962).
- [24] C. S. Chu and P. M. Ho, Noncommutative open string and D-brane, Nucl. Phys. B 550, 151 (1999) [hep-th/9812219].
- [25] V. Schomerus, *D*-branes and deformation quantization, JHEP **9906**, 030 (1999) [hep-th/9903205].
- [26] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, String theory and noncommutative geometry, JHEP 9909, 032 (1999) [hep-th/9908142].
- [27] S. Minwalla, M. Van Raamsdonk and N. Seiberg, Noncommutative perturbative dynamics, JHEP 0002, 020 (2000) [hep-th/9912072].
- [28] M. Van Raamsdonk and N. Seiberg, Comments on noncommutative perturbative dynamics, JHEP 0003, 035 (2000) [hep-th/0002186].
- [29] J. Lukierski, A. Nowicki, H. Ruegg and V. N. Tolstoy, *Q-deformation of Poincaré alge-bra*, Phys. Lett. B264, 331 (1991).
- [30] J. Lukierski, A. Nowicki and H. Ruegg, New quantum Poincaré algebra and κ-deformed field theory, Phys. Lett. B293, 344 (1992).
- [31] J. Madore, S. Schraml, P. Schupp and J. Wess, Gauge theory on noncommutative spaces, Eur. Phys. J. C16, 161 (2000) [hep-th/0001203].
- [32] B. Jurčo, S. Schraml, P. Schupp and J. Wess, Enveloping algebra valued gauge transformations for non-Abelian gauge groups on non-commutative spaces, Eur. Phys. J. C17, 521 (2000) [hep-th/0006246].
- [33] J. Wess and B. Zumino, Covariant differential calculus on the quantum hyperplane, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 18B, 302-312 (1991).
- [34] S. L. Woronowicz, Differential calculus on compact matrix pseudogroups (Quantum Groups), Commun. Math. Phys. 122, 125-170 (1989).

- [35] M. Dimitrijević, L. Jonke, L. Möller, E. Tsouchnika, J. Wess and M. Wohlgenannt, Deformed field theory on kappa-spacetime, Eur. Phys. J. C 31, 129 (2003) [hep-th/0307149].
- [36] P. Aschieri, C. Blohmann, M. Dimitrijević, F. Meyer, P. Schupp and J. Wess, A Gravity Theory on Noncommutative Spaces, Class. Quant. Grav. 22, 3511 (2005) [hepth/0504183].
- [37] R. Oeckl, Untwisting Noncommutative R^d and the Equivalence of Quantum Field Theories, Nucl. Phys. B581, 559 (2000) [hep-th/0003018].
- [38] J. Wess, Deformed Coordinate Spaces; Derivatives, [hep-th/0408080].
- [39] M. Chaichian, P. P. Kulish, K. Nishijima and A. Tureanu On a Lorentz-Invariant Interpretation of Noncommutative Space-Time and Its Implications on Noncommutative QFT, Phys. Lett. B604, 98 (2004) [hep-th/0408069].
- [40] F. Koch and E. Tsouchnika, Construction of θ -Poincaré algebras and their invariants on M_{θ} , Nucl. Phys. **B717**, 387 (2005) [hep-th/0409012].
- [41] B. Jurčo, L. Möller, S. Schraml, P. Schupp and J. Wess, Construction of non-Abelian gauge theories on noncommutative spaces, Eur. Phys. J. C21, 383 (2001) [hepth/0104153].
- [42] L. Möller, Second order of the expansions of action functionals of the noncommutative standard model, JHEP 0410, 063 (2004) [hep-th/0409085].
- [43] X. Calmet, B. Jurčo, P. Schupp, J. Wess and M. Wohlgenannt, The Standard Model on noncommutative spacetime, Eur. Phys. J. C23, 363 (2002) [hep-ph/0111115].
- [44] P. Aschieri, B. Jurco, P. Schupp and J. Wess, Noncommutative GUTs, standard model and C, P, T, Nucl. Phys. B 651, 45 (2003) [hep-th/0205214].
- [45] W. Behr, N. G. Deshpande, G. Duplancić, P. Schupp, J. Trampetić and J. Wess, *The* $Z \rightarrow \gamma\gamma, gg$ *Decays in the Noncommutative Standard Model*, Eur. Phys. J. C29, 441 (2003) [hep-ph/0202121].
- [46] B. Melić, K. Pasek-Kimerički, P. Schupp, J. Trampetić and M. Wohlgennant, The Standard Model on Non-Commutative Space-Time: Electroweak Currents and Higgs Sector, [hep-ph/0502249].
- [47] C. P. Martin, The gauge anomaly and the Seiberg-Witten map, Nucl. Phys. B 652, 72 (2003) [hep-th/0211164].
- [48] F. Brandt, C. P. Martin and F. R. Ruiz, Anomaly freedom in Seiberg-Witten noncommutative gauge theories, JHEP 0307, 068 (2003) [hep-th/0307292].
- [49] C. P. Martin, C. Tamarit, The U(1)A anomaly in noncommutative SU(N) theories, [hep-th/0503139].
- [50] L. Bonora, M. Schnabl, M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari and A. Tomasiello, *Noncommutative* SO(n) and Sp(n) gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B **589**, 461 (2000) [hep-th/0006091].

- [51] I. Bars, M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari and M. A. Vasiliev, Noncommutative o^{*}(N) and usp^{*}(2N) algebras and the corresponding gauge field theories, Phys. Rev. D 64, 086004 (2001) [hep-th/0103209].
- [52] J. Madore, *Gravity on fuzzy space-time*, Class. Quant. Grav. 9, 69 (1992).
- [53] A. H. Chamseddine, Deforming Einstein's gravity, Phys. Lett. B 504, 33 (2001) [hepth/0009153].
- [54] M. A. Cardella and D. Zanon, Noncommutative deformation of four dimensional Einstein gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 20, 95 (2003) [hep-th/0212071].
- [55] M. Dimitrijević, F. Meyer, L. Möller and J. Wess, Gauge theories on the kappa-Minkowski spacetime, Eur. Phys. J. C 36, 117 (2004) [hep-th/0310116].
- [56] M. Dimitrijević, L. Möller and E. Tsouchnika, Derivatives, forms and vector fields on the kappa-deformed Euclidean space, J. Phys. A37, 9749 (2004) [hep-th/0404224].
- [57] M. Dimitrijević, L. Jonke and L. Möller, U(1) gauge field theory on kappa-Minkowski space, JHEP 0509, 068 (2005) [hep-th/0504129].
- [58] M. Dimitrijević and J. Wess, Deformed Bialgebra of Diffeomorphisms, [hep-th/0411224].
- [59] Y. I. Manin, Multiparametric quantum deformation of the general linear supergroup, Commun. Math. Phys. 123, 163 (1989).
- [60] A. Klimyk and K. Schmüdgen, *Quantum groups and their representations*, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (1997).
- [61] J. Wess, *q-Deformed Heisenberg Algebras*, [math-ph/9910013].
- [62] B. L. Cerchiai, R. Hinterding, J. Madore and J. Wess, A Calculus Based on a q-deformed Heisenberg Algebra, Eur. Phys. J. C8, 547 (1999) [math.QA/9809160].
- [63] E. Abe, *Hopf Algebras*, Cambridge University Press (1980).
- [64] S. Doplicher, K. Fredenhagen and J. A. Roberts, Spacetime quantization induced by classical gravity, Phys. Lett. B331, 39 (1994).
- [65] C. E. Carlson, C. D. Carone and N. Zobin, Noncommutative Gauge Theory without Lorentz Violation, Phys. Rev. D66, 075001 (2002) [hep-th/0206035].
- [66] H. Weyl, Quantenmechenik und Gruppentheorie, Z. Phys. 46, 1 (1927).
- [67] J. E. Moyal, Quantum mechanics as a statistical theory, Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 45, 99 (1949).
- [68] P. Kosiński and P. Maślanka, The duality between κ-Poincaré algebra and κ-Poincaré group, [hep-th/9411033].

- [69] G. Amelino-Camelia, Relativity in space-times with short-distance structure governed by an observer-independent (Planckian) length scale, Int. J. Mod. Phys. bf D 11, 35 (2002) [gr-qc/0012051].
- [70] G. Amelino-Camelia, Testable scenario for Relativity with minimum-length, Phys. Lett. B 510, 255 (2001) [hep-th/0012238].
- [71] J. Magueijo and L. Smolin, *Lorentz invariance with an invariant energy scale*, [hep-th/0112090].
- [72] A. Ballesteros, F. J. Herranz, M. A. del Olmo and M. Santander, A new "null-plane" quantum Poincaré algebra, Phys. Lett. B 351, 137-145 (1995).
- [73] P. Kosiński, P. Maślanka, J. Lukierski and A. Sitarz, Generalized κ-deformations and deformed relativistic scalar fields on noncommutative Minkowski space, [hep-th/0307038].
- [74] A. Nowicki, E. Sorace and M. Tarlini, *The quantum deformed Dirac equation from the* κ -Poincaré algebra, Phys. Lett. **B302**, 419-422 (1993) [hep-th/9212065].
- [75] J. Lukierski, H. Ruegg and W. Rühl, From κ -Poincaré algebra to κ -Lorentz quasigroup: A deformation of relativistic symmetry, Phys. Lett. B **313**, 357 (1993).
- [76] J. Kowalski-Glikman and S. Nowak, Doubly Special Relativity theories as different bases of κ-Poincaré algebra, Phys. Lett. B539, 126-132 (2002) [hep-th/0203040].
- [77] S. L. Lyakhovich, A. A. Sharapov and K. M. Shekhter, D=6 massive spinning particle, [hep-th/9605186].
- [78] E. Tsouchnika, *Field theories in noncommutative spacetime*, Diploma thesis at the Ludwig-Maximilian University, Munich (2003).
- [79] H. Grosse and M. Wohlgenannt, On κ-Deformation and UV/IR Mixing, [hepth/0507030].
- [80] C. N. Yang and R. L. Mills, Conservation of isotopic spin and isotopic gauge invariance, Phys. Rev. 96, 191 (1954).
- [81] P. W. Higgs Broken symmetries and the masses of gauge bosons Phys. Rev. Lett. 13, 508 (1964).
- [82] P. W. Higgs Spontaneous symmetry breakdown without massless bosons Phys. Rev. 145, 1156 (1966).
- [83] B. Jurčo and P. Schupp, Noncommutative Yang-Mills from equivalence of star products, Eur. Phys. J. C 14, 367 (2000) [hep-th/0001032].
- [84] B. Jurčo, P. Schupp and J. Wess, Noncommutative gauge theory for Poisson manifolds, Nucl. Phys. B 584, 784 (2000) [hep-th/0005005].
- [85] B. Jurčo, P. Schupp and J. Wess, Nonabelian noncommutative gauge theory via noncommutative extra dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 604, 148 (2001) [hep-th/0102129].

- [86] L. Möller, Noncommutative gauge theory and κ -deformed spacetime, PhD thesis at the Ludwig-Maximilian University, Munich (2004), [preprint MPP-2004-57].
- [87] W. Behr and A. Sykora, Construction of gauge theories on curved noncommutative spacetime, Nucl. Phys. B698, 473 (2004) [hep-th/0309145].
- [88] G. Felder and B. Shoikhet, *Deformation quantization with traces*, [math.qa/0002057].
- [89] M. A. Dietz, Symmetrische Formen auf Quantenalgebren, Diploma thesis at the University of Hamburg (2001).
- [90] A. Agostini, G. Amelino-Camelia, M. Arzano and F. D'Andrea, Action functional for kappa-Minkowski non-commutative space-time, [hep-th/0407227].
- [91] F. Meyer and H. Steinacker, Gauge field theory on the $E_q(2)$ -covariant plane, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A **19**, 3349 (2004) [hep-th/0309053].
- [92] S. Goto and H. Hata, Noncommutative monopole at the second order in θ , Phys. Rev. D 62, 085022 (2000) [hep-th/0005101].
- [93] B. L. Cerchiai, A. F. Pasqua and B. Zumino, *The Seiberg-Witten map for noncommu*tative gauge theories, [hep-th/0206231].
- [94] G. Barnich, F. Brandt and M. Grigoriev, Local BRST cohomology and Seiberg-Witten maps in noncommutative Yang-Mills theory, [hep-th/0308092].
- [95] R. Wulkenhaar, Non-renormalizability of θ -expanded noncommutative QED, JHEP **0203**, 024 (2002) [hep-th/0112248].
- [96] P. Aschieri, M. Dimitrijević, F. Meyer and J. Wess, Noncommutative Geometry and Gravity, [hep-th/0510059].
- [97] S. Cacciatori, A. H. Chamseddine, D. Klemm, L. Martucci, W. A. Sabra and D. Zanon, Noncommutative Gravity in two Dimensions, Class. Quant. Grav. 19, 4029 (2002) [hep-th/0203038].

Curriculum Vitae

Marija Dimitrijević

Addresses

Permanent Institution

Faculty of Physics University of Belgrade P.O.Box 368 11000 Belgrade Serbia and Montenegro Tel.: +38111-630-152/119 E-mail: dmarija@ff.bg.ac.yu

Present Institution

Theoretical Physics Group Ludwig-Maximilians University, Munich Theresienstr. 37 80333 Munich Germany Tel.: +498921804379 E-mail: dmarija@theorie.physik.uni-muenchen.de

Personal data

Date and place of birth: 7.10.1975, Jagodina, Serbia and Montenegro

Parents: Živorad Dimitrijević and Milica (Matić) Dimitrijević

Education

B. Sc. Physics, 2.11.1998 at the Faculty of Physics, University of Belgrade Thesis: Hawking Radiation in CGHS Model

M. Sc. Physics, 28.8.2002 at the Faculty of Physics, University of Belgrade Thesis: Classical and Quantum Properties of BTZ Black Hole

Working Experience

Teaching assistant (1999-) at the Faculty of Physics (University of Belgrade), Courses: Electrodynamics, Particle Physics, Mechanics and Thermodynamics

Fellowships

Scholarship of Ministry of Science and Technology of Republic Serbia, 1998/99,

DAAD Scholarship 10.2002-7.2003

Doctoral possition in the framework of DFG Schwerpunktprogramm (1096) "Stringtheorie im Kontext von Teilchenphysik, Quantenfeldtheorie, Quantengravitation, Kosmologie und Mathematik", 1.10.2003-30.9.2004

Max-Plank Institute doctoral scholarship 1.10.2004-31.1.2006

Publications

1. M. Burić, M. Dimitrijević, V. Radovanović, Phys. Rev. D $\mathbf{65},\,064022$ (2002), [hep-th/0108036]

2. M. Dimitrijević, L. Jonke, L. Möller, E. Tsouchnika, J. Wess and M. Wohlgenannt, *Deformed Field Theory on kappa-spacetime* Eur. Phys. J. **C31**, 129 (2003)

[hep-th/0307149].

3. M. Dimitrijević, F. Meyer, L. Möller and J. Wess, *Gauge theories on* κ -spacetime, Eur. Phys. J. C36, 117 (2004) [hep-th/0310116].

3. M. Dimitrijević, L. Möller and E. Tsouchnika, *Derivatives, forms and vector fields on* the κ -deformed Euclidean space, J. Phys. A, 9749 (2004) [hep-th/0404224].

4. M. Dimitrijević, L. Jonke, L. Möller, E. Tsouchnika, J. Wess and M. Wohlgenannt, *Field theory on kappa-spacetime*, talk given by L. Jonke at the XIII International Colloquium on Integrable Systems and Quantum Groups, June 2004, Prague Czech.J.Phys. 54, 1243 (2004) [hep-th/0407187].

5. M. Dimitrijević and J. Wess, *Deformed Bialgebra of Diffeomorphisms*, talk given by M. Dimitrijevic at 1st Vienna Central European Seminar on Particle Physics and Quantum Field Theory, 26-28 November 2004, hep-th/0411224.

6. M. Dimitrijević, L. Jonke and L. Möller, *U(1) gauge field theory on kappa-Minkowski space*, JHEP **0509**, 068 (2005) [hep-th/0504129].

7. P. Aschieri, C. Blohmann, M. Dimitrijević, F. Meyer, P. Schupp and J. Wess, A Gravity Theory on Noncommutative Spaces, Class. Quant. Grav. 22, 3511 (2005) [hep-th/0504183].

8. M. Dimitrijević, L. Jonke and L. Möller, U(1) gauge field theory on kappa-Minkowski space, talk given by L. Jonke at the XIV International Colloquium on Integrable Systems and Quantum Groups, June 2005, Prague, to be published in Czech. J. Phys. 55 (2005).

9. P. Aschieri, M. Dimitrijević, F. Meyer and J. Wess, *Noncommutative Geometry and Gravity*, hep-th/0510059, submitted to Class. Quant. Grav.